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Treasurer's Instruction No

101

Title

Interpretation

Effective date

1 September 2004

Objective and Background

Provides interpretive assistance a n d definitions to terms used in the Treasurer's Instructions
30 April 2007

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 102 — Interpretation.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font iteMs are it4Iructional or
f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only.

(1)

Unless a contrary intention is shown, the terms defined in the Act shall apply to all
Treasurer's Instructions.

(2)

In these Instructions, the following definitions will apply unless the contrary
intention appears:
Accounting Manual

The Agency's accounting manual issued in accordance with
Section 10 Of the Financial Management a n d Audit A c t 1990.

The Act

Means the Financial Management a n d Audit A c t 1990.

Agency Arrangement

Where an agency undertakes activity solely as an agent for
another enti

Appropriation

An amount which may be expended from the Consolidated Fund
under the authority o f an Act o f Parliament.

Certified

The signing o f payment documentation or a journal by a
certifying officer appointed in accordance with section 22 o f the
Act.

Consolidated Fund

The Fund established b y Part II o f the Public Account A c t 1986 to
receive all taxes and the majority o f other revenue received by
the Government. All payments from the Consolidated Fund must
be authorised b y Parliament.

Crown

The Crown in Right o f the State o f Tasmania acting through and
represented b y the Agency.
Crown shall include servants,
authorised sub-contractors and agents o f the Crown.

Employee

A n officer within the meaning o f the Financial Management and
Audit A c t 1990.

11 101 Interpretation
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Finance Manual

The accounting manual referred to in section 10 o f the Financial
Management and Audit A c t 1990.

General
Sector

A Sector o f Government comprised o f agencies and certain
statutory authorities that provide services free o f charge or at
prices substantially below their cost o f production, or that are
financed mainly through the collection o f taxes or compulsory
levies.

Government

Output

An identifiable good or service produced by, or o n b t h a l f of, an
Agency and provided to customers outside: the Agency The
Government purchases Outputs in order 14, achieve Policy
objectives o r Outcomes.

Public Account

The Account established b y the Public Account A c t 1986. It
consists o f two separate Funds: the consolidated Fund and the
Special Deposits and Trust Fund:,

Related Body

A body is a Related BodOrvhere an Agency is responsible to a
Minister for the administration o f that body, in accordance with
the enactments specified •for the Agency, under the current
Administratiyc Arrangements,.

Secretary

Means 1.

Special Deposits and
Trust Fund

A Vith' d established under the Public Account A c t 1986 which
comprises various individual accounts designated for specific
p
o sak.

TFRS

TI 101 Interpretation

c r e t r y . o f the Department o f Treasury and Finance.

,
flje ntAsury Financial Reporting System (TFRS) used b y the
Department o f Treasury and Finance to collect financial
hIformation
from agencies to assist in financial management and
'
reporting for the Government.

Effective: 1 September 2004
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Treasurer's Instruction No

102

Title

Finance Manuals

Effective date

1 September 2011

Objective and Background

Provides
instructions
the
establishment
on
maintenance of Finance Manuals within agencies
31 August 2011

Last Reviewed Date

and

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain oat den—
instructional or for the purpose of providing guidance only.
Section 10 of the Financial Management and Audit Act 1990 (the Act) requires a Head of
Agency to prepare and issue an accounting manual in accordance with the Treasurer's
Instructions. The section also requires that the manual be maintained in an effective and up to
date form and be readily available to officers of the Agency.
In this Instruction, the term "Finance Manual" is used to describe the accounting manual
referred to in section 10 of the Act. Finance Manual better describes the broad range of
accounting and financial management activities that should be covered within the Manual.
(1)

The Head of Agency must ensure the Agency's Finance Manual:
(a)

documents all of the Agency's accounting and financial management policies
and guidelines; and

(b)

provides an up to date and authoritative source of information on financial
management matters, which is easily accessible by staff.

The Finance Manual should incorporate all accounting and financial management policies and
guidelines in place within the Agency.
It is at the discretion of each Agency to determine the most appropriate form of its Finance
Manual and how it is made available (ie as a physical reference document, as web based
documents accessed by the intranet, CD or other means). The Finance Manual may comprise
a group of related individual policy documents as opposed to a single comprehensive
document.
The Finance Manual should be accessible to all staff as it is the means by which all financial
policy changes are determined and communicated throughout the Agency. The manual should
incorporate the specific areas of financial management for which the Head of Agency is
responsible under section 22 of the Act. In addition, the Manual should incorporate:
•

details of the legislation under which the Agency operates;

•

delegations in place under section 35 of the State Service Act 2000;

•

a description of the State Sector financial management structure;

•

the Agency chart of accounts;

•

standard forms to be used in financial management;

TI 102 Finance Manuals
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•

exemptions from Treasurer's Instructions that affect the Agency's accounting and financial
management policies; and

•

Australian Accounting Standard requirements.

Attachment 1 Contents Guide for a Finance Manual provides guidance as to the range of topics
that should be covered in a Manual.
As a general rule, the Manual will describe procedures rather than describe how specific
processes are performed. The Finance Manual may reference more detailed procedural
information that is maintained separately to ensure the user has access to all rnformation
necessary to undertake the financial management tasks for which they have responsibility. This
supporting documentation should describe each key financial management transaction, pgess
and procedure within the Agency.
The Finance Manual should be easily understandable by its wide range of users It should
outline the key roles and responsibilities of staff undertaking financial management related
activities within the Agency. The Manual should not merely paraphrase, the Treasurer's
Instructions, but translate these obligations into the specific adtivities that are expected within
the Agency. For example, the Manual should outline the actual rota and responsibilities of an
officer who authorises and certifies expenditure.
The Manual must reference other relevant user manuals`,' legislative references, Treasurer's
Instructions, key Agency accounting and finance systems and processes.
The Finance Manual should improve the internal control o f the Agency by:
•

providing a single, authoritative sWarnapt ofaccounting and financial management
policies and procedures;

•

reducing the risk of ad-hoc policte4•and procedures being developed;

•

enhancing staff awareness of eetablisnect procedures;

•

providing a formal means by..-;,ytihiCk,pnicedural changes are made and communicated
throughout the Agency; and-':."

•

eprnoacbednugreAsgendy. OanageniOnt and internal audit to monitor compliance with Agency

(2)

Regarding Procurement Delegations and Authorisations for goods and services,
the Agency Accounting Manual must include:
(4-i:-.:‘..copy of the Ministerial Authorisation; and
( b y a listof the officers appointed by the Head of Agency to be responsible for
:purchases of goods and services, leases or rentals of equipment and disposal
property made by the agency. Details for each officer include:
(i)

position title;

(ii)

monetary limit;

(iii)

any other conditions imposed; and

(iv)

details of any subsequent revocation or variation of the appointment.

Ti 102 Finance Manuals
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A Ministerial Authorisation Form can be found on the Buying for Government section of
www.purchasing.tas.gov.au under Resources (Forms).
MAINTAINING THE FINANCE MANUAL
(3)

The Head of Agency must ensure there is a process for periodic review of the
Finance Manual in order to continuously improve the policies and reflect changes
in the business of the Agency, technologies and best practice trends in financial
management.

The Manual needs to provide relevant current information to be a useful document. The
maintenance of a Finance Manual is a significant issue, as it will always be competing with other
priorities for an agency. In this regard, it is important that each Agency estabtishes an
appropriate review process to ensure the manual is kept up to date.
The following flowchart illustrates the process for preparation and/or maintenance of a Finance
Manual:

TI 102 Finance Manuals
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Flowchart 1: Preparation/Maintenance o f a Finance Manual
PREPARE:

Purpose, Scope and Use
of the Finance Manual

Introduction

—

IDENTIFY:
Accounting Systems

Identify each system

COLLECT AND
COLLATE:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

All relevant policy
and procedure
information

DOCUMENT:
All financial systems
and processes
— 1 0

Legislative authority
Organisational Chart
Chart of Accounts
Accounting Policies
Authorisation Limits
Delegations
Insurance Policy
List of Relevant
Exemptions

A
Published
and
available

• Prepare an overview
• Flowchart or document
each system
• Identify key financial
procedures and key
controls
• Refer dOcumentation to
apprcii:iii* staff for
review to tonsure
correbtness,
completeness and
compliance

00, Finance Manual

INCLUDE:
All other releva0t,,
data

• Glossary of Terms
• Table of Contents
• Copies of standard
forms
• Other information

• Staff
- - 0 0 . • Audit Committee

APPROVAL:
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USER ACCESS TO A FINANCE MANUAL
All staff within an Agency should be made aware that the Finance Manual provides a single,
authoritative statement of Agency accounting policies and procedures. The Manual should be a
key reference for new and existing staff, Agency management and persons undertaking internal
and external audit activities. Table 1 provides a summary of the various categories of users of
the Finance Manual within an Agency.
Table 1 Users o f the Agency Finance Manual
User

Main Purpose

Head of Agency

To meet statutory responsibilities imposed under sections 10, 22 and
23 of the Financial Management and Audit Act 1990.

Senior/middle
management

As a reference to improve familiarity with financial management
policies and procedures, to assist with resolving procedural issues
and as an internal control document.

Agency staff

As a basis for understanding of procedures and to assist in the
review of procedures.

Internal/External Audit

As an explicit statement of internal control for monitoring compliance
with procedures and understanding the financial management
systems of an Agency.
,

11102 Finance Manuals
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ATTACHMENT 1
CONTENTS GUIDE F O R FINANCE MANUALS
The following section provides a guide to outline a possible structure for a Finance Manual. The
structure is meant as a guide only, and an Agency m a y also include additional sections, if
appropriate, or exclude sections that are not appropriate.

1.

2.

3.

4.

Introduction
1.1.

Purpose, Scope and Format of the Finance Manual

1.2.

Definitions

1.3.

Control, Maintenance and Update of Manual

The Agency
2.1.

Overview

2.2.

Organisational Structure

2.3.

Acts, Regulations, By-Laws.

2.4.

Statutory Responsibilities (responsibilities/obligations 0.0c1e0eleVerit legislation and the
Financial Management and Audit Act 1990)

2.5.

Objectives and Policies

Financial Management
3.1.

Objectives

3.2.

Accounting Policies

3.3.

Financial Structure

3.4.
3.5.

Financial Systems
Financial System oontroKf.-.

3.6.

Government:AccountingArrangements

3.7.

Internal .4?,t,tdit Policy

3.8.

ExernOions from Treasurer's Instructions relating to ongoing financial management activities
(if any)

Budgeting
4.1.

OVer4.4tiN.

4
4.4.

reparation and Collation of Agency Estimates
t l e a s u r y Budget Process
— updating the Treasury Budget Management System (BMS)
Internal Allocation and Advice of Approved Budgets

4.5.

Cash Flows

4.6.

Monitoring of Budget

4.7.

Requests for Additional Funds

4.8.

Carry Forwards

TI 102 Finance Manuals
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4.9.
5.

6.

Capital Funding

Delegations
5.1.

Authority to Incur Expenditure

5.2.

List of Certifying Officers

5.3.

Delegations under the State Service Act 2000

5.4.

Other (type and extent)

Revenue
6.1.

6.2.

Overview
6.1.1.

Types of Revenue

6.1.2.

Revenue Collection

6.1.3.

Key Controls

6.1.4.

EFTPOS

6.1.5.

Cheques

6.1.6.

Preparation of Receipts

6.1.7.

Refunds

6.1.8.

Security of Moneys Received

6.1.9.

Clearing Account

Accounts Receivable
6.2.1.

Definition and recognition

6.2.2.

Terms of Credit

6.2.3.

Credit managemert

6.2.4.

Reporting

6.2.5.

Debt Management

6.2.6.

Inter-A9ancy Debit

6.2.7.

Doubtful Debt.

6.2.8.
7.

8.

ritazoffs

Purchasing
7.1.

Overview'

7.2.

Purchasing Principles

7.3.

Purchase Orders

74

purchasing Delegations

7.5.

tOmmitments Register

7.6.

Information Technology

7.7.

Tasmanian Government Card

7.8.

Tenders

7.9.

Complaints Process

Inventories

TI 102 Finance Manuals
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9.

8.1.

Overview

8.2.

Receipts of Stores/Inventory Rounding

8.3.

Stock Control

8.4.

Reimbursement for Losses or Damages

8.5.

Disposal of Surplus Equipment or Materials

8.6.

Write-offs

Asset Management
9.1.

Overview

9.2.

Definition and Recognition of Assets

9.3.

Valuation Basis

9.4.

Asset Recognition Threshold

9.5.

Revaluation

9.6.

Depreciation

9.7.

Asset Registers

9.8.

Purchase of Assets

9.9.

Maintenance and Security

9.10.

Disposals/Write-offs

9.11.

Impairment

10. Expenditure
10.1.

Overview

10.2.

Types of Expenditure

10.3.

Key Controls

10.4.

Treasurers Expenditure Conti*

10.5.

Payment of Accgunts
Preparation dif Payment Documentation

10.5.1.

10.5.2. 4:0(arilination, Certification and Authorisation of Payment Documentation
1 0 ., 5 4

Reimbursement of Expenses — Departmental Employees
Duplicate Invoices

r10.5.5.!.

Prepaid Expenditure
Tasmanian Government Corporate Card

ntertainMent Expenses
10.7: -:....ittIvance Accounts
10.8.

Petty Cash

11. Salaries and Wages
11.1.

Overview

11.2.

Payroll Distribution Procedures

11.3.

Unclaimed Salaries and Wages

TI 102 Finance Manuals
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11.4.

Payroll Reconciliation Procedures

11.5.

Transfer of Leave Entitlements

12. Taxation
12.1.

Overview

12.2.

Fringe Benefits Tax (FBI)

12.3.

12.4.

12.5.

12.2.1.

Benefits Subject to FBT

12.2.2.

Reportable Fringe Benefits

12.2.3.

Annual Return

Payroll Tax
12.3.1.

Payroll Tax Returns

12.3.2.

What is Taxable?

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
12.4.1.

Tax Invoices

12.4.2.

Remittance and Reporting Obligations

Pay As You Go (PAYG) system
12.5.1.

PAYG instalment system

12.5.2.

PAYG withholding system

12.6.
13. Financial Management Information Systems
Where suitable documentation already exists •separately for computer based accounting
systems, the Manual need only inclUde a general description o f the system and contain an
appropriate reference to the relevant Procedure Manual.
In the absence o f such
documentation, Procedure M a n u a l , . s h e i l l d ,be written and either incorporated in the
Finance Manual o r appropriately referenced as 'above. Interfaces between various systems are
to be noted.
14. Bank Accounts
14.1.

Overvievie

14.2.

Openingt,and Closing Accounts
Bank Account Register

14.3.

14.4,,,...,Signatories to Accounts
14.5. :..'.;l:fank:'Raconciliation
15: Financial Systems
15.1. ''':Reconciliation of Ledger/s
15.2.

Postings to Ledger/s

15.3.

Postings to Subsidiary Records

15.4.

End of Day Processes

15.5.

End of Month Processes

15.6.

End of Year Processes

TI 102 Finance Manuals

Effective: 1 September 2011
Page 9 of 10

19/112259

TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

15.7.

15.8.

Chart of Accounts
15.7.1.

Overview

15.7.2.

Role in Reporting (TFRS etc)

15.7.3.

Updating the Chart

TFRS Interface Requirements

16. Internal Control
16.1.

Overview

16.2.

Accounting Systems and Internal Control

16.3.

Organisational Structure

16.4.

Management

16.5.

Personnel

16.6.

Audit Committee

16.7.

Internal Audit

17. Fraud Control
17.1.

17.2.

Overview
17.1.1.

Definition of Fraud

17.1.2.

Statement of Attitude to Fraud

Fraud Control Plan
17.2.1.

Fraud Risk Register

17.2.2.

Fraud Control Officer

18. Other
18.1.

Fees and Charges

18.2.

Travel Guidelines

18.3.

Motor Vehicle Guidelines

19. Forms
20. Flowcharts

TI 102 Finance Manuals
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

103

Title

Access to Treasurer's Instructions

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Establishes the responsibility o f Heads o f Agencies to make
Treasurer's Instructions and other materials available to
relevant Agency staff
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font lta<s arg..i.fvructional or
for the purpose of providing guidance only.
(1)

Each Head o f Agency will ensure that relevant Agency staff have access to these
Instructions, the Act and the Regulations either by hard copy or via the Internet.

TI 103 Access to Treasurer's Instructions

Effective 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

104

Title

Mandatory Data Requirements

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

To set out the requirements for the provision o f financial
information to the Treasury Financial Reporting System
1 January 2004

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction w a s previously k n o w n a s Treasurer's Instruction N o 2 0 5 Mandatory D a t a Requirements.
—

Rior * l o w far 6r140 * m g within the= lizfruzlio are

mandatorY

plain font items a r e inserucaanal or

f o r the p u r p o s e o fproviding guidance only.

(1)

Agencies must comply with the instructions contained in the Treasury Financial
Reporting System Mandatory Data Requirements Manua.
http://www.treasury.tas.gov.au

11 104 Mandatory Data Requirements

Effective: 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction No

105

Title

Compliance

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Specifies the authority of, and the statutory responsibility to
comply with, Treasurer's Instructions.
31 January 2006

Last Reviewed Date

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font item.i'W.iiiStMaidil
„
.„
for the purpose ofproviding guidance only.
(1)

Treasurer's Instructions are issued under the authority o f the Act and, subject to
Instruction 105 (4), require compliance by all Heads o f Agency.

(2)

Revised Treasurer's Instructions will be issued from time to time and will apply
from the effective date.

(3)

Where a Head o f Agency considers that a Treasurer's Instruction should be varied
or not apply, the Head o f Agency may •seek approval from the Treasurer for
particular Instructions not to apply o r to be varied. The request for approval should
indicate:

(4)

(a)

the reason why the Instruction should be varied or not apply;

(b)

alternatives to the existing Instructions; and

(c)

the effect o f the Instruction being varied or not being applicable, i f approved.

The Treasurer may vary or revoke a Treasurer's Instruction or authorise
alternatives to operate in particular cases.

TI 105 Compliance

Effective: 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction No

106

Title

Copying o f Accounting Records

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction relating to the copying o f records to
microfiche or microfilm
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 1001 Copying o f Accounting Records.'
—
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font i t s aré.iiructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

Where accounting or other records are produced or copied onto microfiche or
microfilm, agencies shall ensure that such microfiche or microfilm is o f a quality
capable o f clear reproduction o f the records for the period determined by the State
Archivist, pursuant to the Archives A c t 1983, with the approval o f the
Auditor-General.

TI 106 Copying o f Accounting Records

Effective: 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction No

107

Title

Agency Operating Accounts

Effective date

30 June 2004

Objective and Background

Provides instructions on the establishment, operation and
closure o f accounts within the Special Deposits and Trust
Fund, including instruction in relation to overdrafts
30 June 2004

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 207 — Accounts in the Spect
and Trust Fund.

eposits

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain fon?' ms'dminstructional
or f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only.

OPENING AN ACCOUNT
(1)

A request to open an Account within the Special Deposits and Trust Fund (SDTF
Account) must be forwarded to the Secretary for submission to the Treasurer for
approval. The request shall advise:
the purpose for which the SDTF Account will be used;
(b) why this purpose cannot be Accommodated within the Agency's existing
SDTF Account structure; and
(a)

(c)
(2)

any special terms and conditions that should attach to the SDTF Account.

The Secretary will retain

copy o f each approval given by the Treasurer.

Agency financial operations are conducted through individual accounts in the Special
Deposits and Trust Fund. Section 13 o f the Public Account Act 1986 provides the
Treasurer wit,k0le authority to create accounts within the Special Deposits and Trust
Fund for approA4 purposes and to determine any terms and conditions that attach to
the o p e r * o n o f the account.
Accounts within the SDTF are classified as follows:
Department Operating Account records all agency transactions, other than those
•
trangA4ted through one o f the following types o f account.
Business Unit Account records transactions undertaken by an Agency relating to
•
an activity undertaken in a quasi-commercial environment.
• Legislative Account is established when an Act requires that a specific account be
established for a particular purpose and is named in the legislation. A separate
account is not specifically required where an Act refers to an account in the
Special Deposits and Trust Fund.
Trust Account records transactions relating to a designated trust held on behalf of
a third party that are not available to the agency to spend for its own purposes. A

TI 107 Accounts in the Special Deposits and Trust fund

Effective: 30 June 2004
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designated trust account does not include Commonwealth grants, even though the
funds may be required to be spent on a specific purpose.
•

(3)

Whole-of-Government Account records transactions relating to activities
undertaken b y an agency o n behalf o f the Government as a whole. F o r example,
the Superannuation Provision Account.

All agency cash transactions must b e recorded through the Department
Operating Account unless:
(a)

there is a legislative requirement to use a separate SDTF Account; or

(b)

the activity relates to a "true trust" activity.

Accounts will not b e opened merely to identify o r "ring fence" a particular attivity.
Application should only be made to open a n e w Account w h e r e .thtrc..-i *.:4a1
requirement to establish an Account.
O P E R A T I N G A SDTF ACCOUNT
(4)

T h e Head o f Agency must ensure that a S D T F Account is operated in accordance
with the purpose and the terms and conditions approved b y the Treasurer.

(5)

Revenues can only be retained in a SDTF A4ourit. with the approval o f the
Treasurer.
Retained revenue will generally includo:',,
•

revenue paid into a Business Unit Account;

•

proceeds from the sale o f A a e t s (section 8, Public Account A c t 1986);

•

approved carried forward funds (section 8A, Public Account A c t 1986); and

•

such other amounts as approvedby the Treasurer (section 8, Public A c c o u n t Act
1986).

(6)

All revenue, "'Other A l a n retained revenue, must b e transferred to the
Consolidated Fund on a daily basis, a t such other times as agreed by Treasury or
in accordance with relevant legislative requirements.

(7)

A s i n * Account must not be overdrawn without the prior written approval of
t h e Treasurer.

(4).

Where the Treasurer has approved an overdraft, the SDTF Account to which the

(9)

In the event that a S D T F Account balance is in overdraft without the approval of
the Treasurer:

overdraft relates m a y only b e overdrawn up to the overdraft limit approved by
t h e Treasurer.

(a)

penalty interest will be charged on the overdraft balance. T h e penalty
interest rate will be o n e and a h a l f times the Government Banker's
overdraft rate;

TI 107 Accounts in the Special Deposits and Trust fund

Effective: 30 June 2004
Page 2 o f 3

19/112259

TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

(b) the Agency must implement processes and procedures to eliminate the
unauthorised overdraft balance; and
(c)

the agency must seek approval from the Treasurer for a temporary
overdraft facility, stating reasons for the overdraft, actions taken to
eliminate the overdraft and the period that the SDTF Account is expected
to remain in overdraft.

Expenditure sourced from the Consolidated Fund is automatically reimbursed by
journal on the day the expenditure is incurred. Agency practices can also minimise the
risk o f a SDTF Account going into unintended overdraft. These practices include:
advising Treasury daily o f the total o f agency expenditure via the TFRS interface
•
to enable Treasury to reimburse the agency for that amount o f expenditure by
EFT. Similarly, cash receipts should be totalled and advised via the TFRS
interface, and then transferred by EFT daily to the Treasurer's,Bank:Account;
•

Processing a payroll costing journal on the day that the payroll accounting entries
are processed (ie either on the Monday or the Tuesday before the pay day); and
negotiating arrangements between the respective agencies to preclude either
agency's SDTF Account from being overdrawn, where an agency incurs
expenditure and it intends to recover the funds from another Agency.

(10)

Interest will not be paid on funds in a SDTF Account unless approved by the
Treasurer.
,
field in accounts within the SDTF. A
Interest is not generally paid on credit balanees
written request for the payment o f interest should be made to the Secretary seeking
the Treasurer's approval and fully explaining why the particular circumstances require
the payment o f interest as a eo,n„dition o f the operation o f a SDTF Account.
Generally, interest will be O l d only Oft;'"ctivities where there are legislative or other
circumstances requiring the p4metit" o f interest on particular funds held within the
SDTF.

CLOSING A
(11)

SDTF ACCOUNT:;.:

The flea& o f Agency must annually review the Agency's SDTF Accounts to
ensure that all Accounts are still required. I f an Account is no longer required,
.the Head of Agency must request the Treasurer's approval to close the Account.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

108

Title

Internal Audit

Effective date

1 September 2011

Objective and Background

Provides guidance for
internal audit functions
31 August 2011

Last Reviewed Date

establishing

and

maintaining

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are
instructional or for the purpose of providing guidance only.
Background
Internal audit provides an independent and objective review and advisory service to:
•

provide assurance to Agency management that financial and operational (internal)
controls, designed to manage risks and achieve outcomes, are operating in an efficient,
effective and ethical manner; and

•

assist Agency management in improving processes and performance.

Internal Audit
(1)

A Head of Agency will ensure that effective internal audit arrangements are
established by the Agency.

(2)

The internal auditor is authorised to perform reviews, evaluations, appraisals,
assessments and investigations of functions, processes, controls and governance
frameworks, in the context of the achievement of the Agency's objectives.

(3)

The Head of Agency will ensure that the internal auditor is properly resourced to
enable its responsibilities to be met.

Providing thatindependence requirements are adhered to, agencies may contract their internal
audit function tO external providers. However, such an arrangement will not diminish the Head of
Agency's responsibility to oversee and manage the internal audit function.
The internal auditor should have the visible and active support of the Head of Agency, Audit
Committee and Senior Management.
Regardless of size, agencies are to ensure that they have an appropriately resourced internal
audit function including skilled auditors, appropriate technology tools and adequate budgets.
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Authority and confidentiality
(4)

Subject to relevant Agency security policies, internal auditors are authorised to
have full, free and unrestricted access to all functions, property, premises,
personnel, records, information, accounts, files and other documentation and
information that the internal auditor considers necessary.

(5)

All records, documentation and information accessed in the course of undertaking
internal audit activities are to be used solely for the conduct of these activities.
Individual internal audit staff are responsible and accountable for maintaining the
confidentiality of the information they receive during the course of their work

Independence of Internal Audit
(6)

Agencies must provide appropriate independence for internal audit fUnctions,
establishing an appropriate degree of separation of the function from Agency
management.

(7)

Where an Agency employs an internal auditor, that posit cittinust be independent
with no other operational or management responSibilities.

Independence is essential to the effectiveness of the internal audit function. The internal auditor
must have no direct authority or responsibility for the activities under review. The internal auditor
must have no responsibility for developing or implementing procedures or systems and must not
engage in Agency service delivery functions or activities. Additional information on the scope of
the internal auditor's work is contained in paragraph 15
.
Audit Committee
(8)

Each Agency must have an Audit Committee

The Head of Agency is assisted 4,416 Atifikt Committee through its oversight function to:
•

review the implementatioet4 the annual Internal Audit Plan and implementation of audit
recommendations,:r.

•

identify area::,worthy ofexamination by the internal auditor;

•

ensure in

nal controls are operating effectively;
s are appropriate for achieving the Agency's objectives;

appropriate management of the Agency's exposure to fraud risk;
•

meet the Agency's statutory and fiduciary duties; and

•

provide a forum for discussing problems and issues that may affect the operations of the
internal auditor.
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The Audit Committee should be constituted to cater for the particular internal and external
influences impacting on the Agency. The membership and conduct of the Audit Committee will
therefore vary, depending on the Agency's size and other circumstances. Membership of an
Audit Committee would be expected to be between three and seven members and may include
one or more members from outside the Agency.
It may be necessary to allocate specialist functions to a member of the Audit Committee,
whereby that member will take the lead role in ensuring that the responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are carried out to a satisfactory level. An example of a specialist function is the
appointment of a Fraud Control Officer to manage the Agency's exposure to fraud risk by
developing a Fraud Control Plan, which documents the Agency's intended action on
implementing and monitoring the Agency s fraud prevention and response initiatives fld ,is
integrated with the Agency's overall risk management plan.
(9)

The Audit Committee will have a Charter that establishes its rOles and
responsibilities and its oversight of the Agency's internal and, external audit
functions.

(10) The Head of Agency is to approve the Audit Committee Charter.
Key characteristics of an Audit Committee should include:
•

A good understanding of the Audit Committee's position in the Agency's governance
framework;

•

Members with relevant personal qualities, skills. and experience, including at least one
member with a strong financial and/Or auditibackgnound; and

•

A robust and considered process'

ossessrhent and continuous improvement.

A strong relationship between the intern auditor and the Audit Committee enables the
Committee to meet its responsibilities and carry out its functions. The Audit Committee
establishes the role and direction for the internal auditor, and maximises the benefits from the
internal audit activity.. Where the Chair Of the Audit Committee considers it to be appropriate, the internal auditor
and/or the external auditor may, as independent advisors, be invited to attend Audit Committee
meetings for relevantagenda items.

Internal' Audit charter
(H) The 4udit Committee must establish an Internal Audit Charter.
(12) The Internal Audit Charter will:
(a)

identify the purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal auditor;

(b)

where relevant, establish
organisational structure;
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(c)

define reporting relationships of the internal auditor with the Head of Agency
and the Audit Committee;

(d)

define the internal auditor's relationship with the Auditor-General; and

(e)

define the scope of the internal auditor's activities, including any restrictions,
together with the reasons for such restrictions.

(13) Subject to any changes that the Head of Agency considers necessary, the Head of
Agency will approve the Internal Audit Charter on the recommendation of the Audit
Committee.
(14) The Audit Committee will periodically review the Internal Audit Charter to enStire
that it remains up-to-date and reflects the current scope of internal audit work.
Scope of Internal Audit
(15) The scope of services provided by the internal auditor will include:
(a)

the examination and evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Agency's systems of internal control, risk management and governance;

(b)

the examination of the Agency's compliance with policies, procedures, plans,
legislation and Treasurer's Instructions;

(c)

assessment
information;

(d)

assessment of the safeguarding of assets;

(e)

any special investigations as directed by the Head of Agency;

(f)

any special investigations a s directed by the Audit Committee, subject to
approval by the Read of Agency; and

(g)

all activities of the Agency, whether financial, or non-financial, manual or
computerised.:

of the

reliability a n d = integrity of financial

management

The scope o f the internal auditor's work may include the provision of advisory activities, the
nature and scope of which are agreed with management and which are intended to add value
and imptpt:te an Agency S
' governance, risk management and control processes. As the outcome
of an advisory service may become the subject of future internal audits, the internal auditor
should ensure that its independence is not compromised by undertaking such a role.
Internal Audit Planning Requirements
(16) The internal auditor will prepare an annual Internal Audit Plan for review by the
Audit Committee and approval by the Head of Agency, showing the proposed areas
for audit.
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(17) The Internal Audit Plan will be based on an assessment of the goals, objectives and
risks of the Agency and will take into consideration any requirements of the Audit
Committee and the Head of Agency.
Good practice internal audit plans will be based on a risk assessment of the Agency's key
strategic and operational areas to establish a program of audits over a 12 month period. This
approach is designed to be flexible, dynamic and more timely in order to meet the changing
needs and priorities of the Agency.
Reporting
(18) The internal auditor will regularly communicate its findings and recommendations
to the Head of Agency, Audit Committee and management of the areas audited.
(19) On the completion of each internal audit engagement, the internal 'auditor will
provide a Report to the Audit Committee and the Head of Agency, which details the
objective and scope of the audit and the findings of the audit
Audit reports should include background information, the audit objectives, scope, approach,
observations/findings, conclusions, recommendations and agreed: management actions.
Reports should promote better practice options and explainwhy the recommended changes are
necessary and how they add value.
Reports should share the internal auditor's observations on significant risk exposures, control
issues, corporate governance issues, and other related audit matters By sharing audit criteria,
explaining causes and consequences of audit observations agencies can gain an
understanding of the implications and impacts of the audit findings.
Compliance with professional standirds
(20) Internal auditors will comply with relevant professional standards.
It is important that internal audit work 1§-onducted in accordance with recognised professional
the work of the internal auditor include:
standards. Standards that can
•

the Professignitt*Ictices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors; and

•

Australian Auditing Standards and Auditing and Assurance Standards issued by the
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

Implerniirltatiqn* audit recommendations
(21) The Head of Agency and the Audit Committee must systematically review progress
against audit recommendations and agreed action plans.
Co-ordination with external audit
(22) The Audit Committee will periodically consult with the Auditor-General, to discuss
matters of mutual interest, to co-ordinate audit activity and to reduce duplication of
audit effort.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

201

Title

Contents o f Reports

Effective date

1 January 2004

Objective and Background

Provides instruction in relation to the contents o f an
Agency's Annual Report
1 November 2005

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer 's Instruction No 701 — Contents o f Reports.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items,are instruelfenal
or f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only

(1)

The report to be prepared by each Head o f Agency pursuant to Section 27 o f the
A c t for inclusion in the Annual Report, shall, in addition to any other
information required by the appropriate Minister o r any other written law,
contain:
(a)

a narrative summary o f significant financial outcomes for Agency
programs o r activities, and any Ministerial directives in relation to
financing or investment activities;

(b)

economic and other factors which have affected the achievement of
operational objectives;

(c)

pricing policies o f goods o r services provided, the last review date, and,
where applicable, reference to the Gazette or other public document which
contains pricing o r rating information. Details o f cost recovery policies and
their application as appropriate;

(d)

information on major capital projects o r undertakings including;
(i)

for each project that remains uncompleted at the end o f the financial
year:
(A)

the expected year o f completion o f the project;

(B)

the estimated cost to complete and the estimated total cost o f the
project; and

(C)

where the estimated total cost o f the project varies significantly
from the estimated total cost reported in the immediately
preceding financial year, and explanation o f that variation; and

.
(1)

(e)

for projects that have been completed during the course i f the
financial year;
(A)

the total cost o f the project; and

(B)

where the total cost o f the project varies significantly from the
estimated total cost reported in the immediately preceding
financial year, an explanation o f that variation.

for reporting periods ending after 1 July 1996, key efficiency
effectiveness indicators and the objectives to which the Outputs relate;
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(1)

a statement o f the Agency's risk management policies, and an outline of
significant risk management activities o r initiatives;

(g)

a statement o f asset management policies, and an outline o f asset
management strategies and initiatives;

(h)

amounts in respect o f public property, revenue and debts due to the State,
written o f f by the Minister o r Head o f Agency;

(i)

the amount o f losses and/or damage to public property or money and,
where appropriate, the amount o f losses recovered;

(j)

subject to section 27(2) o f the Act, financial statements o f the Agency for
the financial y e a r including the financial statements o f any public body,
howsoever designated, over which the Agency exercises control;

(k)

the Auditor-General's report on the financial statements.

(1)

any other matters deemed relevant by the Head o f Agency.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

202

Title

Definition o f "Administered" and "Controlled"

Effective date

30 April 2005

Objective and Background

Defines administered and controlled
provides guidance in their application
30 April 2005

Last Reviewed Date

transactions

and

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 704 — Definition o f "Administered" and
"Controlled".
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoiy and other plainfont ite
'
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

ctional or

All transactions and balances o f an Agency, other than those undertaken under a
trustee or agency arrangement, must be categorised as administered or controlled.
AAS 29 Financial Reporting by Government Departments requires government
departments to classify all items in government accounts and financial statements as
either "controlled" o r "administered". For further i r e * mation on activities undertaken
under a trustee or agency arrangement, refer to Instruction 203 Activities Undertaken
Under a Trustee o r Agency Arrangement.
The operations o f an Agency comprise:
•

activities that are "controlled- by an Agency and which relate directly to an
Agency's operational objectives and arise at its discretion and direction; and

•

activities that are "administered" on behalf o f the Government where an Agency has
no discretion to alter the resources provided or determine how they are spent.

(2)

The Heack'of Agency is accountable for transactions involving administered
resources, but does not have the discretion to deploy the resources for the
achievement o f the Agency's objectives.
The direct and indirect costs of
undertaking administered activities are controlled costs.

(3)

`Agency is responsible for levying and collecting taxes, fees and fines, but
( 1 4 not control the future economic benefits embodied in the
revenues, the
ansactions are classified as "administered". However, any expenses directly
incurred in collecting these revenues are "controlled".

(4)

The Head o f Agency must seek the approval o f the Secretary prior to classifying
transactions and balances o f an Agency as "administered".
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(5)

For the purposes o f financial reporting, transactions and balances relating to
administered resources are not recognised as Agency revenues, expenses, assets or
liabilities.
Administered resources are disclosed in notes to general purpose financial statements.
For further information on the reporting o f administered and controlled transactions and
balances refer to Instruction 206 Presentation o f Annual Financial Statements.

DEFINING CONTROLLED A N D ADMINISTERED
General principles
(6)

Revenues collected by an Agency, other than those types that the:Treasurer has
given approval for an Agency to retain, are administered revenues.

(7)

Expenses incurred by an Agency, other than transfers t o the Consolidated Fund
and, in limited circumstances, grant payments, are controlled expenses.

(8)

Unless they solely and directly relate to administered activities, assets and liabilities
are controlled. Treasury approval must be obtained to recognise assets and
liabilities as administered.
A n Agency may obtain approval from Treasury to vaty the application o f these general
principles to an activity o f an Agency.
In determining the appropriate application o f administered and controlled, an Agency
should be mindful o f materiality. Only .material administered activities need to be
separately reported.

CONTROLLED REVENUES
(9)

Controlled revenues represent those revenues that an Agency can utilise to further
its own objectives.
Generally, , r e v e n u e t h a t can be retained by an Agency for its own purposes are
controlled.

(10)
(11)

Revenues-can only be retained within the Special Deposits and Trust Fund with the
approval o f the
Treasurer as
provided
under section
8 o f the
Public Account A c t 1986.
COnfrolled revenues include:
(a)

appropriations;

(b)

revenue from user charges retained by an Agency;

(c)

fees and fines retained by an Agency;
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(d)

Commonwealth payments made directly to an Agency and retained by an
Agency; and

(e)

proceeds from the sale o f assets retained by an Agency.

ADMINISTERED REVENUES
(12)

Administered revenues represent those revenues that an Agency cannot utilise to
further its own objectives.
Generally, all revenues required to be paid into the Consolidated Fund are administered.
These include taxes, fines, and regulatory fees and transfer payments.

(13)

Administered revenues include:
(a)

Revenue from user charges which are required to be transferred to the
Consolidated Fund;

(b)

Taxation, fees and fines which are required to be transferred to the
Consolidated Fund;

(c)

Commonwealth grant monies:

(d)

(i)

which are required to be transferred t n t h e eOnsolidated Fund;

(ii)

which are to be on passed to a third partrunder a post box arrangement;
or

(iii)

where an Agency has no discretion as to how the monies are to be
disbursed. For example, reimbursement from the Commonwealth for
first home assistance grants; and

Appropriations in respect o f grant payments that are Reserved by Law. For
example, reimbursementSs: ,to local government for pensioner rate remission
payments.

CONTROLLED E,OENSES
(14)

Controlled expenses represent those expenses that form part o f the cost o f operating
an Agency i n pursuit, o f its objectives. Controlled expenses include those assets
consumed or liabilities incurred in the process o f providing goods and outputs to
achieve the Agency's objectives.

(15)

Controlled expenses include:
:(a)

wages, salaries and employee entitlements;

(b)

most operating and administration costs;

(c)

depreciation; and
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(d)

grants and subsidies where an Agency has discretion as to recipient, value
and/or the conditions attaching to the payment o f the grant/subsidy. This
includes most State grants and subsidies, including Community Service
Agreement payments.

ADMINISTERED EXPENSES
(16)

Administered expenses do not form part o f the cost o f operating an Agency in
pursuit o f its objectives. Incurring the expense must not decrease an. Agency's
assets or increase its liabilities.

(17)

Administered expenses include:
(a)

The payment o f Commonwealth grant monies:
(i)

which are to be transferred to the Consolidated Fund;

(ii)

which are being passed to a third party under a post box arrangement;
Or

(iii)

(b)

where an Agency has no discretion as to how the monies are to be
distributed. For example, the payment o f l k s t homes assistance grants;
and

The payment o f grants that are Reserved by Law. For example,
reimbursements to local government for pensioner rate remissions provided.

CONTROLLED ASSETS A N D LIABILITIES,
(18)

Controlled assets are thosV-where an 'Agency will determine how the future
economic benefit comprising the asset will be deployed in achieving the objectives of
the Agency. An Agency is able to deny or regulate access o f others to the benefit of
\
•
those assets.

(19)

Similarly, controlled liabilities are incurred as a result o f an Agency's operations
and in achip*ement o f an Agency's objectives.

ADMINISTERED ASSETS A N D LIABILITIES
(20)

Administered assets and liabilities must be solely and directly related to
administered activities and cannot be used to further the objectives o f an Agency.

GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
(21)

G S T receivable to the Agency from the Australian Taxation Office must be
classified as a controlled asset, except where the majority o f transactions and
balances o f the Agency are treated as administered, in which case GST receivable
should be classified as an administered asset.
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(22)

GST payable by the Agency to the Australian Taxation Office must be classified as a
controlled liability, except where the majority o f transactions and balances o f the
Agency are treated as administered, in which case GST payable should be classified
as an administered liability.
In accordance with Instruction 1002 Goods and Services Tax, agencies must account for
the GST on an accrual basis. Also, agencies must manage GST cash flows within their
existing global funding allocation by using the balance held within each Departmental
Operating Account in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund.
For instruction and guidance in respect o f Goods and Services Tax refer to Instruction
1002 Goods and Services Tax.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

203

Title

Activities Undertaken
Arrangement
1 July 2005

Effective date
Objective and Background
Last Reviewed Date

Under

a

Trustee

or

Agency

Provides for activities undertaken under trustee and agency
arrangements
31 July 2003

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 706 — Activities Undertaken Under a Trustee
or Agency Arrangement.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatmy and other plain f o n t items are instructhmal or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only

(1)

All transactions and balances o f the Agency, other than those undertaken under a
trustee or agency arrangement, must be categorised as administered or controlled.
For further information on the definition o f administered and controlled, refer to
Instruction 202 Definition o f "Administered" and "Controlled".

(2)

Where the Agency is undertaking a trust activity or acting in a fiduciary capacity,
the resulting transactions/balances do not form part o f the Agency's activities.
Such activities would normally be undertaken through a designated trust account within
the Special Deposits and Trust Fund. For example, transactions recorded through T404
Prisoners Earnings Deposit Account (Department o f Justice and Industrial Relations) or
T470 Patient Trust and Hospital Bequest Account (Department o f Health and Human
Services).

(3)

Where the Agency has entered into an agency arrangement and undertakes an
activity solely as an agent for another entity, the resulting transactions/balances do
not form, part o f the Agency's activities.
For example, the Department o f Primary Industries, Water and Environment, as Service
Tasmania, collects a range o f taxes and fees under agency arrangements it has with a
number o f government entities.

(4)

Trustee and agency arrangements, and transactions/balances relating to those
activities, are neither controlled nor administered.

(5)

Where the Agency earns fees/commissions and/or incurs expenses in the course of
rendering services as a trustee or manager o f a trust, or entering into an agency
arrangement, these must be recognised as controlled transactions.
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(6)

For the purposes o f financial reporting, transactions and balances relating to a
trustee or agency arrangement are not recognized as departmental revenues,
expenses, assets or liabilities. Instead they are disclosed in notes to the general
purpose financial statements.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

204

Title

Recognition and Management of Agency Data for Half
Yearly Reporting
1 July 2005

Effective date
Objective and Background
Last Reviewed Date

Outlines requirements relating to the recognition and
management of agency data used for interim financial
reporting
1 January 2004

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 619 — Recognition and
Data f o r Half Yearly Reporting
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoty and other plai
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

...•
re instructional or

BACKGROUND
The State's financial reporting framework requires the production of financial reports
comparing actual outcomes and budgeted performance throughout the financial year.
Agencies must regularly update data in their Financial Management Information System
(FMIS) to enable the generation of accurate accrual reports.
This Treasurer's Instruction outlines requirements in relation to the production of interim
reports, in particular:
•
•

the recognition of revenue and expenses; and
general ledger practices that will helliensure the production o f accurate accrual data.

Requirements relating to the lodgement of Public Account Reporting System accrual files
by agencies are set out in the Treasury Financial Reporting System (TFRS) Mandatory
Data Requirements (MDR). ;
Divisiort 7 o f the Financial Management and Audit Act 1990 describes the State's annual
and interim external financial reporting framework.
1-10f*arly reports are produced as at 31 December and 30 June each year. They report
on:the General Government Sector (GGS) Budget position and the Consolidated Fund.
The December half yearly report incorporates the Loan Council Mid Year Report.
The Treasurer's Annual Report includes the Budget results, audited Public Account
information and the Loan Council Outcomes Report. It also includes additional
information relating to the previous year's outcomes, including progress toward
achieving Fiscal Strategy targets and provides commentary on changes in forecasts and
other assumptions underlying the Budget.
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The annual Budget Papers will report on the actual financial performance o f the GGS as
at 31 March for the current Budget year.
End o f year financial reporting allows 45 days for the preparation o f the draft financial
statements, whereas interim financial information must be prepared within five working
days. Agencies may need to adopt estimation methods to ensure that interim financial
information produced within the short timeframe is relevant and reliable.
Interim reports produced by the Government will accord with the requirements o f AASB
134 Interim Financial Reporting. Accordingly, agencies producing inforMation for
consolidation into these reports should comply with the principles included i n that
Standard, particularly as they relate to:
•

materiality in recognising, measuring, classifying or disclosing an itent

•

changes in accounting policies; and

•

reliance upon estimation methods.

AASB 1031 Materiality also provides guidance in the determination o f whether an item
is material for the preparation o f interim financial data.,
Accrued revenue and expenses are unlikely to be material- dn output or PAN level and
may be costed to Output Group 77, Output 777, and Public Account Number ACCR. At
the end o f each financial year, output costing will be required for all accrual items.
RECOGNITION A N D MEASUREME,
(1)

Revenues and expenses a t e to be recognised within the Agency's FMIS in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Recognition o f revenues
(2)

Revenues are t d b e recOguised in the month in which it is probable that the inflow or
other enhancement or saving in outflows o f future economic benefits has occurred, if
this treatment is a d o p t e d in the agency's annual financial statements.
Appropriations,„ whether recurrent or capital, are to be recognised as revenues in the
period in which an agency gains control o f the appropriated funds.
Oeneral y , grants payable by the Australian Government should be recognised as
revenue
in the month that the grant payment is received. However, where a grant is reciprocal in
itatu.tt, the revenue is to be classified as Revenue in Advance and the revenue recognised
as performance occurs under the grant.
Amounts earned in exchange for the provision o f goods and services are to be recognised
when the good or service is provided.
Revenue from State Taxation and from Fees and Fines is to be recognised upon the first
occurrence o f either:
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•

receipt by the State o f a taxpayer's self-assessed taxes and fees; or

•

the time the obligation to pay arises, pursuant to the issue o f an assessment.

Payments in Advance
(3)

Payments for goods and services where payment in advance is a normal contractual
condition are to be recognised as a Payment in Advance within the Balance Sheet
and the expense recognised on a monthly basis over the life o f the contract, i f this
treatment is adopted in the agency's annual financial statements.
Treasurer's Instruction 706 Prepaid Expenditure prohibits the prepayment o f goods and
services which have not been provided and are not due for payment; other than those
goods and services such as insurance, accommodation costs, maintenance contracts and
software licences where payment in advance is a normal contractual condition. It is
assumed that the expense incurred in relation to these goods a n d services is incurred at
the same rate over time and recognised on a monthly basis.

Depreciation
(4)

A standard monthly expense is to be adopted for Charging depreciation throughout
the year with an adjustment made in June to align the actual and standardised
depreciation expense for the year.

Long Service Leave
(5)

A standard monthly expense i g to be 'adopted for Long Service Leave with an
adjustment made in June to align the actual and standardised expense for the year.

Creditors and accrued expenses
(6)

Expenses are to be brought to aceOunt in the period in which they are incurred.

(7)

A liability for creditors i s to be recognised where goods and services have been
received and invoiced but not paid at the end o f the reporting month.
A n agency will generally manage its creditors through a subsidiary accounts payable
ledger. A n efficient procurement process is required to recognise when a commitment is
incurred, Ncording the liability and when goods are received or services provided and
invoiced
Agelicies should estimate the value o f outstanding creditors not recorded within the FMIS
and process a standard journal to recognise the amount. The level o f creditors as at
30 June o f each year may represent a reasonable benchmark as to the expected level of
creditors.
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(8)

A liability for accrued expenses is to be recognised where a good or service has been
received but not invoiced.

Accrued expenses, except for utility services, are generally not processed through the
subsidiary accounts payable ledger. An accrued expense arises where a service is
provided such as employee services or utility services which are invoiced at regular
intervals in arrears. Any unpaid salaries and wages, or employee entitlements other than
Long Service Leave, must be accrued at the appropriate rates at the end o f the reporting
month. In the case o f utility services, where an invoice has not been received, the amount
of the accrual may need to be estimated. This should be based upon the number of days
the service was provided to the end of the reporting month.
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT PRACTICES SUPPORTING THE PRODITieTION OF
ACCRUAL DATA

The relevance and accuracy of the information within an agency's FMIS will determine
the quality of the State's interim financial reports.
(9)

An agency's FMIS must be regularly updated to reflect transactions, assets and
liabilities recorded in any related agency financial system.

(10)

The Head o f Agency is to ensure that the following practices are adopted within an
Agency for updating information within an agency's FMIS:
(a)

Fixed Assets
(i)

_
Asset acquisitions a nsd disposals
o f fixed assets are to be recognised
within the FMIS ott a monthly basis;

(ii)

W o r k in Progress. on ,capitui projects is to be recognised as expenses
occur;

(iii)

Fixed asset registers 're to be kept up to date and reconciled with the
FMIS each month; and

(iv) Revaluations o f fixed assets are to be recognised within the FMIS in the
„month in which the revaluation takes effect.

The G8\t` emment's budget performance will be measured against the actual GGS
9perating Result and Fiscal Balance for the period. The GGS Operating Result in
particular may be impacted if fixed asset transactions are initially recorded as an expense.
Is _practice may also lead to material variances between an agency's budgeted and
actual:results within maintenance and fixed asset transaction types.
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(b)

Other assets and liabilities
(i)

Debtor and creditor ledgers are to be reconciled each month;

(ii)

Debts are to be written o f f immediately that they are recognised as bad
debts;

(iii)

The adequacy o f an agency's doubtful debts provision is to be considered
regularly, but at least in May each year;

(iv)

Inventories are to be reviewed for possible write-downs regularly, but at
least in May each year; and

(v)

Processing o f creditors must be timely to enable accurate measurement
o f creditors at the various reporting month ends throughout the year.,
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Treasurer's Instruction No

205

Title

Certification o f Annual Financial Statements

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Outlines requirements
financial statements
1 May 2004

Last Reviewed Date

relating

to

the

certification

of

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 708 — Certification o f Financial Statements.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain fon items are:intructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

Financial statements must be accompanied by a Statement o f Certification in the
following terms, and be signed and dated by the Head o f Agency:
The accompanying Financial Statements o f the (Name o f Agency together with
the words "and its related bodies" i f applicable) are in agreement with the
relevant accounts and records and have been prepared in compliance with the
Treasurer's Instructions issued under the Iprovisions o f the Financial
Management a n d Audit A c t 1990 to present fairly the financial transactions for
the year ended 30 June (year) and the financial position as at the end o f the
year.
At the date o f signing, I a m not aware o f any circumstances which would render
the particulars included i n the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.
(Signed by Head o f Agency
(Date)
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Treasurer's
No
Title

Instruction

206
Presentation o f Annual Financial Statements

Effective date

I July 20 I 4

Objective and Background

T o provide a model f o r the
departmental financial statements
I July 2014

Last Reviewed Date

preparation

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 709 — Presentation of Financial Staterri,ents.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are instructiondlô..for
the purpose of providing guidance only.

BACKGROUND
Agency financial statements are a primary method of providing information for the
public regarding the financial performance and position of an Agency.
This
Treasurer's Instruction seeks t o ensure that agency financial statements are prepared
under Australian Accounting Standards, are prepared consistently across all agencies
and include additional disclosures where specific accountability considerations exist.
C O M P L I A N C E W I T H A U S T R A L I A N A C C O U N T I N G STANDARDS
(I)

Agency financial statements must comply with Australian Accounting
Standards and have regard t o the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation o f Financial Statements and Statements o f Accounting Concepts.

(2)

A n Agency must consult with the Secretary before determining t h a t the
application of an Australian Accounting Standard will not result in the fair
presentation of its financial statements.
AASB 101 Presentation o f Financial Statements (AASB 101) provides for additional
disclosures in the notes to the financial statements where it is considered that
application of Australian Accounting Standards does not result in the fair
presentation of the financial statements.
It would be extremely unusual f o r the application of AAS not to result in fair
presentation. If an agency considers that departure from AAS is necessary to
achieve fair presentation, it must consult with Treasury.

(3)

All agencies are designated as not-for-profit entities.
The Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 136 Impairment o f Assets) define a
not-for-profit entity as an entity whose principal objective is not the generation of
profit. As the principal objective of an Agency is not the generation of profit, an
Agency is a not-for-profit entity.

(4)

Financial reports must be presented in Australian currency.
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M O D E L D E P A R T M E N T A L F I N A N C I A L STATEMENTS
The Model Departmental Financial Statements provide a template for the
presentation and structure of agency general purpose financial statements.
Compliance with the Model Statements ensures consistency of presentation of
financial statements across agencies.
(5)

A n Agency must present its general purpose financial statements in
accordance with the Model Statements, subject t o paragraph (6) below.

(6)

A n Agency m a y vary f r o m the Model Statements presentation in o r d e r to
b e t t e r reflect its operations, providing t h e variation does not:
(a)

conflict with a requirement of the Australian Accounting Standards
o r a Treasurer's Instruction;

(b)

reduce the level o f detail provided; or

(c)

reduce consistency o f presentation across agencies.

Other variations from the Model Statements require an exemption from this
Treasurer's Instruction.
In applying the Model Statements, an Agency may find that some disclosures are not
required because it does not engage in some of the transactions disclosed in the
Model Statements. Such disclosures may be removed from the Agency's financial
statements without an exemption from this Treasurer's Instruction.
Disclosures in an Agency's financial statements providing additional information that
is not contained in the Model Statements do not constitute a variation from the
Model Statements.
Guidance on the Model Financial Statements is available from the links below:
Model Departmental Financial Statements (incorporates
Accounting Standards and Treasurer's Instructions)

cross

references

to

Template Model Departmental Financial Statements (word format)
Specific Presentation and Disclosure Requirements
The Model Statements incorporate certain specific presentation and disclosure
requirements in addition to the requirements of AAS. These disclosures are in
relation to transactions that are specific t o government where AAS is silent and
where accountability considerations call for additional information to be disclosed or
where there are options available under AAS. The specific presentation and
disclosure requirements are as follows:
Mandatory Presentation Format
Paragraph 99 of AASB 101 allows expenses to be classified based on either their
nature o r their function. The Model Statements present expenses in the Statement
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of Comprehensive Income by nature. Classification of expenses by nature provides
more relevant and reliable information than classification by function.
Paragraph 60 of AASB 101 allows the presentation of amounts in the Statement of
Financial Position in order of liquidity rather than based on current/non-current
classifications. The Model Statements adopt a liquidity presentation because it better
reflects the operational cycle of an Agency.
Presentation of Budget Estimates
The presentation of budget information on the face of the statements is mandatory.
Presentation of budget information enhances accountability. Presentatiow of budget
information enhances accountability. Budget information must be based on original
budget estimates as published in the Budget Papers for the relevant year.
•
The Model Statements disclose details for each Output Group. (as defined
in the
Budget Papers for the relevant year), including:
•

summarised revenues and expenses for each Output Group;

•
•

total expenses for each Output within each Output Group;
•
total assets deployed and liabilities incurred - for each Output Group, to the
extent that they can be reliably attributed; and

•

original budget estimates and prior year compafatives in relation to the above
items.

Revenues and expenses in relation to Capital Investment Program and Special Capital
Investment Funds projects * i t be Presented in aggregate and included in an
"Infrastructure Investment Category as part of the Output Group disclosure. The
Capital Investment Program a n t the Special Capital Investment Funds are defined in
the Budget Papers.
The Model Statements include a note disclosing details of cash outflows relating to
Capital Investment Program and Special Capital Investment Funds projects, including:
•

total dish outflows for each project;

•

original estimates and prior year comparatives for the above cash flows; and
the, classification of total cash outflows in the Statement of Cash Flows.

•

BildgetInfornnation disclosed, on the face of the financial statements, must include
explanations of material variances between original budget estimates and actual
-outcomes.
Additional Disclosure Requirements
The following items must be displayed separately on the face of the Income
Statement:
•

Revenue from Appropriations; and

•

Revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds.
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The Model Statements include a note disclosing details of revenue from Special
Capital Investment Funds, where material, including a cross-reference to Output
Group details and cash flow details.
The Model Statements disclose, as part of the schedule of commitments, the total
value of commitments relating to Capital Investment Program and Special Capital
Investment Funds projects.
The Model Statements disclose balances of individual Accounts within the Special
Deposits and Trust Fund comprising the balance of cash and deposits held.
The Model Statements provide a description of any material transaction tor balance
where that transaction or balance is unusual or specific to government. Such
transactions include, but are not limited to, loan advances and equity investments.
The reason for holding an equity investment must be included in the description.
Location of Specific Disclosures
The schedules of administered income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash
flows are presented as the first note to the financial ,statements in the Model
Statements.
The structure, format and content of notes to administered schedules of income and
expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows must be consistent with the structure,
format and content of the notes to the controlled financial statements.
Details for each Output Group are presented immediately following the accounting
policy notes to the financial statements (Note )).

TI Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

Effective: 1 July 2014
Page 4 of 4

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

Treasurer's Instruction No

207

Title

Administrative Restructuring o f Agencies

Effective date

1 April 2006

Objective and Background

To set out the requirements for the classification of
non-reciprocal transfers between agencies
20 April 2007

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 1009 — Non-Reciprocal Tra
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font4f#Agfral
or f o r the purpose ofproviding guidance only.

BACKGROUND
The purpose o f this Treasurer's Instruction is to provide guidance on the classification
o f non-reciprocal transfers from agencies to other agencies. A non-reciprocal transfer
occurs where the transferor does not receive equal value in exchange for the transfer.
Non-reciprocal transfers include:
•

transfers arising from State Service restructuring following an Administrative
Arrangements Order; and

•

voluntary transfers between agencies.

Agency restructuring as a:jgsult o f an Administrative Arrangements Order will
normally result in the t a r * ? f ,assets and liabilities between agencies for nominal or
ar*inViiii*Ae termination o f
no consideration. It can
an agency, or the creation o f a
maytata.sente'r
into voluntary agreements to transfer net assets
new agency. Agencies
responsibility
transferring
result
o
f
for a service or activity.
as a
This Instruction has been prepared in accordance with the provisions o f Urgent Issues
Group A14StracttIQ 38 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public
Sector Entities (UIG48). UIG 38 sets out the provisions for classifying a transfer of
net assets between State Sector entities.
'How a transfer is classified has implications for reporting o f the Headline Budget
1\ileasuresIt is important that there is a clear basis for classification o f all transfers
o 0 u d g e t and outcomes reporting.
Paragraph (3) o f Treasurer's Instruction 1002 Goods and Services Tax explains the
Goods and Services Tax (GST) implications o f transfers arising from State Service
restructuring following an Administrative Arrangements Order, or from voluntary
transfers between agencies.
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TRANSFERS AS A RESULT OF STATE SERVICE RESTRUCTURING
FOLLOWING AN ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER
(1)

All transfers o f assets and liabilities as a result of the restructuring by
Administrative Arrangements Order are to be designated as a "contribution by
owner".
Transfers as a result o f an administrative restructure will generally not have an equity
instrument or formal agreement to provide evidence o f an equity transfer.
Paragraph (1) provides a formal designation for all future agency restructures, which
satisfies UIG 38 requirements. As a result, all transfers must be treated as a
contribution by owner.
Administrative restructures have been designated as contribution by owners_ a t hey
are non-discretionary in nature and result from the decisions o f the Government as
owner. The Government has the right to sell, transfer or reclean the net assets of
agencies at any time. Accordingly, it is appropriate to designate such transfers as a
contribution by owners and record the transfer directly to accumulated funds within
equity in the Balance Sheet.

Transfer Date
(2)

The commencement date for the Administrative: Arrangements Order is the
effective date for the restructure.

(3)

Where the transfer date takes effect iiartway through a month, the effective date
for the valuation of net assets * d e e m e d to be the end o f that month, adjusted for
any material transactions that may have occurred in the time between the
transfer date and the end o f he month,:

(4)

Agencies must seek Treasury approval to adopt an alternative effective date,
such as 1 July, for the transfer o f net assets. The request shall advise why the
proposed date Will n(4. have a material impact on financial reporting.
AAS 29 Financial Reporting by Government Departments states that, where activities
are transferred from ione agency to another agency, the transferee agency should not
recognise expenses and revenues which arose prior to the transfer. This is because
those expenses and revenues did not arise as a result o f activities conducted by the
.transferee agency.
, practical reporting
For
purposes it may be appropriate to adopt an alternative effective
'.:40.te for the transfer o f net assets, such as 1 July. For example, where the restructure
&curs early in the financial year, or the transfer involves an immaterial level of
revenue, expenses and net assets, the adoption o f 1 July may have no material impact
on financial reporting for the affected agencies and simplify the transfer process. The
Secretary o f the Department o f Treasury and Finance may approve an alternative date,
such as 1 July, in consultation with the Auditor-General, where it can be demonstrated
that there is no material impact on financial reporting.
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Disclosure Requirements
(5)

The balance of net assets transferred must be recorded directly to accumulated
funds within equity by both the transferor and transferee agencies.

(6)

The book value o f net assets as at the transfer date must be used as the valuation
basis for both the transferor and transferee agencies.

(7)

The financial statements for both the transferee and transferor agencies must
disclose, by way o f note:
(a)

date of the transfer;

(b)

details of the Outputs and activities which have been assumed or
relinquished;

(c)

the agency that will be assuming or relinquishing :the
activities;

tputs and

(d) the amount o f transactions and/or balances transferred from. the transferor
agency/ received by the transferee agency;

(8)

(e)

expenses and revenues attributable to those Outputs and activities for that
reporting year, up to the date of transfer; and

(0

for the transferee agency only, disclosure of all expenses and revenues for
the reporting period for all transferred activities for which the agency is
responsible.

Prior year comparatives must not be adjusted or otherwise aligned to reflect the
restructure. A note to the, effect that the comparative figures have not been
adjusted must be included in the statements.
An illustration o f the requited Adte disclosure is provided the model statements
presented in Treasurer's InstructiQn 206 Presentation o f Annual Financial Statements.

PARS Cash and Acertial File\Requirements
(9)

A PARS e i i h and accrual file containing finalised transactions and balances for
the period, based on the original agency structure, must be provided from all
agencies by the fifth working day following the month of the restructure.

(10)

/The book value of net assets contained in the PARS file must be used
as the
initial bash for transfer between agencies.
Mir" the TFRS Mandatory Data requirements, agencies must submit
summary
accrual files by midnight o f the fifth working day following the end o f a reporting
month. Reporting months are: September, November, December, February, March,
May and June. A PARS accrual file will be required from all agencies in the month
following a restructure, based on the original agency structure, regardless o f whether
it is a reporting month.
The financial information provided to PARS in accordance with paragraph (9) must
contain the finalised transactions and balances. Treasury will use this information to
assist in the transfer process between agencies.
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The transition to the new agency structures may take some time, depending on the
size and nature o f the restructure. Therefore, Treasury will liaise with the affected
agencies and advise o f the timing requirements for submission o f PARS files in
accordance with the new agency structures.

VOLUNTARY TRANSFERS BETWEEN AGENCIES
(11)

All voluntary transfers of assets and liabilities between agencies, for reasons
other than as a result o f administrative restructuring, must be recorded through
the Income Statement as a revenue/expense for the transferring agencieS.

Transfer Date
The transfer date will be that agreed by the transferring agencies.
Disclosure Requirements
(12)

The fair value of net assets transferred between agenties must be disclosed in the
Income Statement as a revenue/expense for the transferring agencies.
Agencies may also enter into voluntary agreements to transfer net assets or assume
responsibility for the provision o f a service. Transfers o f assets and liabilities as a
result o f a voluntary transfer o f net assets will generally not represent a contribution
by owner. The transfer is occurring at the discretion o f the agencies and does not
reflect an explicit decision o f the Government. AS a result, the transfers are not equity
in nature and have not been designated s a "contribution by owner".
The transfer will be recorded' in the income Statement against assets assumed
(liabilities transferred) and liabilities assumed (assets transferred). The disclosure
requirements for these itenis axe set out in the model statements presented in
Treasurer's Instruction 206 Presentation o f Annual Financial Statements.

TI 207 Administrative Restructuring o f Agencies

Effective Date: 1 April 2006
Page 4 o f 4

19/112259

TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

Treasurer's Instruction No

208

Title

Contributions to State-owned Entities

Effective date

6 April 2017

Objective and Background

To classify non-reciprocal transfers from an Agency to a
Government Business Enterprise, a State-owned Company
or a statutory authority
4 April 2017

Last Reviewed Date

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are i n s t r u l * al
f
guidance only.
or f o r the purpose o providing

BACKGROUND
The purpose o f this Treasurer's Instruction is to provide guidance on the classification
o f non-reciprocal transfers from agencies to State-owned entities. A non-reciprocal
transfer occurs where the transferor does not receive equal value in exchange for the
transfer.
Non-reciprocal transfers include:
•

transfers that occur as a result o f state service restructuring following an
Administrative Arrangements Order; and

•

other transfers from agencies to Government businesses or statutory authorities.

Agency restructuring as a result o f an Administrative Arrangements Order will
normally result in the transfer o f assets and liabilities between agencies and
Government businesses or statutory authorities, for nominal or no consideration. It
o f an Agency, or the creation o f a new Agency.
can also involve .J.11*4ermination
N.,
Agencies m a y * enter into voluntary agreements to transfer net assets as a result of
transferring*Onsibility for a service or activity. In addition, an Agency can make a
contributioV to d'Government business or statutory authority for a specific purpose
which, can be t r e a t e d * either a grant payment, or an equity contribution, subject to
the Treasurer's„ approval.
transfers o f net assets between agencies and other State Sector entities
may be
classified as either:
•

equity contributions, which are recorded by both parties directly to accumulated
funds within equity in the Balance Sheet. This represents a distribution to owner
for the transferor entity and a contribution by owner for the transferee agency; or

•

grant contributions which are reported by both parties in the Income Statement,
as a net expense for the transferor entity and a net revenue for the transferee
agency.

TI 208 Contributions to State-owned Entities

Effective: 6 April 2017
Page 1 o f 2

19/112259

TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

H o w a transfer is classified has implications for reporting o f the Headline Budget
Measures. The classification will also affect the dividend and income tax equivalent
calculations for Government businesses. It is important that there is a clear basis for
classification o f all transfers for budget and outcomes reporting.
T R A N S F E R S T O G O V E R N M E N T BUSINESSES O R S T A T U T O R Y AUTHORITIES
(1)

Contributions b y an Agency to a Government Business Enterprise or
State-owned Company o r statutory authority must be classified as an
equity contribution, where the contribution gives rise to a financial interest in
the net assets o f the entity which:
(a)

conveys entitlement to distributions o f future economic benefits'b the
entity during its life, such distributions being at the discretion o f the
ownership group o r its representatives, and to distributions o f a n y excess of
assets over liabilities in the event o f the entity being w o u n d up; and/or

(b)

can be sold, transferred o r redeemed.

(2)

Contributions that do not meet the equity criteria in paragraph (1) must be
classified as a grant contribution.

(3)

Where a contribution meets the equity criteria in paragraph (1), agencies must
ensure the transfer is formally designated b y the Treasurer as being contributed
equity at or before the time o f the transfer..

(4)

A request for formal designation mUsf b e 'forwarded to the Secretary for
submission to the Treasurer for approval. T h e request must advise the details of
the contribution and the proposed transfer date.

(5)

Contributions must b
transferee.

s.c.onsistently b y both the transferor and

A transfer f r o n f an agency to a Government business o r statutory authority which
satisfies the-'definition o f contributions b y owners in A A S B 1004 Contributions
constitute a n equity contribution. Guidance can b e sought from Treasury regarding
the classification o f a proposed contribution.
The provision o f funding for maintenance o f a fixed asset w o u l d n o t meet the
requirements o f an equity contribution and should be classified as a grant. Community
Service Obligation payments are usually intended for the provision o f a service and
unlikely to b e classified as an equity contribution.
Contributions m a y b e both equity and grant in nature. For example, a contribution to
assist in funding loan repayment obligations m a y include both interest and principal
repayments. In this case, the principal component should b e classified as a n equity
contribution, and the interest component classified as a grant.

TI 208 Contributions to State-owned Entities

Effective: 6 April 2017
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

209

Title

Transition to AEIFRS

Effective date

15 April 2005

Objective and Background

To set out the requirements for the transition to
Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards
15 April 2005

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 710 — Transition to Aus
International Accounting Standards.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plaiti
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

re instructional or

BACKGROUND
This Instruction covers:
•

the preparation o f the Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards (AEIFRS) Transitional Balance Sheet at 1 July 2004; and

•

the restatement o f the financial statements for the reporting period ending
30 June 2005 in accordance with AEIFRS.

The restated 2004-05 AEIFRS financial statements will be used as comparatives for the
first AEIFRS financial rept)4 for the reporting period ending 30 June 2006. The
preparation o f the Transitional Balance Sheet at 1 July 2004 provides opening balances
on an AEIFRS basis to assist in the preparation o f the 2004-05 AEIFRS financial
statements.
The Transitional Balance Sheet and the restated 2004-05 AEIFRS financial statements
will be, referred to , 4 "Transitional Financial Statements" for the purposes o f this
Instruction.
This Instruction primarily addresses recognition and measurement issues and mandates
accolitting treatments or disclosures where there are alternatives available under the
Standards. Any elements o f this Instruction that are o f an ongoing nature will be
continued by amendments to other Treasurer's Instructions, as appropriate. Presentation
issues arising from the adoption o f AEIFRS will be addressed through amendments to
Treasurer's Instruction 709 Presentation o f Financial Statements.
(1)

This Instruction applies to the Balance Sheet at 1 July 2004 prepared for transition
to AEIFRS and to financial statements prepared for the reporting period ending
30 June 2005, which will be published as comparatives for the 2005-06 financial
statements. The Transitional Balance Sheet and the restated 2004-05 AEIFRS
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financial statements will be referred to as "Transitional Financial Statements" for
the purposes o f this Instruction.
(2)

Agencies will apply Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1 First-time Adoption of
Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards.

(3)

Financial reports will be presented in Australian currency.

(4)

For the purposes o f compliance with AEIFRS, all agencies are designated as
not-for-profit entities.
International Accounting Standards are designed for the for-profit sector. The Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) has issued a single set o f Accounting Standards
that are sector neutral with specific provisions included to accommodate the
not-for-profit sector.
AEIFRS (AASB 136 Impairment o f Assets) defines a not-for-profit entity as an entity
whose principal objective is not the generation o f profit As the principal objective o f an
agency is not the generation o f profit, an agency is a.pot-for-profit entity.
AASB 116 Property, Plant a n d Equipment (AASB 1 14) a n d AASB 102 Inventories
include specific not-for-profit requirements. In addition, the application o f AASB 120
,
Accounting f o r Government Grants a n d Disclosure o f Government Assistance and AASB
114 Segment Reporting has been limited to for-profit entities by the AASB.
Consequently, the classification o f an agency as not-for-profit will impact on financial
statements in these areas. Further detail on the impact o f the not-for-profit classification
is provided in the Australian Accounting Standards Boards Staff Article "Not-for-profit
entity requirements in Austrlian, :Accounting Standards" a copy o f which is available
from the AASB Website.

A C C O U N T I N G POLICIES
(5)

The entire c l O f non-clifTent assets will be measured on the same basis.
Accounting Standard AASB 116 requires a class o f Property, Plant and Equipment to be
measured at cost or fair6lue.

AASB

1145 does not permit a mix o f cost and fair value in the Transitional Financial
Statements : In addition, AASB 1 requires the accounting policies used in the
Transitional Financial Statements to be applied throughout all periods presented in the
AEIFRS financial report.
In order to determine the fair value o f non-current assets within a class o f non-current
assets currently transitioning to fair value, agencies must retrospectively determine the
1 July 2004 fair value for those classes o f non-current assets, consistent with the
requirements o f AEIFRS.
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Previously, AASB 1041 Revaluation o f Non-Current Assets permitted agencies, moving
to fair value from cost, to progressively revalue a class o f Property, Plant and Equipment
to fair value over the five-year period ending 30 June 2005 and, consequently, agencies
were able to have a class o f Property, Plant and Equipment valued at a mix o f fair value
and cost.
Possible methods for determining retrospective valuations include:

(6)

•

obtain a valuation as at 1 July 2004 and restate the 1 July 2004 Balance Sheet
accordingly;

•

obtain a valuation as at 30 June 2005. I f it is expected that there would be a material
change in value between 1 July 2004 and 30 June 2005, request the valuer to adjust
back to the 1 July 2004 value. The use o f relevant indices would be appropriate.
Both revaluations would be reported in the financial statements. This May increase
the costs to agencies o f the valuation; or

•

obtain a valuation as at 30 June 2005. This amount would represent the carrying
value at 30 June 2005 (or date o f valuation). To determine the 1 July 2004 value, the
amount o f depreciation that would have applied during the )i.ear, is added back to the
carrying value. This method may be appropriate i f it .is not expected that there will
be a material change in value between 1 July 2004 and 3 9 June 2005. For example,
an asset with a carrying value o f $10 000 i s fair valued at $200 000 as at
30 June 2005. I f depreciation o f $ 1 0 0 0 0 were applicable to the asset, the carrying
value at 1 July 2004 would be $210 000,.

All agencies will report land, buildings; infrastructure, heritage and cultural assets
at fair value in their Transitinnal Financial Statements.
In order to comply with t h r e q n l i t i n e n t , I n Treasurer's Instruction 912 Revaluation of
Non-Current Assets, agencie,s..,wliksremit land and buildings, infrastructure, heritage and
cultural assets at fair value.

(7)

Agencies are Rot
o f AASB

apply O e deemed cost option under paragraphs 16, 17 and 18(a)

In a c t o r d a n o with l'reasurer's Instruction 912 Valuation a n d Revaluation of
Non-Current Assets, the option to report Property, Plant and Equipment at fair value as
deemed cost is not permitted. This prohibition will continue under AEIFRS.
& i d e s Will continue to record financial instruments at amortised cost.
AccOnnting Standard AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition a n d Measurement
allows financial instruments to be valued at fair value. Agencies are not to apply the fair
value option and will continue to record financial instruments held to maturity at
amortised cost.
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As, Government Finance Statistics (GFS) requires the valuation o f financial instruments
at fair value, the fair value option may be mandated at a later date, as part o f the
Australian Accounting Standard Board's GAAP-GFS Harmonisation Project.
(9)

Agencies will apply the exemption from the requirement to restate comparative
information for AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure a n d Presentation and
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition a n d Measurement contained in
paragraph 36A o f AASB 1.
Paragraph 36A o f AASB 1 provides an optional exemption from the requirement to
restate comparative information in accordance with AASB 132 and AASB 139 o n first
time adoption in the first AEIFRS financial report.
This Instruction requires the agency to continue to apply its existing accounting policies
to the comparative information within the scope o f AASB 132,an4AASB 139 The effect
o f this requirement is that the transition date for the purposes o f AASB 132 and
AASB 139 will be the start o f the first AEIFRS reporting period rather than the beginning
o f the earliest period for which full comparative information is presented. For example,
the AASB 132/139 transition date will be 1 July 2005 rather than 1 July 2004.

(10)

An agency will not apply the option to disclose -expenses by function under
paragraph 88 o f AASB 101 Presentation o f Financial Statements. Expenses will
continue to be disclosed by nature in compliance with Treasurer's Instruction 709
Presentation o f Financial Statements.
Paragraph 88 o f AASB 101 a l l O t e x p e r i s e s ro be classified based on either their nature
or their function within the entity. Treasurer's Instruction 709 requires the disclosure of
expenses by nature in the :Staternegt o f Financial Performance. This requirement will
continue under AEIFRS.

A l 6
CLASSES OF P R O P E R T Y P L M f l
EQUIPMENT
(11)

Agencies m 0 t record major items o f plant and equipment in a separate asset class.
Major plant and equipment are defined as high-value items o f plant and equipment
that are tong-lived.

(12)

Prior t 6 1 Ju
1i0foric. cq,s, t.

2005, major plant and equipment must be recorded at original

A l l Plant and equipment is currently recorded at cost in accordance with the requirements
asurer's Instruction 912.
Plant and equipment may include a combination o f short-lived, low-value assets and
long-lived, high value assets. In general, long-lived assets are valued at fair value. From
1 July 2005, major plant and equipment will be required to be recorded at fair value.
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CLASSIFICATION OF LEASES
(13)

Agencies will continue to apply the quantitative tests contained in paragraph 5.3.4
o f AAS 17 Leases to determine whether a lease is classified as a finance lease or an
operating lease.
The AAS 17 quantitative tests, previously used to classify leases as either operating or
financing, are no longer included in the AEIFRS Standard (AASB 117 Leases). This is
consistent with a more principles based approach to leases in AEIFRS. However, the
quantitative tests provide additional guidance in determining the classification 9 f leases,
and are retained for use by agencies.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
(14)

All assets, other than those carried at fair value, must be. assessed to determine
whether there is any indication o f impairment Plant and equipment in the General
Government Sector are currently recorded at cost and m u s t be tested for
impairment.
Where assets are recorded at fair value in the Balariee Sheet, it is not necessary to test for
impairment, as the carrying amount (at fair value) i's equal to, the recoverable amount
(defined as the higher o f fair value and v a l u e in use). Accordingly, the classes o f assets
required by Treasurer's Instruction 912 to be recorded at fair value (land and buildings,
infrastructure, heritage and cultural assets)*11,,not need to be tested for impairment.
Assets recorded at historic cost (plant and equipment) must be tested for impairment, that
is, assessed to determine whether the carrying amount o f the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is assessed as the higher o f fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. I f value in use cannot b e determined (it is usually assessed with reference to
expected cash flows), depreciate. „replacement cost can be used as a proxy for value in
use.

(15)

Depreciated leplacemen eost will be used as the basis for determining value in use,
consistent with paragraph Aus 32.1 o f AASB 136 Impairment.
The cdficept o f "value I n use" is difficult to apply to the General Government Sector
(GGS), as cash 'flows are not generally earned from the use o f assets. The future
6:epitomic benefits o f an asset o f a not-for-profit entity in the GGS are not primarily
deliendent, o n the asset's ability to generate net cash inflows. Therefore, depreciated
replacement cost will be used as the basis for determining value in use.

(16)

For i h e purposes o f compliance with the requirements o f paragraph Aus 32.1 of
AASB 136 Impairment o f Assets, it will be assumed that the remaining economic
benefits o f an asset will be replaced unless the asset has been identified as surplus.
Paragraph Aus 32.1 o f AASB 136 allows depreciated replacement cost to be used only
where the remaining economic benefits o f an asset will be replaced. To ensure
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consistency and the application of an appropriate recoverable amount test, agencies are to
assume that an asset will be replaced unless the asset has been identified as surplus.
The current requirements in the Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) and other
Treasurer's Instructions in relation to property, plant and equipment are consistent with
the impairment requirements in AEIFRS.
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(17)

Agencies are not to early adopt the Standard AASB 119 Employee Benefils,As issued
in December 2004, for the 2004-05 financial year.
AASB 119 Employee Benefits was reissued in December 2004 and aNlies to Annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. The revised 'Standard provides
additional options for the treatment of actuarial gains or losses associated with defined
benefit plans.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

301

Title

Reporting Procedures in Cases o f Illegal Entry and/or
Damage to or loss o f Property or Money
1 July 2005

Effective date
Objective and Background
Last Reviewed Date

To provide instruction on procedures in cases o f illegal entry
and/or damage or loss o f property or money
31 July 2003

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 907— Reporting Procedures in Cases o f Illegal
Entry and/or Damage to or loss o f Property or Money.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plaint's
f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only

are instructional or

(1)

The Head o f Agency must establish procedures to ensure complete and appropriate
investigation o f all shortages and losses o f property and money.

(2)

The Head o f Agency must ensure that all losses that are caused, or suspected to have
been caused, by theft, fraud, misappropriation or other criminal act, are reported to
the police. Where appropriate, the agency shall institute prosecution action and seek
full restitution.

TI 301 Reporting Procedures in Cases o f Illegal Entry and/or Damage to or loss o f Property or Money

Effective: 1 July 2005
Page 1 of 1
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

302

Title

Recording o f Losses

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

To provide instruction on the recording o f loss, deficiency,
destruction or damage to public money or public property
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 908 — Recording o f Losses.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain fiml itcon.S are instructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

Agencies shall maintain a systematic record o f -.each case o f loss deficiency,
destruction, or damage to public or other money or property including any accident
involving motor vehicles, plant or watercraft.

(2)

For the purposes o f paragraph (1) the following incidents involving loss or damage
are to be recorded:
(a)

where the loss or damage is estimated to be over $1 000; and

(b)

other loss or damage which the Head o f Agency deems appropriate.

TI 302 Recording o f Losses

Effective: 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

303

Title

Recognition and Measurement o f Non-current Assets

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and guidance in respect
recognition and measurement o f N o n - c u r r e n t assets
30 April 2005

Last Reviewed Date

o f the

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 909 — Recognition a r . i . : i i k 4 h e l i t ,
current Assets.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are inandatoly and other plai
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only

re instructional or

This Treasurer's Instruction is to be read in conjunction with AA.I3 116 Property, Plant
a n d Equipment and the AASB's Framework forrne,,Preparation' a n d Presentation of
Financial Statements.
RECOGNITION
Recognition Threshold
(1)

An Agency m u s t set a n a p p r o p r i a t e asset recognition threshold for each class of
asset.
A "class o f assets" is the lowest sub.-Classification o f assets reported in the Agency's
financial statements:
I f the asset r e c . i t i o n thtesjiold is set too low, the cost o f accounting for a large number
o f low v a l u o l i t e * , t n a y e)&xed the benefit o f having that information. Alternatively, if
the data will not be complete and the quality o f the reported
• • the threshold is set top
information will suffer;'

(2)

The Agency must disclose the asset recognition threshold for each class o f asset in
the accounting policy notes o f its financial statements.

(3)

Changes to the asset recognition threshold are changes in accounting policy and
m u s t be disclosed, together with the cumulative financial effect o f the change by an
Agency, in the notes to the financial statements.
A change to the asset recognition threshold may require disclosure o f changes to the
comparative year financial information.
As a default, it is recommended that the asset recognition threshold is not less than
$10 000.

TI 303 Recognition and Measurement o f Non-current Assets

Effective: 1 July 2005
Page 1 of 2
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MEASUREMENT
(4)

An Agency must record Non-current assets on either an historic cost or fair value
basis.

(5)

All assets within a class of assets must be measured on the same basis.

Application of Historic Cost Basis
(6)

After recognition as an asset, an Agency must record at historic cost all Classes of
Non-current assets, other than land, buildings, infrastructure, heritage and cultural
assets, investment property and long-lived items of property, plant and: cquipment.
AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment permits agencies to record Classes o f assets at
historic cost, in lieu o f fair value. Where assets have relatively short useful lives, fair
values may not differ significantly from depreciated historic cost. Therefore, agencies
are to record, at historic cost, all classes of Non-curreneassets other than land, buildings,
infrastructure, heritage and cultural assets, investment property and long-lived items of
property, plant and equipment.

Application of Fair Value Basis
(7)

Agencies must record at fair value all land, buildings, infrastructure and heritage
and cultural assets and long-lived items of property, plant and equipment.

OTHER ASSET ISSUES
Strategic Asset Management,
Agencies should develop reEtIgfieStrategic Asset Management Plans, with strategies for
analysing the aplOpriateriess of existing assets and asset disposals.
Strategic AO:et Management Plans should be a major input to estimates of the useful lives
o f Agency assets for depreciation purposes.
Goods and Services Tax (GST)
M t a s k t s h o u l d be valued at amounts that are net of any GST payable, or input tax
credits receivable.
NO'*liable Value Available
There may be instances when it is impossible to obtain a reliable value for an asset
because o f its unique nature or because its future economic benefits cannot be measured.
In such a case, the Agency should disclose details of that asset in the notes to its financial
statements, giving reasons why a reliable value is not available. These instances should
be rare and every effort should be made to obtain a realistic valuation.

TI 303 Recognition and Measurement o f Non-current Assets

Effective: 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

304

Title

Recording o f N o n - c u r r e n t Assets

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and guidance
recording o f Non-current assets
30 April 2005

Last Reviewed Date

in

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 910— Recording o f Non-

respect

o f the

„ettf' Yst

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandato/3) and other plain font itei0 are itiWuctional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.
,

This Treasurer's Instruction is to be read in conjunction, ith AASB 116 Property, Plant
a n d Equipment.
ASSET REGISTER
(1)

Each Agency must maintain a register o f Non-current assets under its control.

(2)

For financial reporting purposes, the Asset Register must be able to produce
information relating to any o f the following ilasses applicable to the agency:
(a)

Infrastructure (includes roads, bridges, water supply systems etc);

(b)

Land (vacant);

(c)

Land and Buildings;

(d)

Plant, Equipment and. Vehicles (Operating/Support);

(e)

Long-lived Plant, I q u i p m e n t and Vehicles (Operating/Support);

(t)

Heritage assets including antiques and works o f art;

(g)

ItiyeStfilent property;

(h)

Assets held for sale; and

The Asset Register is an important part o f the Head o f Agency's control over the
agency's Non-physical assets. It records information relating to ownership, control and
responsibility for the use, condition and performance o f each Non-physical asset.
The Register is also a source o f information related to Non-physical assets required for
the production o f the agency's general purpose financial statements.
The Register would normally contain the following information in relation to each asset:
•

Asset description;

T1 304 Recording o f Non-current Assets

Effective: 1 July 2005
Page 1 of 2
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•

Asset value and valuation policy;

•

Location;

•

Date of acquisition or assumption o f control;

•

Date of asset disposal;

•

Expected useful life;

•

Assets subject to lease; and

•

Funding source (State/Australian Government/Other), where available.

The Asset Register may contain any additional information required by tfkAgetity.
ASSET IDENTIFICATION
(3)

In most instances, Non-current assets must be recorded and valued on an individual
item basis.
There will be instances where it is more appropriate to account for assets on a group
basis, or account for material segments of an asset seoaratgjy.:
Many assets, particularly system assets, consist o f a ntibber of components. In principle,
each component is capable of providingliiture economic benefits and could be accounted
for as an asset separately. However, .where-,the components operate as a cohesive whole
to provide a common service, these grouped assets are generally accounted for as one
asset. It will therefore be more':appropriate-to value these items as a group rather than as
individual assets. For example, it may be rnore appropriate to value a computer network
as a group and record this as 4-Aingle:.4s4gt, rather than valuing and recording the network
components separately.
Similarly, library'ind rittigeum collections and other items of a similar nature may be
more appropri0.* recorded, valued and reported as a group asset.

PORTABLE AND ATTRACTIVE ITEMS
(4)

Portab*.and attractive items must be registered for physical control purposes.
itahl iiterbs that have values below the asset recognition threshold are, by their nature,
suseeptible'to theft or loss. Such items, termed portable and attractive, may include
ervnal computers, power tools and like items.
It may be appropriate to specify a control threshold to exclude very low value items. If a
separate Register of Portable and Attractive Items is not maintained, such assets may
instead be listed and recorded at "nil" value in the Asset Register of the Agency.

TI 304 Recording o f Non-current Assets

Effective: 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

305

Title

I m p a i r m e n t o f N o n - c u r r e n t Assets

Effective date

1 J u l y 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and guidance
impairment o f Non-current assets
30 April 2005

Last Reviewed Date

in

respect o f the

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 913 — Impairment o f Non-current AsseW.:W
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoty and other plai
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only

ont

,>:•;

iiikii4ictional or

This Treasurer's instruction is to be read in conjunctiorr with AASB 116 Property, Plant
a n d Equipment and AASB 136 Impairment o f Assets.
AASB 136 is intended to ensure that assets are carried at amounts that are not in excess
o f their recoverable amount. Impairment is most likely to occur in assets measured at
historic cost. I f assets measured at fair value have been subject to frequent revaluations,
there will be a reduced likelihood o f maferial impairment occurring.
Impairment loss is defined in AASB 136 as the amount by which the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoveraW'imount. Recoverable amount is the higher o f fair value
and value in use.
(1)

As a general principle, depree.
the basis o f d e t e r m i n * value i

lacement cost will be used by a n Agency as

The concept o f "value in use" is difficult to apply to agencies, as cash flows are not
generally earned #971 the use o f assets. In these circumstances, the future economic
benefits o f an Agency's assets are not primarily dependent on the asset's ability to
generate net cash inflows. Therefore, depreciated replacement cost will be used as the
basis for deteidining value in use.
Where an asset, or cash-generating unit, generates cash flows, an Agency may adopt
"value in use and utilise discounted cash flows as the basis o f valuation.
(2)

Agencies are to assume t h a t the remaining economic benefits o f an asset will be
replaced unless the asset h a s been identified as surplus.
AASB 136 allows depreciated replacement cost to be used only where the remaining
economic benefits o f an asset will be replaced. To ensure consistency and the application
o f an appropriate recoverable amount test, agencies are to assume that an asset will be
replaced unless the asset has been identified as surplus.

TI 305 Impairment o f Non-current Assets

Effective: 1 July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction No

307

Title

Record o f Nature and Value o f Investments

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Specifies the requirement to maintain registers and other
documents necessary to fully record the nature and value of
investments
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 204 — Record Of Natur6 and Value of
Investments.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoty and other plain font i t e n t T instructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

The Agency shall maintain such registers and other documents and records as are
considered necessary to fully record the nature and value o f investments, whether in
the nature o f deposits, bonds, or debentures with a financial institution,
Government instrumentality or other organisation, or in the nature o f share capital
or other form o f equity in any organisation howsoever described.

(2)

For the purposes o f paragraph (1), a Register shall record in respect o f each
investment:
(a)

the amount;

(b)

the date;

(c)

the type;

(d)

the interest rate and interest due dates;

(e)

the date o f maturity; and

(f)

teferences to the security held, the approval, and any other relevant
documents.

TI 307 Record o f Nature and Value o f Investments

Effective: I July 2005
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Treasurer's Instruction No

308

Title

Government Loans and Guarantees

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction on the requirement to monitor the
financial position o f organisations which are the recipient of
Government loans or guarantees
1 July 2004

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 1013 — Government ',bans aaGuarantees.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain fon .iteny are instructional or
f o r the purpose ofproviding guidance only.

(1)

(2)

The Head o f Agency shall ensure that any agreement to provide a Government loan
or guarantee shall contain conditions requiring the recipient organisation to:
(a)

within one month o f the finalisation o f the recipient organisation's audited
financial statements, obtain a copy o f those audited annual financial
statements;

(b)

each year ascertain, from the audited financial statements, the financial
position o f the recipient organisation; and

(c)

inform the Secretary and Auditor-General should any irregularity be
discovered or i f it is evident that the financial position o f the relevant
organisation may or will:
(i)

in the case o f a Government loan, cause the organisation to be unable to
meet the costs involved in relation to its borrowings; or

(ii)

In the case o f a Government guarantee, involve a liability upon State
funds.

The Head o f Agency shall, during the term o f every Government loan or guarantee:
(a)

within one month o f the finalisation o f the recipient organisation's audited
financial statements, obtain a copy o f those audited annual financial
statements;

(b)

each year ascertain, from the audited financial statements, the financial
position o f the recipient organisation; and

(c)

inform the Secretary and the Auditor-General should any irregularity be
discovered or i f it is evident that the financial position o f the relevant
organisation may or will:
(i)

in the case o f a Government loan, cause the organisation to be unable to
meet the costs involved in relation to its borrowings; or

TI 308 Government Loans and Guarantees
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(ii)

in the case o f a Government guarantee, involve a liability upon State
funds.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

401

Title

Establishment and operation o f Bank Accounts

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instructions on the establishment, operations and
closure o f bank accounts, including instruction in relation to
overdrafts
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoty and other plain. ant items are inS
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

c ional or

(1)

The Secretary shall advise agencies from time to time o f the institution appointed as
the Government's banker.

(2)

Section 11 o f the Act precludes a Head o f Agency from opening and maintaining a
bank account without the approval o f the Treasurer.

(3)

Every bank authority for the opening o f a new bank account shall be forwarded to
the Secretary for approval and the Secretary shall retain a copy o f each such bank
authority approved.

(4)

Every authority for the opening o f a new bank account shall be in the name o f the
Agency or a recognised economic unit, such as a school or hospital, which forms
part o f the Agency. In no case shall an Agency request that an account be opened in
the name o f an officer o f an Agency or any other entity separate to the Agency.

(5)

The Head o f Agency shall advise the bank directly o f persons authorised to change
signatories on any Agency b a n k account.

(6)

Authorities for changes in signatories on established bank accounts shall be
transmitted by Agencies direct to the bank at which the account is held.

(7)

Agencies must comply with the requirements o f the Commonwealth Cash
Transactions Reports A c t 1988. Completed forms are to be submitted direct to the
relevant bank.

(8)

The Head o f Agency must maintain an up to date bank account register, or
registers, which includes the following details in respect o f each Agency bank
account:
(a)

The name o f the account;

(b)

The purpose o f the account;

(c)

Details o f any overdraft facility approved by the Treasurer;

T1 401 Establishment and operation o f Bank Accounts

Effective: 1 July 2005
Page 1 o f 3

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

(d)

The Verifying Officer under the Commonwealth Cash Transactions Reports

Act 1988;

(9)

(e)

Signatories to the account including specimen signatures and the details o f any
conditions o f appointment including any monetary limits; and

(f)

Facsimile signature stamps or encoded facsimile signatures in use.

Section 12 o f the Act precludes an Agency bank account being overdrawn without
the prior written approval o f the Treasurer.

Agency bank account management practices should minimise the risk, o f whank, 0:Count
going into unintended overdraft. These practices include:
•

strictly complying with the process by which Treasury reimburses Agency payments.
Agencies are required to process EFT payments for payment on the next business
day, and to subsequently advise Treasury by 7:00 am each day o f the total of all
payments to be made that day from their accounts,. Reimbursement o f agency bank
accounts from the Treasurer's Account is then processed that day by Treasury;
ensuring that bank accounts have sufficient fund*
ver direct debit transactions as
v., • .
they occur;
ensuring merchant fees and bank fees are not debitlfd to clearing accounts;
minimising the number of Agency hank -accounts;.,

•

ensuring timely processing o f internal reimbursements files. The reimbursement
should be processed through the Agency's ,FMIS on the same day the payment is
processed, with the assumption that the payment date is at least the next business day
in accordance with the' I'l*RS mandatory data requirements;
„
,
minimising the number o f Payments that are likely to impact the Agency's bank
account on thesarne day as the Payments are processed. Such payments include:
— cheques that are'collected rather than mailed and therefore likely to be banked
on,the day,of collection;
Cheques manually drawn outside normal operations; and
—A
` F T or-direct entry transactions that are actioned on the same day as they are
processed through the Agency FMIS or other payment system.

Where

(1,0),

an agency requires an overdraft facility for a bank account, the Head of
'Agency shall write to the Secretary advising the reasons w h y the facility is required
together with the proposed overdraft facility limit and seeking the Treasurer's
approval.

(11)

The Head o f Agency shall ensure that all Agency bank accounts are reconciled with
appropriate Agency records on a timely basis, and at least monthly.

(12)

As part o f the reconciliation process, the officer undertaking the reconciliation shall:

TI 401 Establishment and operation o f Bank Accounts
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(a)

ensure that the actual bank balance is reconciled to the Financial Management
Information System (FMIS) cash balance;

(a)

review the unpresented cheque listing for long outstanding cheques and stale
cheques;

(b)

identify and clear adjustments or reconciling items included in the previous
period's reconciliation;

(c)

include debits, credits or other adjustments made by the bank that are not
recorded in the FMIS as a reconciliation item;

(d)

confirm there is a satisfactory reason for deposits not credited t o t h e .-hank
statement;

(e)

ensure that payments associated with previously dishonoured cheques have
been received; and

(f)

maintain an independently verified record /of each reconciliation.
The
reconciliation is to be independently checked by an officer senior to the officer
undertaking the reconciliation. The checking officer must sign the record of
the bank reconciliation.

(13)

The Head o f Agency must ensure that the officer undertaking the reconciliation, and
the checking officer, both fully understand the bank reconciliation process.

(14)

In relation to the management o f a batty actount, the Head o f Agency should ensure
there are procedures in place:/
•

to determine those Agency :hank accounts that should be reconciled more frequently
than monthly. Accounts, require more frequent reconciliation as the volume of
transactions recorded through the account increase;

•

to ensure that all reasonable action is taken to establish the current address o f the
payee o f all long outstanding cheques; and

•

to apply A stop payment to all cheques that remain outstanding 15 months after the
date upon which the cheque is drawn and credit the rebanked amount to the
appropriate Public 'Account Item.

cLosuRA O F A B A N K ACCOUNT
(15)

A n Agency bank account shall not be closed until all transactions on that account
l i a v e .been completed and all cheques drawn against the account have been cleared
and debited to that account. Any balance standing to the credit o f the account at the
time it is closed must be transferred to another bank account which has been
approved in accordance with this Instruction.

(16)

The Treasurer may direct a Head o f Agency to close any Agency bank account and
to transfer any balance remaining to another bank account specified by the
Treasurer.
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Treasurer's Instruction
No

402

Title

Cash Management

Effective date

7 April 20 I 4

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and guidance in respect of sound
cash management

Last Reviewed Date

3 I March 20 I 4

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are
instructional or for the purpose o f providing guidance only.
BACKGROUND
Treasury has overall responsibility for managing the cash resources of the Public Account and
investing surplus funds to meet day-to-day requirements.
Agency accounts held with the Government's banker are "pooled" to produce a cumulative
balance. The cumulative balance is monitored d a y by Treasury with estimates of total agency
receipts and payments being made to determine the net daily cash position. Surplus funds are
invested by Treasury with the Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation (Tascorp) either in
short term investments or for longer periods depending on projected cash requirements. In the
event there is a daily cash deficit, additional funds are borrowed through Tascorp.
Agencies contribute to the process by adopting effective cash management processes. Effective
cash management minimises the net cost of borrowing (net interest cost or interest expenditure
less interest revenue) and ensures sufficient liquidity in order to meet obligations as they arise.
CASH PAYMENTS
(1) The Head of Agency shall ensure that the Agency applies the following practices in
the payment of accounts.
(a)

Outstanding invoices of less than $50 000 must be paid within 30 days, or if a
shorter term has been agreed, within the shorter term. For invoices of $50 000
and above, payment must be made in accordance with agreed terms and by
the due date.

Where the outstanding payment is less than $50 000 and the term specified is greater than
30 days, the account must be paid within 30 days. Where no term has been specified, the
account must be paid within 30 days.
(b)

Where term or cash discounts are available from the supplier, and a net
advantage exists, payments must be made within the required time so that the
discount can be claimed.

TI 402 Cash Management
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(c)

Where an agency disburses grant monies to an entity or to an individual, such
disbursements are to be made in accordance with any terms which may be
specified by formal agreement or grant documentation.

(d)

Where possible, an agency must negotiate favourable terms of purchase.

Negotiation of more favourable terms may include the provision of discounts for the early
payment of invoices or predetermined discounts on the purchase price. These terms could be
arranged on the basis of dealing with preferred suppliers or reduced default risk on the provision
of goods and services to Government. Often savings in purchasing are based on agencies
developing closer relationships with their suppliers. Additional benefits can be realised in
respect to streamlining the payment process when such alliances are fostered.'
(e)

Where possible, the purchase of supplies and/or services m i s t not be
initiated until required.

Agency activities should be managed in such a manner that goods and services are not
purchased until required. This of course must be consistent With Government objectives and
without jeopardising the timely provision of agency outputs.
PENALTY INTEREST FOR LATE PAYMENT OF INVOICES
(2)

Where an outstanding invoice is not paid as required by clause (1)(a) above,
agencies are required to, in addition to the amount of the invoice, pay penalty
interest to the supplier.

Penalty interest, calculated in accordance with this Instruction, must be paid if an agency fails to
pay the outstanding invoice by the due date. No invoice is required to be issued by the supplier
to the agency in relation to the penalty interest.
Agencies may pay the penalty interest at the
time as the original invoice is paid or make
batch payments within 30 calendar days orthe end of each quarter.
Agencies should ensure that their :policy on the timing of paying penalty interest is made publicly
available to supplierS.
(3)

The penalty interest to-be paid is the greater of:

( 4 an amount calculated on a daily basis from the date for due payment of the
.iinvoice, until the date of payment of the invoice at a rate specified by the
1reasurer.
Where a contract already prescribes a rate of interest payable for overdue payments, the
amount of penalty/interest payable is to be either that specified above or that outlined in the
pre-existing contract conditions, whichever is the greater.
(4)

The penalty interest rate applying under clause (3)(b) above is the small business
"small overdraft" rate published by the Reserve Bank of Australia in its Indicator
Lending Rates series.

Ti 402 Cash Management
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The applicable small business "small overdraft" rate can be located in the Indicator Lending
Rates (F5) series in the Financial Markets Tables on the Reserve Bank of Australia website at
http://www.rba.gov.au/statistics/tablesixls/f05hist.xls.
TASMANIAN GOVERNMENT CARD
(5)

Agencies must adopt the most efficient means of making payment, including the
Tasmanian Government Card (TGC) and payments by electronic means, including
Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) and Direct Entry (DE).

The TGC achieves efficiencies through the rationalisation of ordering, authorisation,
reconciliation and payment procedures to creditors. Cash management benefits can accrue
through the interest free period included in the billing cycle.
Agencies should ensure that accounts are settled with the TGC service provider on the due date
to avoid incurring any interest or late settlement fees. Direct debit facilities can be arranged to
facilitate settlement.
Payment by electronic means ensures that payments are made on the due date and reduces
the number of cheques, thus minimising the cost of banking services.
CASH COLLECTION
(6)

The Head of Agency must ensure that the following practices are applied in the
collection, processing and banking of Government revenue:
(a)

The Head of Agency must ensure that all money collected is banked each
day, except where other intervals are approved by the Treasurer.

(b)

Every request to vary a banking interval must be forwarded to the Secretary
for approval.

(c)

In making a request to vary the banking interval, Heads of Agency must
establish that appropriate security measures are in place, and:
(i)

the money received is of such a small amount that it is not cost effective
to bank the funds on the same day as received; or

(ii)

the remoteness of the area makes it impractical to undertake daily
banking.

INVOICES
(7)

Invoices must be issued promptly for all goods and services supplied and wherever
possible, the collection terms must not exceed 30 days.

As a general rule, invoices should be issued when the goods are delivered or, if a service is
provided, at the time supplied. Invoices must include the due date. Agencies should adopt
commercial billing practices and generally, the terms should not exceed 30 days.
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One technique to improve the collection of outstanding amounts is to charge interest on
outstanding balances. However, explicit notification should be given to the debtor at the time
the invoice or debt is raised.
OUTSTANDING ACCOUNTS AND OTHER AMOUNTS DUE
(8)

Outstanding accounts must be reviewed on a regular basis and a pro-active
approach must be adopted in following-up outstanding accounts.

Each agency should have a clearly documented debt collection strategy which is readily
available and is understood by relevant staff. The strategy should ensure that outstanding
debts are identified in a timely manner and that the period taken to collect amounts due is
,
minimised.
Debt collection agencies should be used where it is cost effective and appropriate in the
circumstances/
A detailed credit review should be conducted to quantify the potential default risk prior to any
credit of goods or services being provided to an organization external-to the Government. The
following details should be obtained:
•

name;

•

physical business address (PO Box is notsufficient

•

credit references;

•

Australian Business Number;

•

report from credit agency' and

•

in the case of individuals, employment details.

Bad debts should be written oft as soon an agency realises that any outstanding amounts will
not be collected. This should only occur once all cost-effective means of recovering the debt
have been exhausted. A register should be maintained for all amounts and items written off.
(9)

Debtors are to be encouraged to pay by electronic means.

This could include receipts through direct credit (BPAY, EFT or DE payment by debtor) or direct
debit including BPAY (the agency is given authority by the debtor to debit its account directly).
Benefits would accrue as a result of removing the delay associated with receiving and banking
cheques and the costs associated with processing cheques.
INVENTORY
(10) Agencies must ensure that inventories are maintained at an optimal inventory level,
taking into consideration the level of usage, time taken to replenish stocks and the
reliability of supplier.
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In many instances, inventory management can be improved by developing a closer relationship
with suppliers. The savings from reduced inventory may include improvements to the net cash
position, and also reduced holding and administration costs to the agency.
USE OF INDICATORS IN MEASURING PERFORMANCE
Many jurisdictions have developed performance indicators to measure effective cash
management within agencies. Agencies should be mindful of the need to foster better cash
management practices and are encouraged to incorporate relevant measures into agency
performance indicators.
Typical indicators include:
•

percentage of payments by direct entry or EFT;

•

percentage of payments made on the due date;

•

cycle time to schedule a payment;

•

percentage of late payments;

•

.„ . .
invoices processed annually per accounts processing F:Tg;,'and

•

total processing cost per invoice.
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Treasurer's
No

Instruction

Title
Effective date

403

Interest on Accounts in the Special Deposits and
Trust Fund
1 January 2008

Objective and Background

Provides guidance on the payment of interest on accounts
in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund

Last Reviewed Date

1 January 2008

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoryand other plain
font items are instructional or for the purpose of providing guidance drily.
BACKGROUND
Excessive interest paid on accounts in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund
(SDTF) reduces the Government's financial management flexibility and poses
administrative costs on the State. This Instruction provides guidance on the
specific circumstances when interest will be approved for accounts in the
STDF.
Section 13 of the Public Account Act 1986 provides the Treasurer with the
Authority to establish, close and place conditions on the operation of accounts
in the SDTF.
PAYMENT OF INTEREST
(1) Interest will not be paid on an Account in the Special Deposits and Trust
Fund (SDTF) unless the Account has a legal entitlement or specific
approval from the Treasurer.
(2) Eligibility tor an Account in the SDTF t o earn interest will be determined by
the Treasurer subject to the following criteria:
(a).

legislation mandates the earning o f interest;

(b)

the Treasurer approves the earning o f interest; or

(c)

the Crown has a contractual obligation to pay interest on money it
holds, f o r example, through an inter-governmental agreement with the
Australian Government or other jurisdictions.

(3) The Head o f Agency must seek the Treasurer's approval prior to finalising
any legislation o r inter-governmental agreements that provide f o r the
establishment o f new accounts o r the payment o f interest in the SDTF.
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(4) If the Treasurer's prior approval of legislative or contractual arrangements
is not obtained, the Agency will be responsible for meeting any interest
obligations from within the Agency's existing budget allocation and
forward estimates.
INTEREST RATE
(5) Where the application of interest to accounts is approved, the rate will be
determined by the Treasurer and will not exceed the rate of return on the
investment of money in the Public Account, notwithstanding any legislative
or contractual arrangements that may apply.
(6) If the Agency determines to pay a rate of interest in excess of that approved
by the Treasurer, any additional funding requirements will be met from
within the Agency's existing budget allocation and forward estimates.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

501

Title

Loan Indebtedness

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction on records required to be maintained in
respect o f loan indebtedness
1 July 2004

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 1004 — Loan Indebtedness.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoty and other plain
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

(2)

„
items are in*uctional
or

Where an Agency or related body is empowered by law to borrow moneys, the Head
o f Agency shall establish and maintain a separate register o f loan indebtedness with
respect to borrowings, recording:
(a)

the amount o f the loan;

(b)

the date o f the loan;

(c)

references to approval for the loan and other relevant documents;

(d)

references to any guarantees provided by the Treasurer, including relevant
documents; and

(e)

the specific terms and conditions o f the loan.

The Head o f Agency shall ensure that payments o f principal and interest are made
in accordance with the terms and conditions o f the relevant loan.

TI 501 Loan Indebtedness

Effective: 1 July 2005
Page 1 of 1

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

Treasurer's Instruction No

502

Title

Leases

Effective date

1 November 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and guidance in respect of the
classification of leases

Last Reviewed Date

1 November 2005

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 1016— Leases.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain f o n t 10ms cure' nstructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only

BACKGROUND
A lease is an agreement granting one party (the lessee) the n g h t t o use, for a specified
period o f time, an asset owned by another party (the lessor), in -return for a series of
payments o f rental by the user o f the asset. Items that can be leased include
infrastructure, motor vehicles, information technology and office equipment.
For accounting purposes, leases are elassified as either finance leases or operating
leases.
CLASSIFICATION OF LEASES
(1)

, that the agency does not enter into a finance
The Head o f Agency shilI,*n§tir?e
lease as defined by Australian , cC 'Ming Standard AASB 117 Leases.
The classification o f a,lease as an operating lease or a finance lease depends upon its
economic substance.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership from the lessor to the lessee. A lease is classified as an
operating lease if substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership remain
With the lessor.
The risks o f asset ownership include those associated with unsatisfactory performance,
obsolescence, idle capacity, losses in realisable value, uninsured damage and
condemnation o f the asset; the benefits include those obtainable from the use o f the
asset and gains in realisable value.
A finance lease is a form o f borrowing. Only the Treasurer has the authority to borrow
funds on behalf o f the State. No other Minister or Head o f Agency has the legislative
authority to borrow funds, enter into finance lease agreements, or enter into any
contract that involves the Agency in the borrowing o f funds or guarantees borrowings
by other parties.
Accordingly, agencies are only permitted to enter into operating leases.
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Chart 1 Classification o f a Lease (below) provides guidance on the accounting
classification o f lease arrangements. A lease that meets the following criteria will be
classified as an operating lease:
(a)

the lease must be a cancellable lease; and

(b)

the lease term must be less than 75 per cent o f the remaining economic benefit of
the leased asset; and

(c)

the present value at the beginning o f the lease term o f the minimum lease
payments must be less than 90 per cent o f the fair value o f the leased Asset at the
inception o f the lease.

Where a lease contains a bargain purchase option, the amount payablO:OitAhei,ox.ereise
o f that option forms part o f the minimum lease payments.
Any implied terms or arrangements should be considered when determining the
economic substance o f a lease. For example, although a lease, or a sale and leaseback,
may comprise only a minor portion o f an asset's economic life, the asset may be so
essential that the lessee could not operate effectively without it. This implies either that
the lease will be renewed or that the lessee will gain ownership o f the asset, thus
leading to classification o f the lease as a finance lease
Cancellable
Whether a lease is cancellable or non tancellable establishes the lessee's right to
uninterrupted use o f the asset * r i n g the lease term. A cancellable lease is a lease
which:
•
•

•

does not require the 13e,,rrn—l-Silon o f the lessor, and is not dependent upon the
occurrence o f some remotkcontingency to be cancelled;
,
on cancellation, does fitjt conimit the lessee to enter into a further lease for the
same, or eq4ivalent,:asset with the same lessor or a third party related to the lessor;
\st.,
or
does419:t i n c l u p e n a l t y o f a magnitude that, in normal circumstances, could be
expected to discourage cancellation.

tetv.
Lase teftifineans:

:.:.•
'Abe period o f the lease; and

•

any period o f renewal o f the lease flowing from an option, express or implied,
which allows the lessee to renew the lease for a rental which, in relation to the
expected fair rental o f the asset at the date the option becomes exercisable, is low
enough to make renewal o f the lease appear, at the inception o f the lease, to be
reasonably assured.

The useful life relates to the estimated remaining economic life o f the leased asset with
no dependence on the lease term.
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Where a lease term commences within the last 25 per cent o f the total useful life o f the
property the lease term criterion m a y become distorted in the later years o f an asset's
life, and should not be applied.

Chart 1 Classification o f a lease

No
Is the lease non-cancellable?

Yes
Is ownership transferred by
the end o f the lease term?
lir

No

.

Does the lease contain a
bargain purchase option?

I s the lease term for 75%
or
more o f the useful life o f the
leased property?

Yes

Yes

lir No
Is the present value of
minimum lease payments
equal to or greater than 90%
o f the fair value o f the leased
property?
lir
No

Operating Lease

Yes

Finance Lease
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PURCHASE OR LEASE
(2)

The Head of Agency shall undertake a detailed internal appraisal of the costs and
benefits of purchasing versus leasing an asset before entering into an operating
lease.
The decision whether to lease or purchase an asset should be based upon a Business
Case. The Business Case is developed to:
•

gain approval to proceed with the asset acquisition;

•

obtain resourcing for the asset acquisition; and

•

document what the acquisition o f the asset will accomplish and how this will be
achieved.

The Business Case may relate solely to the asset acquisition or reflect a larger project of
which the asset acquisition forms part. The Business Case should compare the cost of
leasing with the cost o f purchase. This may involve undertaking a Net Present Value
analysis o f the cash flows associated with each alternative. Leasing enables an agency
to spread the cost o f an asset over its useful life rather than as an upfront initial outlay.
Leasing also ensures that the lessor, as owner, bears the cost o f changes in technology.
This may be particularly important with information technology and other types of
technical equipment.
The recommended methodology for use in preparing a Business Case is available at
www.projectmanagement.tas.gov.au.
Whether purchasing or leasing an asset, an agency must comply with the Procurement
requirements as set out in Part XI Procurement and Disposal.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

601

Title

Record o f Receipts To the Public Account

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Specifies the treatment for recording the receipt o f public
moneys
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 202
— Record o f Receipts to the Public
Account.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandato/3i and other plain font items arc instructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

The gross value o f all public moneys received by the Agency, inclusive o f any
charges or offsets that might apply to those receipts, is to be separately recorded:
(a)

against an item shown in the Consolidated Fund Receipts section o f the
Supporting Budget Information (Budget Paper No 1) for the year in which the
money is received, or an item created during the financial year for that
purpose; or

(b)

as a receipt in the appropriate account o f the Special Deposits and Trust Fund.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

602

Title

Refunds o f Revenue Over-Remitted

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Specifies procedures to be followed in respect o f refunds of
overpayment o f revenue
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction w a s previously known a s Treasurer's Instruction N o 613 — Refunds o f Revenue Over Remitted
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory a n d other p l a i g ant items are inkkOctional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

A refund voucher for the overpayment o f revenue shall not be processed by the
Agency prior to the bank recognising the initial payment o f revenue.

(2)

Every refund o f revenue overpaid shall be made on an expenditure voucher and
shall show the following details in respect o f the refund:

(3)

(a)

details o f the overpayment;

(b)

a reference to the original receipt issued for the collection o f the money; and

(c)

the reasons for the refund.

Every refund o f revenue overpaid shall be a debit to the item to which the revenue
was credited. Where the refund is for revenue received in a previous financial year,
and the item to which the revenue was credited is unknown, the refund may be
made from an appropriate expenditure item.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

603

Title

Receipt of Moneys by Credit/Debit Card

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Establishes instructions and guidelines in respect of agency
participation in a credit/debit card scheme
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 615 — Receipt o f 4Ôni'
Card.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plaid',
f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only.

Y

re instructional or

(1)

The Head of Agency may enter into an agreement with the Government's banker
for the collection of revenue through a credit/debit card scheme.

(2)

The gross revenue amount collected through a credit/debit card scheme is to be
credited to the Public Account. Any commissions
service fees payable in relation
to credit/debit card schemes are to be paid separately.

(3)

The Head of Agency shall ensure that all Agency staff utilising the credit/debit card
scheme remain fully trained in all aspects of the scheme.
Agency staff utilising the credit/debit card scheme should be familiar with the Guidelines
f o r the use o f credit/debit card scheMes produced by the Government's banker. The
responsibility for accepting credit/debit card transactions, the different procedures and
various risks associated with each type of payment are discussed fully in these guidelines.

(4)

All credit/debit card transactions shall have a receipt allocated in accordance with
Treasurer's Instruction 605 Authorisation o f Officers to Receive Moneys.

(5)

The Head of Agency shall ensure there are in place appropriate internal controls to
ensure the proper functioning of the credit/debit card scheme. These include:
(a)

appropriate separation of the duties of staff utilising EFTPoS terminals;

If thexe is no separation o f duties between EFTPoS terminal operators and refund/void
authorisers, the supervisor should ensure that all merchant settlement reports are
reconciled, and refunds are investigated, at least weekly.
A separate register should be maintained of all refund or void transactions including the
details o f the original transaction. The register should be sighted and signed off by a
supervisor, authorising a refund or void.
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(b)

timely reconciliation o f credit/debit transactions, agency, merchant and bank
account records;

Agency receipting records and the amount processed through the credit/debit card
scheme should be reconciled daily, and any discrepancies investigated, recorded and
followed up immediately. Amounts processed through the credit/debit card scheme
should be reconciled at least weekly with banking records.
(c)

timely recovery and
transaction;

clearance action

(d)

the monthly statement provided by the credit/debit cant' organisation is
reconciled with the records maintained by the Agency, a n d with bank account
records;

(e)

a user register detailing the name o f each user and the name o f his or her
supervisor, the unique user id and authorised functions; and

(0

security being maintained over each EFTPoS terminal at.all times.

on

dishonour o f a ciedit/debit

The Head of Agency should develop security and access guidelines for EFTPoS terminals
and ensure that Agency staff adhere to them.
(6)

All merchant copies o f credit/debit card transactiong Shall be retained in accordance
with the Archives Act 1983.
\

Agencies need to be aware that transactions printed on thermal paper do not store well for
long periods of time, therefore alternative storage facilities such as microfiche or
microfilm may be required:
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Treasurer's Instruction No

604

Title

Private Moneys Not to be Held With Public or Other
Moneys
1 July 2005

Effective date
Objective and Background
Last Reviewed Date

Requirements to keep private moneys separate from public
moneys
31 July 2003

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 616 — Private Moneys !Vat to be Yield With
Public or Other Moneys
e instructional or

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plai
f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only.

(1)

No employee shall:
(a)

deposit public moneys to the credit o f a private bank account;

(b)

hold private moneys with public moneys under his or her control;

(c)

deposit private moneys to the credit o f a bank account o f an Agency; or

(d)

keep or permit any private moneys to be kept in a safe or strongroom o f an
Agency.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

605

Title

Authorisation of Officers to Receive Moneys

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Specifies procedures to be followed for officers receiving
moneys on behalf of an Agency
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 604 - Authorisation o f Offeekele'Reee- e
Moneys.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plaiñ
f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only.

(1)

are instructional or

The Head of Agency shall authorise one or more officers to receive moneys and issue
receipts on behalf of the Agency.
Where practicable, an officer authorised to.„receive moneys shall not be assigned the
• :`,Y,;;;;>
duties of:
•
•
•

banking of moneys;
posting of entries to d e b t o r s * 6 u n W O associated control accounts; and
assessment of fees and char4es due and payable to the State or that agency.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

701

Title

Certifying Officers

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

T o provide instructions
certifying officers
1 January 2004

Last Reviewed Date

and

guidance

in

relation

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 504 Certiffing Officers.
—
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font i
f
guidance only.
or f o r the purpose o providing

441m9:1.Wal

BACKGROUND
Section 22 o f the Act provides that a Head o f Agency is responsible for the financial
management o f an agency in an efficient, effective and economical manner. These
responsibilities include the appointment o f one or more officers in the Agency as
certifying officers charged with the duty o f certifying all expenditure o f that Agency.
Section 15 o f the A c t provides that an officer shall not incur expenditure in the course
o f official duties unless that expenditure is certified as correct by a certifying officer
in accordance with the Treasurer's Instructions.
A P P O I N T M E N T O F A CERTIFYING OFFICER
(1)

A Head o f Agency m a y appoint as a certifying officer:
(a)

an individual officer; or

(b)

the holder o f a nominated Position.

(2)

Each appointment o f a certifying officer must be in writing and recorded in the
Agency's Accounting Manual.

(3)

T h e instrument o f appointment must specify any limit on the type, o r amount, of
p a y m e n t which m a y be certified together with details o f subsequent revocation
or variation o f the appointment.

()

An officer w h o is a certifying officer by virtue o f holding a nominated position,
will cease to be a certifying officer upon vacating the nominated position.

(5)

T h e Statement o f Duties o f a nominated position must note that the incumbent is
a certifying officer by reason o f appointment to that position.
The Head o f Agency should regularly review the persons and positions nominated as
certifying officers to ensure that those appointments remain current.
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DUTIES O F A C E R T I F Y I N G OFFICER
(6)

(7)

Before certifying a payment, a certifying officer must be satisfied that:
(a)

the payment has been properly authorized in accordance with the
delegation arrangements in place within the Agency;

(b)

funds are available to make the payment that meet the requirements o f the
Public A c c o u n t A c t 1986;

(c)

the goods o r services to which the service relates have been received or
provided;

(d)

the payment has been accurately calculated and correctly coded :to the
Agency's chart o f accounts; and

(e)

the goods o r services have not been paid previously.

A certifying officer must be familiar with:
(a)

an Agency's financial delegations;

(b)

an Agency's processes and procedures f o r t h e authorization, ordering,
receiving and payment o f goods and services;

(c)

the legislative requirements o f the A c t and t h e Public A c c o u n t A c t 1986
particularly as they relate to the authorization o f expenditure;

(d)

the Treasurer's Instructions relating to -payments, prepayments, cash
management, refunds and proCurement.

It is the responsibility o f theiffead of Aiency to ensure that appropriate internal
controls relating to payments are in place within an Agency. In deciding whether or
not to certify a payment; \ a certifying officer will exercise judgement and place
reasonable reliance upon the Agency's systems and processes relating to the
authorisation, ordering, receiving and payment for goods and services to certify
payment. For a certifying officer to place reasonable reliance on Agency systems and
processes, the Systems and processes should be regularly tested, through internal audit
or other reitiew, as part o f an Agency's internal audit and risk management
proceduresz
(8)

A certifying officer must not certify a payment which he o r she has authorised.

The -certifying officer function forms part o f the internal control arrangements o f the
Agency. These arrangements include other internal control processes such as the
separation o f the certification function from the authorisation o f payments by an
authorising officer.

TI 701 Certifying Officers

Effective: 1 July 2005
Page 2 o f 2

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

Treasurer's Instruction No

702

Title

Cheque Payments,
Electronic Payments
1 July 2005

Effective date
Objective and Background

Last Reviewed Date

Handling

and

Preparation

and

To Provides instruction in relation to the preparation,
handling o f cheque and electronic payments, including
procedures for returned and uncollected cheques '
1 January 2004

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 511 — Cheque Payments, Handling and
Preparation and Electronic Payments.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoty and other plainjont items are instructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

CHEQUE PAYMENTS AND ELECTRONIC PAYMENTS
(1)

(2)

(3)

Payments must be made by electronic means or by cheque unless the Treasurer
authorises otherwise, with the exception of:
(a)

a payment in the nature o f an allowance or an advance which is payable in
accordance with an industrial award and which is for a small monetary
amount considered by the Head o f Agency to be most appropriately paid in the
form o f cash; and

(b)

the purchase o f minor items from petty cash available for that purpose,
subject to any conditions or procedures contained in an Agency's Accounting
Manual with respect to petty cash.

Cheques must be drawn "to order" and must be crossed and marked "not
negotiable" except in the following circumstances:
(a)

where the cheque is for the recoup o f petty cash advances and special
arrangements have been made with a bank for the responsible officer to cash
appropriately endorsed cheques; and

(b)

where the payment is in the nature o f a travel advance and the Head of
Agency, having regard to the nature o f the travel and security o f the cheque,
considers that the requirements may be waived.

In effecting electronic payment o f expenditure, agencies are required to implement
appropriate internal control procedures.
Agencies are encouraged to minimise the use o f cheques by making as many payments as
possible by electronic means through the Government's banker.
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PREPARATION A N D HANDLING OF CHEQUES
(4)

Amounts payable on cheques must be expressed in words and figures, unless the
Treasurer authorises otherwise.

(5)

Unless otherwise approved by the Treasurer, all cheques must be signed in
handwriting by two officers, authorised for that purpose, by the Head o f Agency.

(6)

A cheque signing officer must not sign a blank, incorrect or incompletely prepared
cheque.

(7)

A t least one o f the persons who signs a cheque shall not have certified, authorised, or
otherwise been involved in the preparation process for the Specific payment to
which that cheque relates.

(8)

Every alteration to a cheque must be initialled by the signing officer o r officers.

(9)

Every cheque requiring substantial alteration must be cancelled and a replacement
cheque drawn.

(10)

Every cancelled cheque must be conspicuously m
and retained for audit examination.

(11)

The cheque signing officer must ensure

(12)

(a)

every payment has been certified;

(b)

each cheque is drawn itt:
and

(c)

the amount o f each cheq

o r stamped "CANCELLED"

your o f the payee shown on the payment document;
with the amount due to the payee.

The Head o f Agaitcy lutist be satisfied, that in cases o f large computerised cheque
production systems and where cheques are signed automatically, appropriate
internal controls.are in place to meet the above requirements.

RETURNED A N D UNCOLLECTED CHEQUES
(13)

An Agency must adopt procedures to record the particulars and clearance action
taken for every cheque returned without explanation or which is uncollected.

(1

here action to locate the payee o f a returned or uncollected cheque is unsuccessful,
the ::cheque must be rebanked and the amount credited to the appropriate Public
Account item.

REPLACEMENT CHEQUES
(15)

A replacement cheque will be paid to a claimant where:
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(a)

(b)

(16)

a claim received in respect o f a cheque rebanked in accordance with
paragraph (14) is proved to the satisfaction o f the authorised officer to be
valid, provided that:
(i)

the details o f the original cheque and the replacement cheque are
appropriately recorded in a register established for the purpose; and

(ii)

the amount so claimed is charged to the item to which the original
payment was credited upon its return;

a claim is received in respect o f a cheque which has apparently been. lost or
destroyed, provided that:
(i)

a notice stopping payment o f the original cheque is issued t o and
acknowledged by, the bank at which the account is kept; and

(ii)

the original cheque has not been paid by the b a n k to the credit o f the
original payee, up to and including the date o f the bank's
acknowledgment o f the stop payment order.

Where a cheque, which has been reported as Jost, mislaid or destroyed, has been
negotiated by a person or organisation other than the payee, action must be taken to
recover the amount involved.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

703

Title

Travel Advances

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

To provide instruction on procedures to follow in making
advances for travel and related payments
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 517 — Travel Advances.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font iteifo are
z•>:
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

ructional or

Agencies are authorised to make general advances for travel and related payments.
These advances are to be made from a suspense code linked to the relevant item of
the Public Account provided that:
(a)

the suspense code shall only be used for the purpose o f recording advances
paid; and

(b)

the suspense code shall be credited with the full amount o f each advance when
a claim is payable for the expenses actually incurred (shown as negative
expenditure on an expenditure claim form).
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Treasurer's Instruction No

704

Title

Person Unable to Sign Name

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Establishes procedures to follow in circumstances where a
person is unable to sign their name
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 519 - Person Unable to:Sign Af.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font iteMs arel
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

„uctional or

All signatures which are marks made by those unable to sign their name shall be
witnessed by two persons and dated.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

705

Title

Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t Card

Effective date

31 July 2017

Objective and Background

Prescribe t h e t e r m s and conditions f o r t h e use o f the
Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t Card

Last Reviewed Date

3 I July 2017

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 520 — Tasmanian Governmerittard.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are instructional or for the
purpose of providing guidance only.
B A C K G R O U N D A N D DEFINITIONS
The Tasmanian Government Card (TGC) achieves efficiencies through the rationalisation of
ordering, authorisation, reconciliation and payment procedures, particularly for low value
purchases. Agencies are not compelled t o use the TGC. However, they should choose the
most cost effective mode of payment.
The major benefits arising from the use of the TGC include:
•

generating productivity gains t o agencies and the Government as a whole;

•

allowing the Government's suppliers t o receive speedier payment;

•

reducing the paperwork associated with the purchasing and payment process for both
the Government and its suppliers; and

•

reducing the number of payments processed by agencies.

For the purposes of this Instruction:
Cardholder means an employee who has been issued with a TGC; and
Service provider means the Westpac Banking Corporation (Westpac).
USE O F T H E TGC
(I)

T h e T G C shall be used by cardholders only for procurement, including travel.
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(2)

Use of the T G C is mandatory for all applicable payments under $1 000.
Agencies must identify and document appropriate applicable payments for
payment by the T G C within their agency.
When determining what constitutes an applicable payment, an agency should take into
consideration internal management and operational needs as well as any impacts on overall
procurement strategy, the cost of any applicable merchant fees and impact on payment terms.
Within this context, applicable payments may include such matters as:
•

office travel, accommodation and food services (those not considered entertainment);
education and training;
ad hoc repair and maintenance services;
retail and wholesale purchases (eg grocery, hardware stores, office §iipplies and
consumables); and

•

couriers, printing services and information media.

(3)

Subject to paragraph (4), a Head of Agency shall determine an upper limit for
each cardholder, above which no single transaction is to exceed.

(4)

The Head of Agency may, on a case by case basis, approve an increase of the upper
limit of a single transaction to $10 000 for domestic travel by the Head of Agency
or officers at the Senior Executive Service level or equivalent, or $20 000 for
overseas travel by the Head o f Agency o r officers at the Senior Executive Service
level or equivalent.

(5)

The T G C shall not be used\in t h e following circumstances:
(a) to make cash withdraw
(b) for entertainment purposes, except where authorised in paragraph (7);
(c)

to purChaSe fuel;

(d) for the payment of invoices, correctly rendered by suppliers, after the due
date for payment;
for the payment of fines; and
0)

for personal transactions, even if it is the cardholder's intention to
immediately reimburse the private expenses.

In instances where a cardholder is undertaking duties in a remote area and the contracted
government supplier for fuel does not have an outlet within a reasonable distance, a fuel card
for an alternative supplier may be requested from the Government's fleet manager.
Where an employee hires a vehicle, for official purposes, in Tasmania or interstate, a general
use fuel card may be obtained and used for the purchase of fuel. The TGC shall not be used to
purchase fuel.
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(6)

The T G C shall not be used for interagency payments other than where, after
taking into account the merchant fee, the overall administrative cost to both
parties in making small value interdepartmental payments by T G C is less than the
costs of direct credit processing, invoicing and receipting.

Entertainment
(7)

The T G C shall be used for entertainment purposes only for official business, by
the Head of Agency and officers at the Senior Executive Service level or
equivalent, with the prior approval of the Secretary of the Department of
Treasury and Finance.
The Head of Agency should write t o the Secretary of the Department of Treasury and Finance
and formally request approval for a cardholder to use a card for entertainenent purposes. As
authorisation may be granted to an individual officer in accordance with the office they hold,
the request should specify the name and Senior Executive Service level or equivalent of each
officer for which approval is being sought.
The Head of Agency should note the following in regard t o any authorisations granted:
•

officers authorised to incur entertainment expenses cannot delegate authorisation to
another cardholder;

•

die previous authorisation to incur
if an authorised officer moves to a different agen
transferable;
and
entertainment expenditure is not

•

authorisation to use a TGC for entertainment parpOses cannot be gained by including an
authorisation statement in a contraqof employment.

The Head of Agency should' ensure that each officer authorised to use a TGC for
entertainment purposes understands what constitutes entertainment In accordance with the
Fringe Benefits Assessment Act I 98 Attachment 2 provides guidance regarding the definition
of entertainment together with'eXaMples. This document should be provided to officers upon
gaining authorisation to vse-a TGC for entertainment purposes.
(8)

Each purcbase-Air entertainment purposes using the T G C must be authorised at
DeputrSecretary or the Head of Agency level.
Attachment I provides an Entertainment Declaration template for use by authorised officers to
Obtain endorsenierit for entertainment purchases.
Procedures in Agencies
,•
T t i e I l e a d of Agency must
ensure the effective, efficient and appropriate use of
the card facility within an agency. The Head of Agency will determine how many
TGCs are issued, to whom and for what purposes, including setting monthly credit
and transaction limits.

Policies
(9)

(10)

The Head of Agency shall ensure that effective internal controls are maintained
over the use of the T G C and shall issue instructions covering specific Agency
policies and procedures that apply to the TGC. Unauthorised use of the TGC
represents an unauthorised use of public monies.
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The Head of Agency should nominate an administering or controlling officer for the TGC who
is responsible for:
•

ordering, collecting and cancelling cards;

•

updating policies and procedures;

•

ongoing education and training of cardholders; and

•

reviewing the operation of the card facility within the Agency, including reporting on its
activities and ensuring that the TGC is cost effective.

Agency internal controls should ensure that:
(Refer to

•

cardholders acknowledge their responsibilities in the use of the TGC.
Attachment 3 for a suggested acknowledgement form);

•

new cards are signed immediately by the cardholder;

•

lost or stolen cards are reported immediately;

•

cardholder acknowledgements are reconstituted upon the creation of new agencies;
all TGC transactions are accounted for, monthly statements are reconciled and
transactions are recorded in the general ledger op, a deftly basis;

(II)

•

transactions are in accordance with the GovernmetVi procurement policies;

•

disputed transactions are reported immediately, and that subsequent action by the service
provider is followed up; and

•

all TGCs are retrieved froiV0Paratiii :employees before they leave the Agency.

The cardholder shall obtaifiappropriate supporting documentation in relation to
each transaction.
For GST purposes, the Cardholder shall obtain a valid tax invoice as supporting documentation
for each transaction. For -transactions less than $75.00 in value (not including GST), cash
register dockets or receipts Constitute appropriate supporting documentation if a tax invoice
is not readily available.
In the absence of a tax invoice or original receipt the cardholder shall provide sufficient
information regarding the transaction to satisfy an authorising officer who is appropriately
'delegated by the Head of Agency. The supporting information should include details of the
transaction purpose, date, time, amount and vendor name.
Every attempt should be made to obtain formal original documents in support of transactions.
The use of photocopies of documents should be avoided wherever possible. If, in a particular
circumstance, photocopies are used as supporting documentation, they require a high level of
authorisation and particular care needs to be made to ensure that payment is not made more
than once for any particular transaction.
Where purchases are made in connection with official travel, the cardholder should be aware
that transaction procedures and the availability of supporting documentation may vary in other
countries.
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(12)

T G C statements m u s t be authorised for r e i m b u r s e m e n t t o t h e Service Provider
by an officer with appropriate authority. This authority m a y be delegated by the
H e a d o f Agency.
N o cardholder may authorise reimbursement f o r a statement t o which that cardholder is a
party.

Service Provider Contacts
Information regarding the conditions offered by the Service Provider relating t o the TGC is
available in:
•

Westpac Purchasing Card — Administrator Manual

•

Westpac Purchasing Card — Customising the Administrator Manual

•

Westpac Purchasing Card — Cardholder Manual

•

Westpac Purchasing Card — Customising the Cardholder Manual

These manuals can be accessed via http://www.purchasing.tas.gov.au/contracts.
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T I 705 —ATTACHMENT I — ENTERTAINMENT DECLARATION

ENTERTAINMENT DECLARATION
Description of expense:
(Location, date and what the expense involved eg alcohol, meals)

Purpose
(Eg business lunch, social function etc)

Attendees (number of attendees)

Non Staff:

Staff:

(Agency) Staff
(Names of staff attendees)

Claimant
Print Name:

)ignature:

Deputy Secretary / Secretary Level Erkloriement

Print Name:

The provision of entertainmeht means the provision of
•

businisi lunches arid drinks,- cocktail parties and staff social functions;

•

entertain-client W U * or clients by way of access to sporting or theatrical events; and

•

okommciriation and travel to do with providing entertainment by way of food, drink or recreation.

The provision. Of alcohol generally suggests the provision of entertainment However, meals (including alcohol) and accommodation,
where an employee is engaged on business travel, is not classified as entertainment
The provision of food and drink for the purposes of light refreshment is not classified as entertainment, for example:
•

provision of morning and afternoon teas and light meals such as sandwiches, tea, coffee or juice to staff on a business day at the
business premises;

•

provision of a light lunch at a planning day or training session;

•

provision of food and drink that is incidental to attendance at a seminar, ie conference, convention, lecture etc of at least four
hours duration.
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DEFINITION OF ENTERTAINMENT
The Fringe Benefits Assessment Act 1986 defines the term "entertainment" according to its meaning in
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, Section 32.10.
The provision o f entertainment means the provision of
•

entertainment by way of food, drink or recreation, or

•

accommodation or travel to do with providing entertainment by way of food, drink or recreation.

PROVISION OF FOOD OR DRINK ENTERTAINMENT
The mere provision of food and drink does not necessarily constitute entertainment. Objective
analysis of all the circumstances surrounding the provision of food and drink is neCessary_in order to
determine whether it constitutes entertainment The Australian Tax Office (ATP) set. out its views
regarding meal entertainment in Tax Ruling 97/17 and provides four critical questions. No, individual
question will determine if the food and drink provided is meal entertainment however (a) and (b) are
considered to incorporate the more important factors:
(a) Why is the food or drink being provided?
This is a "purpose test" to determine whether food or di4iiieire provided for refreshment or
entertainment purposes. For example, food or drink provided:for. the purposes of refreshment does
not generally have the character of entertainment whereas food or drink provided in a social situation
where the purpose of the function is for employees :to enjoy themselves has the character of
entertainment.
(b) What food or drink is being providigl?
Morning and afternoon teas and light Meals are, generally considered to be the provision of
refreshments, not entertainment However, as light meals become more elaborate, they can take on
the characteristics of entertainment is it becomes more likely that entertainment arises from
consuming the meal. It is, the nature of the food itself that will determine whether entertainment has
been conferred on thp„-teCipient
Morning and afternoon teas include light refreshments such as tea, coffee, fruit drinks, cakes and biscuits,
but does not ihdude 4Icohol.
Light meals, include sandwiches and other hand food, salads and orange juice that are intended to be,
and can be, consumed on your premises or worksite in the normal course of business.
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(c) When is the food or drink being provided?
If food and drink is provided during work time, during overtime or while an employee is travelling, it
is less likely to have the character of entertainment. This is generally because food or drink is being
provided as sustenance for a work-related purpose rather than an entertainment purpose. This,
however, depends on whether the expected outcome of the provision of food or drink is
entertainment or work-related. For example, a staff social function held during work time still has the
character of entertainment.
(d) Where is the food or drink being provided?
Food or drink provided to and consumed by employees at their business premises or worit'Site is less
likely to have the character of entertainment. However, food or drink provided in a function room,
hotel, restaurant cafe, coffee shop or consumed with other forms of entertainment is more likely to
have the character or entertainment, as the provision of food or drink is less likely ' i O a v e a workrelated purpose.
Provision of Alcohol
The consumption of alcohol is normally associated with social activities, therefore generally suggests
the provision of entertainment. However, if it is incidental to•a, larger event o r work-related activity
of an employee, such as during business travel or at the conclusion of a seminar, it will not be
considered entertainment.
PROVISION OF RECREATION ENTERTAINMENT
Whilst it is not as common for Government entities t o provide recreation entertainment compared
to the provision of food and drink entertainment; it is important to be able to recognise what
constitutes recreation entertainment eXpenditure.
Recreation includes participation in spiAs. o r pastimes, leisure pursuits such as watching a play in a
theatre or movie in a cinema harbour cruises.and hiring of entertainers such as singers and comedians.
ACCOMMODATION AND TRAVEL IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROVISION OF FOOD,
DRINK OR RECREATIONAL ENTERTAINMENT
Travel and accommodation Will only be deemed entertainment if there is some element of
entertainment associated with the travel or accommodation. For example, travel and accommodation
at a resort where the employer pays for the weekend away would be entertainment. Likewise, the
cost of taxi travel by an employee from their place of work to a social function at a restaurant or
function centre forms part of the cost of entertainment However, travel and accommodation in
connection with an interstate work trip would not be entertainment.
'
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EXAMPLES
Activities t h a t a r e not considered provision o f food and drink entertainment:
•

Provision o f a meal, including alcohol, t o an employee engaged in business travel;

•

Provision of finger food and drinks, including alcohol, at the end of a continuing professional
development session he o r she attended;

•

Morning tea o r light lunch provided on business premises acknowledging a business milestone, at
a planning day o r at a Minister's o r Secretary's/CEO's address;

•

Morning tea o r light lunch provided on business premises, held f o r a visiting delegation, attended
by a number of employees and where business discussions are held;

•

Light lunch, without alcohol, provided on business premises, at a planning day, seminar o r training
session;

•

Light breakfast served prior t o a seminar, planning day o r training session;

•

Light lunch, without alcohol, provided on a business premises during a meeting with a third party;
and

•

Light take-away food, without alcohol, ordered in f o r lunch o r dinner while working on a project
with a specific deadline.

Activities t h a t a r e considered provision o f food and drink entertainment:
•

Payment of a meal at a restaurant attended by non-travelling employees and third parties;

•

Entertaining visiting foreign dignitari

•

Entity milestone anniversary celebrations; and

•

Social functions t o announce a major new initiative, whether held on o r off business premises.

Activities t h a t a r e considered provision o f recreation entertainment:
•

Attendance by employees at golf days;

•

Recreation components of seminars such as a winery tour;

•

Leasing o f a corporate box o r other leisure facilities; and

•

Escorting visiting dignitaries t o local tourist attractions.

Further guidance can be found in on the
http://www.ato.gov.au/General/Fringe-benefits-tax/.
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(Agency Name)

TASMANIAN GOVERNMENT CARD (TGC)
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY CARDHOLDER

Cardholder:

Position:

Cost Centre:

I understand that a TGC is issued to me on the express conditions that I will, at all times, comply with
the following conditions:
( I)

The TGC is the property of (specify agency) and is in my possession aixtunder my strict control
and I will not permit the TGC to be used by another perscip,:

(2)

I will not use the TGC nor permit it to be used for other M O official Departmental use.
„.

(3)

I will obtain supporting documentati6n in relation t o each transaction entered into in respect of
the TGC which has been issued In a y name.
-

(4)

I may only use the TGC,,to a 1 0 4 o

(5)

I may only use the T G t ' i n accordance with the Government's procurement policies and the
agency's TGC procedures for the purchase of
(insert
goods,
services, accommodation or other classifications of purchases).

in any one transaction up to a monthly limit of

14ot use the TGC for entertainment purposes unless I:

(7)

(a)

have received authorisation from the Secretary of the Department of Treasury and
Finance to do so on official business; and

(b)

submit an "Entertainment Declaration" form for endorsement by my Deputy Secretary or
Head of Agency.

I will not use the TGC for fuel purchases (for which there is a separate contract card available).
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(8)

I will not use the TGC to make cash withdrawals.

(9)

I will not authorise any TGC transaction to which I have been a party.

(10) If I use the TGC for unauthorised purposes I understand that the agency may take disciplinary
action and proceedings may be instituted against me under law.

(11) If the TGC is lost or stolen I am to report it IMMEDIATELY to Westpac Banking torporation
and the officer in my agency authorising the issue of the TGC.

(12) If I resign, retire or transfer to another agency I will immediately hand my TGC ft) the officer
responsible for the administration of the TGC in my agency for cancellation.

(13) The use of the TGC has no bearing on my personal credit standing.,

I acknowledge that I have read and understood the conditions sefout above which govern the issue
and use of the TGC in my name.

Signature of CardholdeR

Signature of Authorised Officer

Name:

Name:
Date:
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

705

Title

Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t Card

Effective date

I March 2019

Objective and Background

Prescribe t h e t e r m s and conditions f o r t h e use o f the
Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t Card

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are instructional or for the
purpose of providing guidance only.

USE O F T H E T A S M A N I A N G O V E R N M E N T CARD
(I)

T h e Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t C a r d m u s t be used by cardholders w h e r e it is the
m o s t cost effective and efficient m o d e o f p a y m e n t f o r procurement, including
travel.

(2)

Use o f t h e Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t C a r d is m a n d a t o r y for all applicable payments
under $1 000.
T h e H e a d o f Agency m u s t identify and d o c u m e n t appropriate applicable
payments f o r p a y m e n t by t h e Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t C a r d within t h e Agency.
When determining what constitutes an applicable payment, the Head of Agency should take
into consideration internal management and operational needs, as well as any impacts on the
overall procurement strategy, the cost of any applicable merchant fees and impact on payment
terms.
Within this context, applicable payments may include such matters as:
•

office travel, accommodation
entertainment);

and

certain food

services

(those

not considered

education and-training;
ad hoc repair and maintenance services;
retail and wholesale
consurr*bles); and
•
(3)

purchases

(eg

groceries,

hardware,

office

supplies

and

couriers, printing services and information media.

T h e Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t C a r d must n o t be used for interagency payments
o t h e r than where, after taking into account t h e m e r c h a n t fee, t h e overall
administrative cost t o both parties in making small value interdepartmental
payments by t h e Tasmanian G o v e r n m e n t C a r d is less than t h e costs o f direct
credit processing, invoicing and receipting.
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(4)

The Tasmanian Government Card must not be used for the following payments
or in the following circumstances:
(a)

for personal transactions, even if it is the Cardholder's intention to
immediately reimburse the private expenses;

(b) to make cash withdrawals;
(c)

for entertainment
paragraph 7);

expenses,

except

where

authorised

(refer

to

(d) to pay for alcohol, including with a meal or for an official function;
(e)
(f)
(g)

to purchase personal refreshments (tea, coffee, water etc) while travelling
that are not associated with a meal (breakfast, lunch or dinner);
to purchase personal refreshments (tea, coffee, water etc) whilwhile not
travelling;
to purchase gifts of a personal nature;

(h) to purchase fuel;
(i)

for the payment of fines;

(j)

for the payment of medical expenses associated with work related injuries
and illness which are required to be paid throughibuworkers compensation
process;
for the payment of tips and gratuities. (except while travelling in countries
where it is considered to be an unavoidable expense due to the cultural
expectations of such payments),,.

(k)

(I)

for gift vouchers for any purpose,;:

(m) where an alternative-purchasing method provides greater efficiency;
(n) for the payment of inynikr;:1;orrectly rendered by suppliers, after the due
date for payment, and
."
(o) where payment has already been made or initiated for the transaction.
In instances Where there is an operational need for the holder of a
Tasmanian 'Government Card to make payments of the type listed in paragraph (4), the
Head of Agency may request prior written approval from the Secretary of the
Department of Treasury and Finance in accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 105, to vary
,the application of this Treasurer's Instruction
to individual Cardholders. The request should
specify the :name and position of each Cardholder for which the exemption is being sought,
Approval, if granted, will be limited to the Cardholder(s) named in the exemption and cannot
be delegated to another Cardholder(s).
In instances where the holder of a Tasmanian Government Card is undertaking duties in a
remote area and the contracted government supplier for fuel does not have an outlet within
a reasonable distance, a fuel card for an alternative supplier may be requested through the
Government fleet manager and used for the purchase of fuel.
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Where an Officer hires a vehicle, for official purposes, in Tasmania or interstate, a general use
fuel card may be obtained through the Government fleet manager and used for the purchase
of fuel.
(5)

A Cardholder must, within five working days after becoming aware that he or she
has incorrectly used a Tasmanian Government Card for a personal purpose:
(a)

give written notice to the Head of Agency in accordance with the Agency's
Tasmanian Government Card Policy; and

(b)

pay to the Agency the amount of the incorrect expenditure.

The Head of Agency should ensure that a record is kept of instances where the
Tasmanian Government Card has been used for purposes that are not allowed under
paragraph (4). Where a pattern of improper use is identified for a Cardholder, this behaviour
could be deemed as deliberate misuse of the Tasmanian Government Card and the
Head of Agency may consider cancellation of the Cardholder's Tasmanian GovernMent Card.
(6)

The Tasmanian Government Card must not be linked to online accounts held with
alternative payment providers unless the Head of Agency determines that there
is no other available payment option.
The Tasmanian Government Card should not be linked-tb online accounts such as Paypal,
unless the alternative payment provider is the only payment option available for a specific
transaction.
The Head of Agency should ensure that there is 4 specific policy in place, on a case by case
basis, covering alternative payment methods and require:

•

a separate approval process for the creation of any online account;
payments made to be'sObject pp the same terms, conditions and policy requirements as
payments made using the taFnartiati'Government Card; and

•

use of the onliAe acccapt to be-restricted to the Cardholder.

•

ENTERTAIWIENT
(7)

( )

The Head to,f Agency must seek the approval of the Secretary of the Department
of Treasury and Finance for a Cardholder to use a Tasmanian Government Card
t o incur entertainment expenses.
•
Only the Head of Agency or an Officer at Senior Executive Service level or
,equivalent can be authorised by the Secretary of the Department of Treasury
a.nd finance to use the Tasmanian Government Card to incur entertainment
expenses on official business.
The Head of Agency should write to the Secretary of the Department of Treasury and Finance
and formally request written approval for a Cardholder to use a Tasmanian Government Card
for entertainment purposes. As authorisation may be granted to an individual Officer in
accordance with the office they hold, the request should specify the name and
Senior Executive Service level or equivalent of each Officer for which approval is being sought.
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The Head of Agency should ensure that each Officer authorised to use a
Tasmanian Government Card for entertainment purposes understands what constitutes
entertainment in accordance with the Australian Fringe Benefits Assessment Act I 986.
Attachment 3 provides guidance regarding the definition of entertainment.
(9)

The Head of Agency or Cardholder must not delegate an authorisation to use the
Tasmanian Government Card to incur entertainment expenses to another
Cardholder.

(10)

Where a Cardholder who is authorised to use the Tasmanian Government Card
to incur entertainment expenses moves to a different Agency, the authorisation
will cease.

(II)

Authorisation to use a Tasmanian Government Card for entertaHninent purposes
can not be gained by including an authorisation statement in a contract of
employment.

(12)

for
entertainment
using
Each
purchase
the
- purposes
Tasmanian Government Card must be authorised at Deputy Secretary or the
Head of Agency level.
Attachment 2 provides an Entertainment Declaration tern

ISSUE O F T H E T A S M A N I A N GOVERNMENT CARD

(13)

(14)

The Head of Agency must enshiv th24
(a)

Tasmanian GovernmentCards are only issued to officers of the Agency;

(b)

only one Tasmanian Government Card is issued to each Officer approved as
. ,
a Cardholder; and

(c)

a record is maintained of each Cardholder, showing sufficient information to
allow an effective level of internal control to be exercised in respect of that
Cardholder.

Cardholder Must not
A
Tasmanian Government Card.

allow

any

other

person

to

use

their

Only thedtrdholder is allowed to use the Tasmanian Government Card issued to them. The
Cardholder 'should not let other officers record or share their Tasmanian Government Card
er.
(15)

The Head of Agency must determine an upper limit for any single transaction for
each Cardholder and a monthly card limit for each Cardholder.

T1 705 Tasmanian Government Card

Effective: I March 2019
Page 4 of 14

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

(16)

The Head of Agency may, on a case by case basis, approve an increase of the upper
limit of a single transaction to $10 000 for domestic travel by the Head of Agency
or officers at the Senior Executive Service level or equivalent, or $20 000 for
overseas travel by the Head of Agency or officers at the Senior Executive Service
level or equivalent.

(17)

A Cardholder must not split purchases to negate transactional and monthly card
limits.

(18)

Each Cardholder is to sign an "Agreement and Acknowledgment by Cardholder",
which details appropriate responsibilities and limits on the use\ of the
Tasmanian Government Card.
Attachment I provides an Agreement and Acknowledgement by Cardholder ten**.

(19)

The "Agreement and Acknowledgement by Cardholder" is to be signed ..prior to
the Tasmanian Government Card being issued.
Each Cardholder should be given a copy of the, signed acknowledgement, this
Treasurer's Instruction and the Agency's Tasmanian Government Card Policy with their
Tasmanian Government Card. Cardholders are responsible for making themselves familiar
with the provisions of each document.

A G E N C Y P O L I C Y F O R T H E T A S M A N I A N G O V E R N M E N T CARD
(20)

The Head of Agency must ensure that effective internal controls are maintained
over the use of the Tasmanian Government Card.

(21)

The Head of Agency must ensure
developed for the Agency.

(22)

The Head of Agency rntiSe
Policy.
-

(23)

The Head of Agency must ensure that the Agency's Tasmanian Government Card
Policy jireviewed, and where required updated, on an annual basis.

that a Tasmanian Government Card Policy is

approve the Agency's Tasmanian Government Card

The Agency's Tasmanian Government Card Policy should take into consideration Agency risks
'and objectives. The Policy should be easily accessible and define what
Tasmanian. Government Cards may and may not be used for, providing clarity of process for
both cardholders, accountable officers and those authorising expenditure.
The-' Head of Agency should nominate an
Tasmanian Government Card who is responsible for:
•

ordering, collecting and cancelling cards;

•

updating policies and procedures;
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•

education and training of cardholders; and

•

reviewing the operation of the card facility within the Agency, including reporting on its
activities and ensuring that the Tasmanian Government Card is cost effective.

Agency internal controls should ensure that:
•

Cardholders are briefed on, and acknowledge, their responsibilities in the use of the
Tasmanian Government Card;

•

new cards are signed immediately by the Cardholder;

•

lost or stolen cards are reported immediately;

•

Cardholder acknowledgements are reconstituted upon the creation of new agencies;
all Tasmanian Government Card transactions are accounted for, Monthly statements
are reconciled and transactions are recorded in the Agency's general ledier gn a timely
basis;
transactions are in accordance with the Government's procurement policies;

•

disputed transactions are reported immediately, - and subsequent action by the
service provider is followed up; and
all Tasmanian Government Cards are retrieved Ofii",separating employees before they
leave the Agency.

Procedures should also be put in place to review gn an anti.ual basis:

(24)

•

Tasmanian Government Cards issued and usage levels;

•

card limits and practices fcrOanging,the limits on a Tasmanian Government Card; and

•

practices for the issue\of new cards,, the suspension or cancellation of cards and for
managing cards folloWinistaff Mpvements.
•

The CardholdermUst obtain and retain appropriate supporting documentation in
relation to each transaction.
Cardholders must retain all dockets and tax invoices/receipts to provide with their monthly
statement in accordante with the Agency s Tasmanian Government Card Policy.
For GST-, purpotes, the Cardholder should obtain a valid tax invoice as supporting
.09cignent4ion for each transaction.
o r transactions less than $75 in value (not including GST), cash register dockets or receipts
constitute appropriate supporting documentation if a tax invoice is not readily available.
In the absence of a tax invoice or original receipt, the Cardholder should provide a statutory
declaration t o acquit the purchase and satisfy an authorising officer with appropriate authority.
The statutory declaration should contain a record of the purchase including the name and
Australian Business Number of the supplier, the date the acquisition was made, a description
of the items acquired and the amount paid.
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Where purchases are made in connection with official travel, the Cardholder should be aware
that transaction procedures and the availability of supporting documentation may vary in other
countries.
(25)

Tasmanian Government Card transactions must be authorised for
reimbursement to the service provider by an Officer with appropriate authority.

(26)

The Head of Agency must ensure that a Tasmanian Government Card is cancelled
when the Cardholder leaves the Agency or it is determined that the Cardholder
should no longer have use of the Tasmanian Government Card.
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Sample Agreement
Cardholder

and

Attachment I

Acknowledgement

by

(Agency Name)
TASMANIAN GOVERNMENT CARD
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY CARDHOLDER
Cardholder Name:

4; •

Position:
Branch:
Division:

I understand and agree that a Tasmanian Government Card is issped to me on the understanding that
I will, at all times, comply with the following conditions:
(I)
(2)
(3)
(4)

The Tasmanian Government Card is the property of (spedfrAgency) and is kept in my
possession and under my strict control.
I will not permit the Tasmanian Government t airiitto be used by any person other than
myself.
•
G o 4 r n e n t Caaffor
I will only use the Tasmanian
official Agency use.
\ PEN
by not disclosing it or recording it anywhere. Where
I will protect the security of my
choosing a PIN, I will not choose onvhat„cbuld easily be associated with me such as
birth date or telephone number

(5)

I will obtain supporting documentation in relation to each transaction entered into in respect
of the Tasmanian Government Card which has been issued in my name.

(6)

I may only 6Se-the Tasmanian Government Card to a limit of $
in any one
I will not split transactions to avoid my
transaction up t o a
, monthly limit of $
transaction limit.

(7)

I May only Use, the Tasmanian Government Card in accordance with the Government's
procurement policies and the Agency s Tasmanian Government Card Policy for the purchase
of
(insert goods,
serviat, accommodation or other classifications of purchases).

.

Ti 705 Tasmanian Government Card

Effective: I March 2019
Page 8 of 14

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

(8)

I will not use the Tasmanian Government Card:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
(9)

Attachment 1

for personal transactions;
to make cash withdrawals;
to pay for alcohol, including with a meal or for an official function;
to purchase personal refreshments (tea, coffee, water etc) while travelling that are
not associated with a meal (breakfast, lunch or dinner);
to purchase personal refreshments (tea, coffee water etc) while not travelling;
to purchase gifts of a personal nature;
to purchase fuel (fuel card should be used);
for the payment of fines;
for the payment of medical expenses associated with work related injuries and
illness which are required to be paid through the workers compensation process..
for the payment of tips and gratuities (except while travelling in:countries where it is
considered to be an unavoidable expense due to the cultural expectations: of such
payments);
for gift vouchers for any purpose;
where an alternative purchasing method provides greater efficiency;
for the payment of invoices, correctly rendered by suppliers, after the due date for
payment; and
where payment has already been made or initliteatorthe transactions.

I will not use the Tasmanian Government Card,for entertiffithent purposes unless:
•
•

I have received prior written approval from the Secretary of the Department of
Treasury and Finance to do so on official business; and
I submit details of each transaction for entertainment purposes for the approval of
the Deputy Secretary otklead of Agency.

(10) If I misuse the Tasmanian Goierrimerit-Card, i:iinderstand that the Agency may take
disciplinary action and that legal proceedingS-'may be instituted against me.
(1 1) I will immediately report any,SiiSpectedsor known unauthorised use of the
Tasmanian Goverfl:inent Card to the Accountable Officer in my Agency.
(12) I will immediately report the loSs or theft of the Tasmanian Government Card to the
Government banker and to the Accountable Officer in my Agency.
(13) If I resign, retires-ase employment or transfer to another Agency, I will immediately hand my
Tasmanian Governthent Card to the Accountable Officer in my Agency for cancellation.
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Attachment I

Declaration:
(14) I confirm that I have access to only one Tasmanian Government Card.
(15) I acknowledge that I have read and understand the conditions set out in this Agreement and
Acknowledgement by Cardholder.
(16) I have been briefed on all aspects of the operation and use of the Tasmanian Government Card.

Signature of Cardholder

Signature of Head of Agency.

Name:

Name:

Date:

Date:

Ti 705 Tasmanian Government Card

Effective: I March 2019
Page 10 of 14

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

Attachment 2

ENTERTAINMENT DECLARATION
Description of expense:
(Location, date and what the expense involved eg alcohol, meals)

Purpose
(Eg business lunch, social function etc)

Attendees (number of attendees)
(Agency) Staff
(Names of staff attendees)

Claimant
$ignatu re:

Print Name:

Deputy Secretary / Head of Agencci eXel Endorsement

Print Name:

Signature:

The provision of entertainment means
•
•
•

the. provision of

business lunches and drinks,. ‘cocktail parties and staff social functions;
enteric:Orient

clients by
to staff or
way of access to sporting or theatrical events; and

accommodation ilti:C.ttravel to do with providing entertainment by way of food, drink or recreation.

The prcy.ision .orplcohol generally suggests the provision of entertainment However, meals (including alcohol) and accommodation,
where an einpkyee is engaged on business travel, is not classified as entertainment
The provision of food and drink for the purposes of light refreshment is not classified as entertainment, for example:
•

provision of morning and afternoon teas and light meals such as sandwiches, tea, coffee or juice to staff on a business day at
the business premises;

•

provision of a light lunch at a planning day or training session;

•

provision of food and drink that is incidental to attendance at a seminar, ie conference, convention, lecture etc of at least four
hours duration.
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Attachment 3

DEFINITION OF ENTERTAINMENT
The Australian Fringe Benefits Assessment Act 1986 defines the term "entertainment" according to its
meaning in the Australian Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, Section 32.10.
The provision of entertainment means the provision of
•

entertainment by way of food, drink or recreation, or

•

accommodation or travel to do with providing entertainment by way of food, drink or recreation.

Provision of food or drink entertainment
The mere provision of food and drink does not necessarily constitute entertainment. Objective
analysis of all the circumstances surrounding the provision of food and drink is necessary in order to
determine whether it constitutes entertainment. The Australian Tax Office 'sets out its views
regarding meal entertainment in Tax Ruling 97/1 7 and provides four critical questions. Nki.individual
question will determine if the food and drink provided is meal entertainment, however (a) and (b) are
considered to incorporate the more important factors:
(a) Why is the food or drink being provided?
This is a "purpose test" to determine whether food or drinks ari'provided for refreshment or
entertainment purposes. For example, food or drink provided far the purposes of refreshment does
not generally have the character of entertainment, whereas food Or drink provided in a social situation
where the purpose of the function is for employees ,to enjoy themselves has the character of
„.
entertainment.
(b) What food or drink is being provided?
Morning and afternoon teas and light nie."41s are generally considered to be the provision of
refreshments, not entertainment Howeifer,‘ as -tight meals become more elaborate, they can take on
the characteristics of entertainment as it becomes more likely that entertainment arises from
consuming the meal. It iS,the nature of the food itself that will determine whether entertainment has
been conferred on the recipient.
Morning and afternOon teas "include light refreshments such as tea, coffee, fruit drinks, cakes and
biscuits, but does not include alcohol.
Light meats include' sandwiches and other hand food, salads and juice that are intended to be, and can
be, consumed on your premises or worksite in the normal course of business.
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(c) When is the food or drink being provided?
If food and drink is provided during work time, during overtime or while an employee is travelling, it
is less likely to have the character of entertainment. This is generally because food or drink is being
provided as sustenance for a work-related purpose rather than an entertainment purpose. This,
however, depends on whether the expected outcome of the provision of food or drink is
entertainment or work-related. For example, a staff social function held during work time still has the
character of entertainment.
(d) Where is the food or drink being provided?
Food or drink provided to and consumed by employees at their business premises or work site is less
likely t o have the character of entertainment However, food or drink provided in a function room
hotel, restaurant cafe, coffee shop or consumed with other forms of entertainment is more likely to
have the character of entertainment, as the provision of food or drink is less likely to have a
work-related purpose.
Provision of alcohol
The consumption of alcohol is normally associated with social activities, therefore generally suggests
the provision of entertainment. However, if it is incidental t o a larger event or work-related activity
of an employee such as during business travel or at the conchiSion: o f a seminar, it will not be
considered entertainment.
Provision of recreation entertainment
Whilst it is not as common for Government:entitles f o provide recreation entertainment compared
to the provision of food and drink entertainment i t is important to be able to recognise what
constitutes recreation entertainment expenditure.
Recreation includes participation in sports or aStirnes, leisure pursuits such as watching a play in a
theatre or movie in a cinema harbour cruis6,and hiring of entertainers such as singers and comedians.
Accommodation and travel in connection with the provision of food, drink or
recreational entertainM:eht
Travel and accommodation Will only be deemed entertainment if there is some element of
entertainment associated with the travel or accommodation. For example, travel and accommodation
at a resort where the employer pays for the weekend away would be entertainment. Likewise, the
cost of taxi travet-by an employee from their place of work to a social function at a restaurant or
kinction centre forms part of the cost of entertainment However, travel and accommodation in
connection with an interstate work trip would not be entertainment.
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EXAMPLES
Activities that are not considered provision of food and drink entertainment:
•

Provision of a meal, including alcohol, to an employee engaged in business travel;

•

Provision of finger food and drinks, including alcohol, at the end of a continuing professional
development session which an employee attended;

•

Morning tea or light lunch provided on business premises acknowledging a business milestone, at
a planning day or at a Minister's or Secretary's address;

•

Morning tea or light lunch provided on business premises, held for a visiting delegation, attended
by a number of employees and where business discussions are held;

•

Light lunch, without alcohol, provided on business premises, at a planning day, sernklar or
training session;

•

Light breakfast served prior to a seminar, planning day or training session;

•

Light lunch, without alcohol, provided on a business premises during a meeting with a third
party; and

•

Light take away food, without alcohol, ordered in for lunth o r d n n e r while working on a project
with a specific deadline.

Activities that are considered provision of food and drinkientertainment:
•

Payment of a meal at a restaurant attended by n

7-travelling employees and third parties;

•

Entertaining visiting foreign dignitari

•

Entity milestone anniversary celekr:atkins; and

•

Social functions to announce a majcit neikinitiative, whether held on or off business premises.

Activities that are considered provision o f recreation entertainment:
•

Payment for attendance by employees at golf days;

•

Recreation cornponent§:0 seminars such as a winery tour;

•

Leasing of acorporate box Or other leisure facilities; and

•

Escorting visiting dignitaries to local tourist attractions.

Further guidance cart be found on the Australian Tax Office website.
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T r e a s u r e r ' s Instruction N o

706

Title

P r e p a i d Expenditure

Effective date

1 J u l y 2005

Objective and Background

Establishes instructions in respect o f prepayments f o r goods
a n d services
31 J u l y 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 521 — Prepaid Expenditure.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain ,fimt items are ih:itructional or
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only

(1)

Except a s provided in p a r a g r a p h s (2) a n d (3), the H e a d o f Agency is t o e n s u r e that
expenditure does n o t include p r e p a y m e n t f o r a n y goods o r services which have not
been provided a n d which a r e n o t d u e o r r e q u i r e d to be paid, w h e t h e r o r n o t an
invoice o r statement has been r e n d e r e d t o a n Agency.

(2)

P a r a g r a p h (1) shall n o t apply in circumstances w h e r e a deposit o r p a y m e n t in
advance, a s a condition o f fulfilling a .contract, is unavoidable. Payments in advance
shall b e limited t o travel tickets, subscriptions, rentals, licence a n d registration fees,
insurance, application fees a n d deposits t h a t a r e normally prepaid.

(3)

I n a b n o r m a l circumstances; p r e p a y m e n t s n o t covered by p a r a g r a p h (2) m a y be
required. I n such circumstances, p r i o r a p p r o v a l o f the H e a d o f Agency is required,
accompanied b y certification t h a t p a y m e n t in advance is necessary a n d unavoidable
because o f the n a t u r e o r conditions o f t h e contract f o r the supply o f goods and
services.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

707

Title

Interdepartmental Payments

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and
interdepartmental transactions
1 January 2004

Last Reviewed Date

guidance

in

respect

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 210— InterdepartmentakPayments
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plait )limt ite
f o r the pwpose o f providing guidance only.

are insmuciional

(1)

A payment made from one Agency to another Agency must be made by electronic
means through the Government's banker, unless special circumstances exist
requiring payment to be made by cheque.

(2)

All inter-agency payments are due for payment at 30 days unless otherwise agreed.
Any account unpaid after this period will incur penalty interest unless otherwise
agreed between agencies. Interest will be charged at the sum o f the 30 day Bank Bill
Swap Rate plus a premium rate o f 4.0 per cent.
The 30 day Bank Bill Swap Rate (BBSW), as published in the Australian Financial
Review on the last working day o f the previous month should be used to calculate interest
for any given month.
Agencies should attempt to
the due date for payment.

re'id've aii3'f.

dispute over an account before the expiration of

(3)

I f payment i s not received within 60 days o f the due date and the account is not in
dispute, the matter should be forwarded to the Department o f Treasury and
Finance. Treasury will deduct the amount o f the debt plus accumulated penalty
interest from the debtor agency's Treasurer's Expenditure Control Authority
(TECA) and credit the amount to the TECA o f the creditor agency.

(4)

Where the account is in dispute, the matter should be forwarded to the Secretary of
the Department o f Premier and Cabinet for arbitration. I f the Secretary o f the
Department o f Premier and Cabinet determines that the account should be paid, the
debtor Agency will be given a 10 day period o f grace to pay the account before the
account is forwarded to the Department o f Treasury and Finance and the amount
and accumulated penalty interest is deducted from the debtor Agency's TECA.

(5)

The Secretary o f the Department o f Premier and Cabinet may determine that a
lesser amount be paid or that no amount be paid, and the debtor Agency will
accordingly be issued with a revised account.
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(6)

Where an account is in dispute between the Department o f Treasury and Finance
and the Department o f Premier and Cabinet, the matter should be forwarded to the
Auditor-General for arbitration and determination.
I f the Auditor-General
determines that the amount should be paid, the debtor agency will be given a 10 day
period o f grace to pay the account before the amount and accumulated penalty
interest is deducted from the debtor Agency's TECA.
These arrangements reflect the protocol developed by Treasury in accordance with the
Government's requirement to ensure timely payment o f inter-agency charges and
invoices.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

708

Title

Advances to Heads o f Agencies

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Establishes procedures to be applied in the management of
advances
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 516— Advances to Heads<of Agencies.
Black letter or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatoty and other plain finzt items are in.Slotetional or
for the purpose o fproviding guidance only.
(1)

For the purposes o f Regulation 8, Heads o f Agency shall ensure that advance
accounts are maintained in funds through regular reimbursement o f sums expended
from the advance.

(2)

An application for reimbursement o f an advance shall be certified.

(3)

All cash advances and any sub-advances shall be operated on an imprest system.

(4)

When a cash advance or sub-advance is no longer required, it shall be refunded
forthwith.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

709

Title

Grant Management Framework

Effective date

1 July 2011

Objective and Background

To provide a framework for the management of grant payments

Last Reviewed Date

1 July 2011

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are instructional o r P P ? * purpose
o f providing guidance only.

Background
This Instruction sets out the minimum conditions which agencies need to meet when offering
a one off grant or an ongoing grant program. When designing a grant scheme, legal advice
should be obtained from the Crown Solicitor on how best to protect the interests of the
Agency. The Funding Agreement will determine the legal remedies that are available. Useful
references in relation to the Best Practice Administration of Grants are located on web sites
of the Department of Treasury and Finance and the Australian National Audit Office.
Definitions
(1)

For the purposes of this Treasurer's Instruction (TI):

"Grant" means any assistance by way of a sum of money or other resource provided
to an organisation or individual by the Government on the condition that the
assistance is used for a specified purpose, and where the grantor receives no direct
economic benefits in return for the assistance provided.
A grant does not include a loan, whether repayable or not, nor payments by the Agency to a
third party. The term "grant" also does not include funding of activities relating primarily to
the provision of goods and services directly to a government agency.
A grant is assistance, which may or may not have conditions imposed, other than the
condition that the grant be used for a specified purpose, by the agency and agreed to by the
grantee. These conditions are set out in the Funding Agreement. If the conditions of a grant
are breached, the only remedial action may be that the grant money is repaid or future
payments withheld.
"Grant Program" determines the processes by which individual grants are allocated.
It allocates responsibility to plan and manage grants, establishes and manages
individual funding agreements and provides for effective review or evaluation of the
allocation. The grant program will ensure that all grants are administered and
expended in accordance with approved Government objectives and outcomes.
"Funding Agreement" is a legally enforceable Agreement in writing, setting out the
terms and conditions regarding the establishment and administration of grants. These
terms and conditions are determined by the grantor.
The form of agreement will vary depending on the intent of the grant and the degree of
control required. It can be a deed, contract or exchange of letters.
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"Grant Resources" is an interchangeable term along with, "grant funds", "grant
monies" and "grant money", indicating the sum of money or other resources
allocated by the agency as part of a grant or grant program.
Administration
(2)

The Head of Agency must ensure that grants are allocated in accordance with
the purpose for which the grant funding was provided by the Government.

(3)

The Head of Agency must develop and maintain appropriate documentation for
each grant program and its administration in accordance with current Agency
processes.

The documentation and relevant records should be maintained in the same manner as other
financial records. The Agency must comply with the Government's anticipated outcomes and
objectives from the grant or grant program. Grant allocation, where possible, should be
linked to an Agency's core business and goals. The outcomes and objectives should be
clear and non-conflicting, based on meeting government priorities.
(4)

The Head of Agency must ensure that the National Standard Chart of Accounts
is adopted and implemented for each grant or grant program.

The National Standard Chart of Accounts and Data Dictionary is a tool designed to assist
government grantors and not-for-profit organisations by providing consistency in accounting
categories and terminology in relation to applications, acquittals and reporting on grants and
grant programs. The National Standard Chart of Accounts provides a common approach to
the capture of accounting information by not-for-profit organisations, and defines the way in
which a government grantor asks for basic financial information from the grant recipient. This
ensures that government grantors, at all levels of government, ask for basic financial
information in the same way and that not-for-profit organisations can report in a consistent
format.
The Council of Australian Governments agreed that the National Standard Chart of Accounts
would be adopted and implemented by, and is mandatory for, all State and Territory
governments and the Australian Government. The adoption of the National Standard Chart
of Accounts is part of strategic reforms to develop a nationally consistent approach to
fundraising regulation, and to reduce the regulatory burden on the not-for-profit sector. The
National Standard Chart of Accounts is voluntary for not-for-profit organisations.
The National Standard Chart of Accounts is based on agreed accounting conventions and
includes references to Accounting Standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards
Board. • T i i e f i n i t i o n s included in the National Standard Chart of Accounts are mandatory,
however the number sequencing is suggestive only.
The National Standard Chart of Accounts is available through the following link.
National Standard Chart of Accounts — PDF
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(5)

The Head of Agency is to ensure that an appropriate risk assessment and
management plan is completed for each grant or grant program before its
commencement.

By identifying the risks associated with each grant program or significant one off grants, an
Agency can take precautionary measures to mitigate the risks, and avoid adverse outcomes.
In addition to minimising the financial risk of non-performance by the grantee, a robust risk
assessment will assist to reduce negative non-financial impacts, such as adverse publicity or
a loss of public confidence in the agency's financial management. Some risks associated
with grant management include funding inappropriate or lower priority community projects,
inappropriate use of grant funds, projects not being completed or completed after agreed
target dates and loss of Agency credibility.
Risk assessment will identify uncertainties that may impact on grant funds being utilised as
intended. Once identified, each potential risk should be able to be addressed by a specific
course of action to minimise the potential for damage. Varying degrees of risk require
varying levels of required action.
(6)

The Head of Agency must ensure that:
(a)

grants are properly differentiated from the acquisition of goods and
services;

(b)

all applications for grants are assessed in an open, transparent and
consistent manner;

(c)

the Agency meets all taxation obligations, including any Goods and
Services Tax obligations, in accordance with TI 1001 Taxation
Management Framework;

(d)

grant funds are allocated in accordance with publicly available eligibility
and selection criteria, which align with relevant Government policies;
and

(e)

grantees are reasonably capable
outcomes of the grant program.

of meeting the

objectives and

Goods and services are defined in the Glossary at the Resources section of Buying for
Government on the Procurement website www.purchasing.tas.gov.au.
(7)

The Head of Agency must ensure that the terms and conditions of each grant
provided by the Agency are set out in a legally enforceable written Funding
Agreement.

The Funding Agreement must be between the grantee and the Agency and it must clearly
state that grant funds are not to be paid to a third party. That is, a contractual arrangement
should always be established between the grantor and grantee.
(8)

The Head of Agency must ensure that the Funding Agreement includes
conditions that address:
(a)

the Agency's risk management and monitoring requirements;

(b)

the repayment or withholding of grant money in cases where the
grantee fails to meet the terms and conditions of the contract; and

(c)

the repayment of any unspent grant funds.
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Terms and conditions should utilise performance measures to indicate appropriateness,
efficiency, effectiveness and economy of the grant. They can be both qualitative and
quantitative.
The Funding Agreement agreed upon by all parties, must set out arrangements under which
grants are provided, received, managed and acquitted. Accordingly, the contract should
contain appropriate controls and accountability mechanisms to ensure that the grant funds
are utilised for the intended purpose. Actions that will be taken for breaches of the grant
conditions should be clearly stated in the Funding Agreement.
For grant funding of $500 000 or more, which contributes to a total project
valued at over $5 million, the Head of Agency must ensure that th (e-grantee
prepares a Tasmanian Industry Participation Plan.

(9)

The Head of Agency must approve the Tasmanian Industry Parktpipatioitlitan
before the grantee enters into relevant procurement arrangethents.'
.
A template to assist suppliers to prepare a Tasmanian Industry Participation Plan is available
from the Tasmanian Government's Purchasing website at www.purchasing.tas.gov.au >
Buying for Government > Resources > Publications.
Monitoring
(10)

The Head of Agency must ensure that an appropriate monitoring strategy is
established for each grant or grant program to ensure compliance with grant
conditions.

• analysing information
Monitoring is the process of collecting, recording, and
on a regular
basis to ensure that funds are being spent, correctly and measured against identified
outcomes and objectives. It is important that an appropriate level of monitoring is
established. The following should be taken into account:
•

the amount of the funding, nature:.
organisation (or activity/individual'',

•

the administrative costs of monitoring, reporting and data collection for both the Agency
and funded organiOtion; and.

•

the Agency's,..iisk management policy.

funding and the nature of the funded

The performance of the grantee in meeting the Funding Agreement conditions can be
monitored in a number pf ways, through the application of a combination of:
•

written updates;
. .
site visits;

•

perfOrrnance information reports regarding the achievement of specified outcomes;

•

the review of the grantee's audited financial statements; and/or

•

other monitoring tools, as identified in the grant program's risk management plan and
approved by the Head of Agency.

The amount and type of the grant, and the risk assessment completed at commencement of
the grant, will determine the level of monitoring. For example, a small project may only
require a report at the end of a Project, while a more complex project would have a more
regular and rigorous review completed to measure performance against agreed measures.
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For grants of more than $50 000, or considered of high risk according to the agency's risk
management assessment, audited financial statements should be obtained. Audited financial
statements showing the receipt and manner of disbursement of each grant, together with an
audit certificate, will provide the best assurance to an agency on the adherence to grant
conditions. Where audited financial statements are obtained, and the grantee has received a
qualified audit opinion, the Head of Agency shall, except where that opinion has been
provided by the Auditor-General, advise the Auditor-General of the qualification as soon as
possible.
(11)

The Head of Agency must ensure that any significant breaches in grant terms
and conditions are appropriately and promptly dealt with to maximise the
recovery of public monies. Any losses are to be dealt with in accordance with
TI 302 Recording of Losses. If the grant is partially completed, no further
payments are to be made to the grantee where significant breaches have been
identified.

(12)

In accordance with TI 206 Presentation o f Annual Financial Statements, an
Agency must provide details, including purpose and intended outcomes, of
each significant grant or grant program in its Annual Report. All other grant or
grant program details must be recorded and reported in accordance with
prudent accounting practice and in accordance with the requirements of the
initial risk management assessment.

Grant Program Review
(13)

The Head of Agency must ensure that each grant program is reviewed at least
annually to ensure that intended outcomes are being realised. The review
findings must be reported in the Agency's Annual Report.

Reviews are to be conducted to assess the success of grant programs as well as the
efficiency and effectiveness of grant programs and processes. A review of a grants process
is important to determine many factors, such as whether the grant program:
•

should continue;

•

is still achieving deSited diitcomes;

•
•

being manage,d in the most efficient and effective manner;
charr6ed
can be
or improvements made; and

•

the plan to implement these identified improvements.

Reviews should be completed by an objective and, where possible, an independent party
from the allocation and decisions making regarding grant applicants. Performance measures
should be utilised to monitor the grant throughout its lifecycle and to evaluate the grant
program process as a whole. These measures should be clear and based on the identified
outcomes of the grant. They should be comprehensive and tested from time to time.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

710

Title

Grants by Tasmanian Health Organisations

Effective date

1 July 2014

Objective and Background

To ensure that a grant that exceeds $250 000 made by a
Tasmanian Health Organisation is approved by the Minister
for Health.

Version Number

3

Last Reviewed Date

June 2014

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are man
the purpose of providing guidance only.

and other plain font items are instructional or for

(1)

This instruction is to be read in conjunction with o t h e r instructions
relating t o grants in the 700 series of the Treasurer's Instructions.

(2)

A Tasmanian Health Organisation must not make a grant t o any person
in excess o f $250 000 without the prior written approval of the Minister
for Health, and then only in accordance with the t e r m s and conditions
(if any) specified in t h a t approval.
A n approval f o r t h e purposes of this clause m a y be in respect of a
particular grant, o r a class o f grants, specified in the approval

(3)

This Instruction will expire on 30 June 2015, unless it is reissued.
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

801

Title

Recovery o f Overpayments o f Salary and/or Allowances of
Employees
1 November 2005

Effective date
Objective and Background
Last Reviewed Date

Provides guidance for recovery o f a n o v e r p a y m e n t o
employee benefits
1 November 2005

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 811 — Recovery ofOvei1oyee
Benefits.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other pla
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

ems are instructional or

•

(1)

A Head o f Agency shall recover any overpayment o f employee benefits in full, unless
Crown Law has advised that it is not appropriate to d o so.

(2)

The Head o f Agency will advise the employee, w h e t h e r former or current, in writing
requesting repayment as soon as possible after the overpayment is discovered.
A n overpayment can be recovered by in8taitnents from future payments o f employee
benefits by agreement, written and signed, by the Head o f Agency and the employee.
I f the employee has left, qr:js leaving the State Service, the amount o f any recoverable
overpayment shall be deducted from any termination payment, excluding superannuation
entitlements. I f no money is owed to a former employee that allows future deductions for
the recovery o f the overpayment, the amount then becomes a debt due to the Crown.

(3)

W h e r e the recipient disputes overpayment, the matter shall be referred to t h e Office
o f the Director o f INblic Prosecutions for recovery.

(4)

Subject to section 62 o f the Act, overpayments may be written o f f where recovery is
i t a p p r o p r i a t e due to hardship or where Crown Law recommends write o f f o f the
0:Ottlayment.
•

A request by the employee for relief or deferment o f the debt from the employee should
be in writing and supported by a statement containing income, assets, living expenses and
liabilities. The Head o f Agency has discretion to determine hardship once the request has
been submitted.
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Treasurer's Instruction No

802

Title

Procedures on Death o f Employee

Effective date

1 November 2005

Objective and Background

To provide instruction on employee benefits procedures to
follow on the death o f an employee
1 November 2005

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 812 — Procedures on Dee1th o f Employee.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatwy and other plain font ite
f o r the put pose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

are instructional or

Payments for employee benefits earned by an employee from the beginning o f the
last pay period preceding death to the date o f death, including any retrospective
salary adjustments, shall be made payable to the spouse or personal representative
o f the deceased's trust estate.
Such payments are not subject to taxation instalment deductions as they are assessable to
the deceased's trust estate.

(2)

Payments, including pro-rata calculations for unused recreational leave and
recreational leave allowance, shall be made payable to the spouse or personal
representative o f the deceased's trust estate.

(3)

Claims for allowances for unused long service leave shall be prepared in accordance
with the L o n g S m i t e Leave (State Employees) A c t 1994 and shall be made payable to
the spouse or personal representative o f the deceased's trust estate.

TI 802 Procedures on Death o f Employee
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

803

Title

State Service Accumulated Leave Scheme (SSALS)

Effective date

1 November 2005

Objective and Background

To provide instruction and guidance in the application o f the
State Service Accumulated Leave Scheme
1 November 2005

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 808 — State Set-WOW-cumulated Leave
Scheme (SSALS).
`k
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plaifl.f4s4 j e m * e instructional or
f o r the purpose ofproviding guidance only

BACKGROUND
The SSALS allows a Head o f Agency to approve a Flan under which a participating
employee, b y taking a reduction in normal salary for a g i * i i i o r i o d , becomes entitled to a
pre-determined amount o f special (accumulated) le,gre. Salary is paid during the
accumulated leave period at the same reduced rate.
The basic structure o f any SSALS Plan is always the same
— a normal working hours
work period followed b y a c c u m * f e d leave. However, there is flexibility in the choice of
the time frame o f the Plan a n d * proportion o f normal work.
The SSALS is an a c c u m u l a t O l e * spAeme. A Head o f Agency has the discretion to
allow a participating employee'. ,wittidiaw from a SSALS Plan. The leave accumulated
to that point would b takentat the discretion o f the Agency. Accumulated leave will only
be paid out on/the d e i or resignation from the State Service o f the participating
employee.
(1)

During the work period o f a SSALS Agreement, the Agency will draw down from
the Consolidated Fund the full salary entitlement o f the participating employee,
including on 6 4 s , rather than the actual salary paid to that employee.

(2)

The diffefence between the participating employee's full salary entitlement,
including o n costs, and the actual salary paid, hereafter referred to as the SSALS
•,ite44, will be credited to a SSALS Provision within the Department Operating
Account.
The SSALS credit should be drawn down from the Consolidated Fund on at least a
quarterly basis, so that b y 30 June o f each year the full amount o f the SSALS credit for
the year has been transferred to the Department Operating Account.
In accordance with section 8 o f the Public Account A c t 1986, the Treasurer has approved
agencies retaining SSALS credits within their Department Operating Accounts.

TI 803 State Service Accumulated Leave Scheme (SSALS)
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(3)

The agency will meet the cost o f the participating employee's salary during the leave
period o f the SSALS Plan from the SSALS Provision.
A n employee's salary costs will include P A Y G instalments.

(4)

On costs such as superannuation and payroll tax are to be calculated and paid on
the actual salary paid to the participating employee during the w o r k period and
leave period o f the SSALS Plan.

(5)

The Head o f Agency must maintain, for each participating employee, proper
records to support the SSALS Provision within the Department Operating Account.
These records will include SSALS credits made to the Provision during the work
period and the SSALS debits during the leave period o f the SSALS

(6)

Accounting for the SSALS
(a)

(b)

Cash Accounting
(i)

During the work period o f the SSALS Plan, the full salary entitlement of
the participating employee, including on -costs, will be drawn down from
the Consolidated Fund. The SSALS credit, which is approved retained
revenue, will accumulate in the SSALS Provision within the Department
Operating A c c o u n t The SSALS credit will be treated as negative output
expenditure.

(ii)

During the leave period o f t h e SSALS Plan, SSALS debit payments will
be made from the. SSALS Provision within the Department Operating
Account. These pityments will be treated as output expenditure sourced
from Agency retained revenue.

Accrual Accounting
(i)

The full salary entitlement o f the participating employee will be expensed
during the work period o f the SSALS Plan. This expense will have a cash
component (the actual salary payment during the work period) and a
liability component (the SSALS credit recorded in the SSALS Provision).

(14),

During the leave period o f the SSALS Plan, SSALS debit payments made
from .the SSALS Provision reflect the extinguishment o f the liability to
.the participating employee.

j4pents made under a SSALS Plan during the work period:
Dr S'afary Expense
Cr Cash
C r SSALS Provision

100

Payments made under a SSALS Plan during the leave period:
20
Dr SSALS Provision
Cr Cash
TI 803 State Service Accumulated Leave Scheme (SSALS)
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TRANSFER T O A N O T H E R AGENCY
(7)

Where an employee participating in a SSALS Plan is transferred to another agency,
and the receiving Head o f Agency agrees to the continuance o f the Plan:
(a)

the releasing Agency will transfer an amount equivalent to the accumulated
SSALS credit to the receiving Agency;

(b)

the receiving Agency will receipt the SSALS credit to the SSALS Pruvision
within the Department Operating Account; and

(c)

in the case o f a promotion, there will be a shortfall bitweeti stile received
SSALS credit and the value o f accrued SSALS entitlement based on the
revised salary rate. The receiving agency is to drawdown from the
Consolidated Fund to the SSALS Provision an amount equivalent to this
shortfall.

In accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 107: Agency Operating Accounts, the
Consolidated Fund drawdown is allowed, notwithstandiug„that the expenditure has not
actually been incurred.

TI 803 State Service Accumulated Leave Scheme (SSALS)
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Treasurer's Instruction No

901

Title

Budgetary Information in Relation to the Public Account

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Requires the provision o f budgetary and other information
to the Secretary
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 601 — Budgetary Inform() ion in Relation to the
Public Account.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory, and other plai
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

nt.items are instructional or

The Head o f Agency shall provide to the Secretary, budgetary information in
respect o f the Public Account, at such times and in such form and manner as
required by the Secretary, Treasurer or other appropriate Minister.
There is a Budget Management framework in place to ensure that the Budget is
developed and managed to best achieve the Government's policy objectives, within the
overall budgetary constraints determined by the Government.
The annual Budget is produced within a framework that ensures the longer-term financial
The major
targets contained in the Government's fiscal strategy are achieved.
components o f this framework are;
•

Budget Management Guidebnes; and

•

Accrual Budgeting Framework.

TI 901 Budgetary Information in Relation to the Public Account
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

902

Title

Section 8A C a r r y Forwards

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Specifies procedures to be followed in respect o f Section 8A
carry forwards
31 July 2003

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 618 — Section 8A Carry Forwards
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font it
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

4ructional or

BACKGROUND
Section 8A o f the Public Account A c t 1986 allows for an u n a p e n d e d balance o f an
appropriation to be transferred to an account in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund for
such purposes and conditions as approved by the Treasurer.
CARRY FORWARDS
(1)

Section 8A carry forwards are to be spent within the first three months o f the
following financial year or, with the approval o f the Treasurer, before the end of
that financial year.

(2)

Any amount that is not expended within the approved timeframe is to be paid back
into the Consolidated Fund.

(3)

Accounting for the section 8A Carry Forward
(a)

Cash Reporting
(i)

In the initial year, when the carry forward is approved, the funds will be
drawn down from the Consolidated Fund and retained within an account
in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund.
The journal entry to transfer the funds to carry over the SDTF is as follows:
D r CF01 (or CF02)
$10 000
(Funding Source A or W)
Cr

(ii)

SDTF Operating Account
(Funding Source F)

$10 000

In the following year, expenditure o f the funds carried forward will be
made from the balance held in the account in the Special Deposits and
Trust Fund. These payments will be treated as output expenditure with
the Funding Source o f "F" for section 8A carry forwards.

TI 902 Section SA Carry Forwards
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(b)

Accrual Reporting
(i)

In the initial year, the carry forward is treated as an increase in the
liability Revenue Received in Advance and an increase in Cash (held with
Treasury).
The Agency does not gain control o f the appropriated funds, held in its
Operating Account, until the conditions o f the carry forward are met, which
will be in the following financial year when the funds are expended within the
approved timeframe. Where the conditions o f the carry forward are not
satisfied, the funds will be returned to the Consolidated Fund and no revenue
will be recognised by the Agency.

(ii)

The carry forward is recognised as revenue in the followiiig, year, once
the conditions o f the carry forward are met and the funds are expended.
A n entry will be required to reduce the liability for Revenue Received in
Advance and recognise the revenue as an appropriation.

(iii)

Where the funds are unexpended and returned to the Consolidated
Fund, this will require a transaction within the Balance Sheet to decrease
the liability for Revenue Received in Advance and decrease Cash.

(iv)

For the Cash Flow Statement, the carry forward will be reported as an
appropriation receipt in th initial year.
Accrual Entries f o r Carty Forward
INITIAL YEAR:
S8A Carry Forward IrcinsfeOt venue to Liability
$10 000
Dr Cash held With Treasury
Revenue Received in Advance
$10 000
(S8A Carry Forward)

i)paoWING YEAR:
Recognise Revenue S8A Carry Forward
D r Revenue Received in Advance
Cr
Revenue from Appropriation
(S8A Carry Forward)

$10 000
$10 000

N o Revenue - p a i d back into Consolidated Fund
$10 000
D r Revenue Received in Advance
Cash held with Treasury
$10 000
Cr

TI 902 Section 8A Carry Forwards
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

1001

Title

Taxation Management Framework

Effective date

1 January 2006

Objective and Background

To provide a f r a m e w o r k for the management o f taxation
within agencies

Last Reviewed Date

1 J u n e 2007

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 304 — Taxation Managoneilf.'framewor
.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

ite

are insftactional or

Background
Agencies have taxation obligations at both the Tasmanidif
ustralian Government levels
(refer Attachment 1 for an outline o f these obligations)
y i 4 t n t f i n g risks associated with
taxation management, an Agency can take precautionary measures to mitigate the risks, and
avoid adverse outcomes, as a result o f non-compliance with its taxation obligations.
Taxation Management Framework Overview
Proper taxation management b y an Agency contributes to the financial management performance
o f the Government. In addition to,mirilinising the risk o f the financial cost o f non-compliance, it
reduces negative non-financial impacts such
as adverse publicity or loss o f public confidence in
the Agency's financial t w a g e m e n t . '
Taxation management closely aligns with risk
management. Some r i s k s . : a 1 a t e d with poor taxation management include incorrect treatment
o f receipts and p a y r n g * , l o s t
ut tax credits, loss o f Agency credibility and impact on
MeaAts.
Headline Budget
ilititbcy Risk Management Framework and Policy

—
Tit.Xation
Management
Plan
:
TI 1001(7)

Agency Taxation
Policies and
Procedures
TI 1001(4) / T1 102

Agency Taxation
Issues Log
TI 1001 (6)

Agency GST
Transaction
Register TI 1001(5)

TI 1001 Taxation Management Framework
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Agency Finance
Manual TI 1001(4)
Ti 102
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Head of Agency Obligations
(1)

The Head of Agency must ensure that the Agency properly meets its taxation
obligations.
Agencies must be aware of, and comply with, the lodgement and payment key dates as
released by the State Revenue Office (SRO) and the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
Government organisations are generally highly compliant in relation to their taxation
obligations. Non-compliance is largely driven by poor record keeping, staff turnover and
the complexity associated with restructuring government departments.
The Head of Agency should ensure that relevant staff within ' the Ngency receive
appropriate training and have sufficient and appropriate support networks available to
them. The Head of Agency should also ensure that the Agency maintains appropriate
taxation records and that there is an effective mechanism for ensuring the dissemination
o f taxation information within the Agency to the appropriate staff

Private Binding Rulings (PBRs)
(2)

In relation to a request to obtain a PBR from the Australian Taxation Office, the
Head of Agency must provide the Secretary of the Department of Treasury and
Finance with:
details of the PBR request atleastlit.tlays prior to lodging the PBR request;
and
(b) the outcome of the MR:request v4thin 14 days of receiving notification from
the ATO.

(a)

PBRs issued for FBT are binding on'the Crown, not merely the Agency to which the
Ruling was issued; by virtne o f section 135U(4) of the Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment
Act 1986. It is important, that any PBRs issued to any Agency are disseminated to all
other agencies. There may be consequences o f non-compliance if all agencies do not
adhere to, Pillts.
PBRs issuedfor GST are binding on the requesting Agency only. In some instances,
there may be situations that are duplicated in more than one agency, or have
whole;-of-government consequences. By maintaining a central register o f all PBR
requests, Treasury will be able to provide advice to agencies in relation to such issues.
(3)

The Head of Agency must notify the Secretary of the Department of Treasury and
Finance of any significant taxation issues, in order to allow an assessment of any
whole-of-government consequences of those issues.
Significant taxation issues include issues that are of a highly complex nature or that have
the potential to have a material financial impact on the Agency and/or other agencies. On
notification o f significant taxation issues, the Secretary of the Department o f Treasury

TI 1001 Taxation Management Framework
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and Finance will assess the likely whole-of-government impact and, i f necessary, issue
guidance to other agencies.
Documentation
(4)

The Head o f Agency must ensure that the Agency develops and maintains
documentation for Agency specific taxation policies and procedures.
Taxation management policies and procedures must be properly documented. This
documentation should reflect Agency processes that address current legislative taxation
requirements.
Taxation management policies and procedures should be incorporated into the Agency
Finance Manual. Agencies should refer to Treasurer's Instruction 102 Finance Manuals
for guidance on the form and content o f the Agency Finance Manual.
The Head o f Agency must ensure that supporting documentation is maintained in
accordance with the requirements o f the relevant taxation legislative framework.

(5)

The Head o f Agency must ensure that the Agency, develops and maintains an
Agency Goods and Services Tax (GST) Transaction Register (the Register).
The Register should be the initial reference point for the GST treatment o f transactions
undertaken b y the Agency. The Register'should inelude a record o f unique taxation types
and the taxation treatment for these :transactions.

(6)

The Head o f Agency must d i t * p p and maintain a Taxation Issues Log (the Log).
The Log should record detail i
•

a description of4
risk;
details o k

atttrigtaxation issues including, but not restricted to:

taxation iiaue, including the Agency's assessment o f the level of

IesolutiOnof the issue;

•

Private Binding Rulings, and

•

agreements, with the ATO.

The information --recorded in the Log creates a record o f all taxation issues and events,
ensures- consistent taxation treatment by the Agency in relation to these issues and events,
provides a -repository for Agency taxation information and enables the monitoring of
rfreompliance risks.
The Taxation Issues Log should contain a reference to additional/supporting
documentation that is relevant to the issue or is relied upon in determining a resolution to
an issue. This information may be important in the event o f a compliance audit.
Non-compliance is more likely to arise in a non-standard and/or complex transaction that
is generally o f a one-off nature.

TI 1001 Taxation Management Framework
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Taxation Management
(7)

The Head o f Agency must develop, implement and maintain an Agency Taxation
Management Plan (the Plan), which reflects the Agency's taxation obligations.
The Head o f Agency should be aware o f the various taxation regimes that impact on the
Agency, and ensure that the Plan is consistent with all legislative taxation obligations.
B y implementing the Plan, the Agency will reduce the likelihood o f adverse
reviews/audits and publicity associated with non-compliance. The Plan should ensure
appropriate internal controls. The Plan should also clearly define roles and
responsibilities in relation to taxation management and facilitate a greStet. understanding
o f those responsibilities.
In developing the Plan, the Head o f Agency may reference the joint A T O and Australian
National Audit Office (ANAO) publication Goods a n d Services Tax (GST)
Administration: A Better Practice Guide f o r the Management o f G S T Administration (the
Better Practice Guide) and the A T O publication Fringe Benefits ,Tax (FBT) — A Guide for
Employers (FBT Guide). The Better Practice G u i d t has been prepared as a practical tool
to assist in improving GST administration. The FBT:Guide,provides detailed information
about how to comply with FBT obligations.

Audit and Compliance Reviews
(8)

\,

The Head o f Agency must notify the Secretary o f the Department o f Treasury and
Finance following the completion o f a compliance audit by the Australian Taxation
Office (ATO).
In the event o f a compliance ' t i t l i f t r O i e ATO, the Head o f Agency must notify the
Secretary o f the Department o f Treasury and Finance of:
,
issues i d e n t e d (hiring the compliance audit process; and
•
the outcolne:Of the compliance audit.
.This will assist in minimising any whole-of-government exposure to taxation
non-cdinpliance risks and in increasing agency awareness o f the A T O ' s taxation
compliance focus„ Should any issues be identified with potential whole-of-government
Unpacts, this information will be circulated to other agencies. The specific Agency
itrvolved in.any compliance audit will not be disclosed.
•

g i f y e a r , the ATO releases the Compliance Program, which provides details o f results
from the prior year compliance audits, and areas o f interest for the coming year.
Agencies should review the Compliance Program in order to raise awareness o f high-risk
areas in the Government organisations sector and other focus areas for ATO compliance
audits.

TI 1 001 Taxation Management Framework
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(9)

The Head o f Agency must ensure that taxation compliance reviews are included in
any Agency internal audit program.
Heads o f Agency must ensure that a taxation compliance review is included in the
Agency's internal audit program. This will assist in identifying any non-compliance
issues in a timely manner and ensure that actual practices are consistent with the Taxation
Management Plan.
Where any significant taxation compliance issues are identified during the compliance
review, the Head o f Agency should consider whether the issue has a potential
whole-of-government impact, and notify the Secretary o f the Department o f TreasUry and
Finance accordingly.

TI 1001 Taxation Management Framework
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Attachment 1

Agency Taxation Compliance Obligations
Agencies are subject to the following Australian Government and Tasmanian taxation
obligations:
Taxation obligation

Principal Legislation

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

A N e w Tax System (Goods a n d Services Tax) A c t 1999*

Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT)

Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment A c t 1986*

Pay-roll Tax

Pay-roll Tax A c t 1971

Pay As You Go (PAYG)

Tax Administration A c t 1953*

,
•, •.,
-..
,,.

,

* Australian Government legislation

In conjunction with the Intergovernmental Agreement on .the Reform o f 'Commonwealth-State
Financial Relations, the State has certain other taxation oblikatiegis,under Australian legislation.
The Department o f Treasury and Finance participates, on a nuii*er o f inter-jurisdictional taxation
forums and policy groups, including:
.s.
GST Administration Sub-Committee (GSTAg.).
•
•

GST Policy Group;

•

GST States and Territories I n d u • P a r t n e r s * (GST STIP); and

•

FBT States and Territories I n d u u y PtiMership (FBT STIP).

Treasury regularly disseminates information from these inter-jurisdictional forums to agencies to
assist in the management f Agency taxation obligations.

TI 1001 Taxation Management Framework

Effective: 1 January 2006
Page 6 o f 6

19/112259

TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

Treasurer's Instruction No

1002

Title

Goods and Services Tax

Effective date

1 July 2005

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and guidance in respect of the Goods
and Services Tax
20 April 2007

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 209 — Goods and Services Tax.
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font items are:iiistructional or
f o r the purpose o fproviding guidance only.

(1)

Agencies must account for the Goods and Services Tax (GST) on an accrual basis.
Generally, GST is a cash flow management, rather than a tax ftkikse, issue. These cash
flows are influenced by:
• whether GST is paid on a cash or accrual basis;
iiii:eredits is lodged with the Australian Tax
• the dates by which the request for GS•r
•
•,
Office (ATO) each month; and
•

the level of tax credits outstanding at 30Iii,,ue each year.

Cash management costs will be less if GS is accounted for on an accrual, rather than a
cash, basis. Accounting for.;G,ST on an ac#Ual basis provides agencies with much earlier
access to tax credits owed to 'them -i5k:t.WATO. The accrual basis generally favours the
government sector which will be a, net GST creditor because a significant proportion of
Government supplies will be GSffree. In addition, all fees and charges that have a
s:e will be exempt from GST.
regulatory purp03,
Agencies, geberaffit*ill be in a net refund position (as a result o f GST paid, on inputs
acquired, exceeding 6 4 collected on outputs sold).
(2)

Agencies must manage GST cash flows within their existing global funding
allikation by using the balance held within each Departmental Operating Account
in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund, as at 30 June each year, to cover the GST
tax credits owing by the ATO.
Treasurer's Instruction 107 Agency Operating Accounts prohibits an Agency from
overdrawing an Operating Account. Provided that agencies account for GST on an
accrual basis and lodge GST returns promptly, the cash flow impact o f GST should not
be significant within the context o f overall agency budgets.
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The Treasurer has approved agencies retaining, within their Departmental Operating
Accounts, the input tax credits paid b y the ATO. These credits will reimburse agencies
for the GST cost already incurred and charged to their Departmental Operating Accounts
when goods and services were purchased.
Where an Agency has insufficient revenues within their Departmental Operating
Accounts to cover outstanding amounts due from the ATO, thus putting the Account into
overdraft, the Head o f Agency should request an advance from the Treasurer sufficient to
cover the shortfall.
For instruction and guidance in relation to the lodgement o f Business Activity Stateents
refer to Treasurer's Instruction 1003 Business Activities Statements (BAS),:,,,_
(3)

An Agency must account for the GST associated with an allocated activity arising
from:
(a)

a State Service restructure following an Administrative Arrangements Order,
effective from the date o f restructure; or

(b)

a voluntary transfer between agencies, effective from the date o f the transfer.

When an Agency has been allocated an activity that arises from a State Service
restructure following an Administrative Arrangements Order, or from a voluntary transfer
between agencies, that Agency will include any GST associated with the allocated
activity in its Business Activity Statement from the restructure or transfer date onwards.
Any documentation associated with the allocated activity (eg contracts, tax invoices etc)
must be amended to comply W O all applicable Goods and Service Tax legislation and
rulings. For example, tax itivciCes.4hould reflect the Australian Business Number o f the
transferee Agency.
Generally, the Australian : 'taxation Office exercises its discretion in relation to
documentation :that becomes invalid due to machinery o f government o f changes
(eg State Service restructuring). This discretion provides a three month window for an
Agency to- cbrrect such documentation.

T i 1002 G o o d s a n d Services Tax
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Treasurer's Instruction N o

1003

Title

Business Activity Statements

Effective date

31 J a n u a r y 2006

Objective and Background

Agency requirements for the lodgement o f Business Activity
Statements with the Australian Taxation Office
31 January 2006

Last Reviewed Date

This Instruction was previously known as Treasurer's Instruction No 518— Business Activity Stat,ements BA
Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font it
f o r the purpose o f providing guidance only.

(1)

areletAtructional or

Agencies must lodge a monthly Business Activity Statement (BAS) with the
Australian Tax Office (ATO) by the 15th o f the following m o n t h except i f one or
both o f the following circumstances apply:
(a)

there is a net amount o f GST payable in respect o f t h e r e t u r n ; or

(b)

agencies have a PAYG withholding obligation that will either totally or
materially offset the GST refund a n d t h a t P A Y G withholding obligation is
payable after the 15th day o f the m o n t h b u t o n o r before the 21st day o f the
month.

In these circumstances, agencies shall defer lodgement o f BAS until the 21st day of
the month, the last day permitted f o r lodgement u n d e r the Commonwealth
legislation.
Under section 31740 o f the Australian Government's A N e w Tax System (Goods and
Services Tax) .40:f1999„a Business Activity Statement (BAS) must be lodged on or
before the 2 , 1 * * y o f the month following the end o f a tax period. However, to
minimise tlie month.on month cash flow impacts o f GST, each agency is required to
lodge its 1BAS with t ' f i T O by the 15th o f the month where a refund is due. Where the
AgencS, will tiay, GST, o r has a PAYG withholding obligation that will offset the GST,
the A g o g should defer lodgement until the 21st o f the month. The A T O is required
tinder the'Tax Administration legislation to pay interest on any refunds not made within
14 days o f the receipt o f the claim. Lodgement by the 15th o f each month should ensure
that tax credits are received before month end.

TI 1003 Business Activity Statements

Effective: 31 January 2006
Page 1 of 1

19/112259
TREASURER'S INSTRUCTION WITHDRAWN 1 JULY 2019

Treasurer's Instruction No

1004

Title

Fringe Benefits Tax

Effective date

1 October 2012

Objective and Background

Provides instruction and guidance in respect of Fringe
Benefits Tax
30 September 2012

Last Reviewed Date

Black letter (or bold) items within these Instructions are mandatory and other plain font- ite
instructional or for the purpose of providing guidance only.

(1)

The Head of Agency must ensure that the Agency properly meets its
obligations under the Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment Act 1986.

Within the requirements of the Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment Act, the Head of
Agency should ensure that an Agency seeks to minimise its FBT liability. It may be
necessary to restrict access to fringe benefits that wijj result in a FBT liability for the
Agency, by:
•

removing or restricting benefits previously available to employees or associates of
employees;

•

requiring employees to meet all or part of the fringe benefit liability;

•

payment of benefits to the employee through the remuneration process; or

•

restricting payments for taxable benefits, made by the Department of Health and
Human Services, pursuant to section 57A of the Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment
Act, to $17 000 per employee.

Agencies should ensure that they take advantage of all FBT exemptions, concessions
and elections available within the Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment Act.
Agencies should have in place clear guidelines' which highlight those payments that
may be considered to be fringe benefits resulting in a fringe benefit liability to the
Agency. In most cases, an Agency should restrict payments for taxable benefits for
employees or associates of employees to the following fringe benefits:
•

motor vehicles;

•

mobile phones;

•

home computers;

•

Ministerial transport; and
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•

payments made by the Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to
section 57A of the Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment Act, not exceeding $17 000
per employee.

Any fringe benefits, other than those listed above, that result in a fringe benefit liability to
the Agency should have the approval of the Head of Agency prior to expenditure being
incurred. Examples of fringe benefits that should not be provided to employees or
associates of employees, unless approved by the Head of Agency, include car parking,
study expenses, home telephones, housing, travel, electricity, clothing, including
uniforms, cameras, remote area holiday transport, mortgage or rental payments, hire
cars, living expenses, chauffeur services, living away from home costs, loans, media
expenses, flexirent costs and dry cleaning.
(2)

The Head of Agency shall provide to the Secretary, either annually or as
required by Treasury, a summary of the Agencys fringe benefits tax
activities, including minimum information requirements as determined by
the Secretary.

The Secretary may request any information in relatiop:an Agency's FBT activities for the
preceding FBT year (ie. 1 April to 31 March), for a specified-period or at a point in time.
The minimum information requirements will include:
•

nature of benefits provided;

•

amount of FBT payable on each type o f kietjefit;

•
•
•

number of benefits provided f e a c h benefit type;
„ .
a16 benefit type; and
method of calculation used f
specific details of the Agency's -.OBT management policies and procedures and,
where relevanti„privateA4se or home garaging policies.

'Treasurer's Ins.thuction102 Finance Manuals requires the Head of Agency to ensure that the Agency's
Finance Manual documents all of the Agency's accounting and financial management policies and
guidelin*:
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